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DAY 2 – 6 OCTOBER 2015 

 

  [9.35 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Allen, thank you for your submissions. 5 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And we have all read them, if you wanted to highlight 

anything that is absolutely fine. 10 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, unless there are questions I propose that we move straight 

into Mr Clark and then we can make up time. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   One thing that perhaps I will bring to your attention, I see 15 

you cover it to some extent in your submissions but it seems to be 

something which would pertain to your case in regard to the 

interpretation of the statutory documents.  There was some discussion 

yesterday, and I see Ms Whyte back in regard to the Land Use 

Recovery Plan and the Regional Policy Statement, and obviously your 20 

client’s interests are in regard to how those documents should be read 

in regard to strategic infrastructure and sequencing.  So I am just 

bringing that to your attention as an issue. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir, and I have had a brief discussion with 25 

Mr Winchester on that and we will certainly be covering that in closing 

in more detail but also as you pointed out Ms Whyte is - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It may be a topic of conversation. 

 30 

MR ALLEN:   Exactly, sir.  Sir, so if there are no further questions we will 

take the opening as read and I will hand over to Ms Whyte for our first 

witness. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and just one other thing I see Ms Whyte we have this 35 

morning received the updated conferencing statement of the witnesses 

in regard to Mr Penny who happens to have just come into the room, 

obviously we will need to talk to the Airport before we take those 

matters further.  Thank you. 

40 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [9.37 am] 

 

MS WHITE:   Good morning Mr Clark. 

 

MR CLARK:   Good morning. 5 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you confirm your full name is Ian David Clark? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes.   

 10 

MS WHITE:   Do you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

paragraph 1.3 of your statement of evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes.   

 15 

MS WHITE:   You have prepared a statement of evidence dated 17 September 

2015? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 20 

MS WHITE:   And a rebuttal statement of evidence dated 30 September 2015? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you have any amendments to those statements of evidence? 25 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, there are some amendments.  Firstly in my evidence-in-

chief, paragraph 7.11, currently the second line reads “other than the 

private car”, I would like that changed to “other than private cars and 

trucks”. 30 

 

 The second one is paragraph 9.2 the reference in the third line is 

changed so it is now appendix 16.6.13.  Then, sir, you will be aware 

that section 10 has been removed so I expect the section there you 

have. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks, Mr Clark. 

 

MR CLARK:   Then in my rebuttal statement paragraph 2.3 in three replaces 

refers to “area 2 east”, in each case that should read “area 3 east”.  So 40 

there are three points in that paragraph that says “area 2” currently.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MR CLARK:   And one more at the bottom of page 7 within footnote 8 at the 45 

very bottom, three lines up from the bottom is the phrase “these two 
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observations could be relevant”, I would like to cross out the words “be 

relevant” and replace with “considered to be an upper estimate”.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 5 

MS WHITE:   Do you have any more amendments? 

 

MR CLARK:   No, that is it. 

 

MS WHITE:   So with those amendments do you confirm that your evidence is 10 

to the best of your knowledge true and correct? 

 

  [9.40 am] 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, I do although you have just noted there is a new joint 15 

statement, it doesn’t change my evidence but clearly we have been 

trying to resolve disagreement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so your evidence includes your signature to the 

various joint statements including the last one? 20 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 25 

MS WHITE:   You have prepared a highlights package of your evidence? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, I have. 

 

MS WHITE:   Could you please read that package and explain the two 30 

modelling outputs that you have included and remain for any questions. 

 

MR CLARK:   My evidence relates to the traffic issues associated with several 

site specific submissions including area 2, area 3, Springs Road and 

Barters Road.  My highlights package concentrates on those sites which 35 

appear to continue to have issues for the Panel to consider, these being 

the areas commonly known as areas 2 and 3.   

 

 Firstly, two members of the Panel will be aware that I provided traffic 

evidence to the recent hearing relating to the proposed rezoning of the 40 

MAIL site and there is significant overlap between the issues that arise 

in these two hearings.  I am specifically referring to the cumulative 

traffic effects of the various re-zonings.   

 

 My evidence to these two hearings has set out the nature of the 45 

significant works currently under construction along Russley Road 
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which is part of what is known as the western corridor.  The works 

were set out in the public newsletter which is appended to my 

evidence-in-chief to the MAIL hearing as appendix IDC1.  Sir, it may 

be helpful for me to refer to that plan, I believe it has been asked to be 

available. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CLARK:   So this is just to demonstrate the works that are currently under 

construction.  Unfortunately north is actually to the left so the 10 

intersection on the far left in zone 1 is the Harewood Road roundabout 

which exists now but is being upgraded to a larger roundabout.  I come 

next into zone 3, which is the Memorial interchange, so a full flyover is 

planned there with the expressway passing over the intersections of 

Memorial Avenue where there are two large signalised intersections. 15 

 

 Now, the expressway itself will be four lanes generally, two lanes in 

each direction with a raised median between the two, and with the 

expressway on and off-ramps within zone 3 this means that Wairakei 

Road within zone 2 is too close to those expressway on and off-ramps.  20 

So to the west Wairakei Road will be closed and to access Russley 

Road, and you can see to the east there is left in/left out.  I explain that 

in that order because it is relating to the proximity to the large 

interchange and therefore to the ramps.   

 25 

 Going down from zone 3 to zone 4 Avonhead Road is currently being 

changed to left in/left out and that will be closed off on both sides. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Where is Avonhead Road on that? 

 30 

MR CLARK:   On the boundary between zone 3 and 4. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I have got it. 

 

MR CLARK:   Then going further south you can see a second new interchange 35 

within zone 4.  I provided a more detailed plan of that appended to my 

evidence-in-chief for this hearing so that is what is referred to as the 

southern airport access interchange. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So given that that is in evidence for the MAIL hearing but 40 

for convenience it would be helpful to have it on our files for this 

hearing I think we will produce that as exhibit E, by I presume there is 

no objection to that and it is already a matter of evidence, and if the 

Secretariat could make copies of that available so we can put it on our 

files.  Thank you. 45 
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EXHIBIT #E – NZTA UPDATE NEWSLETTER – SH1 RUSSLEY 

ROAD – HAREWOOD ROAD TO AVONHEAD PARK 

 

MR CLARK:   One more point from this plan, sir, just to point out that area 2 

is then accessed off Harewood Road and Wairakei Road so it is within 5 

zones 1 and 2 to the east of the expressway.  Area 3 is adjacent to the 

east of the expressway, it is next to the southern interchange and it is 

zone 4 on this plan. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so area 3 as we have been hearing about in this 10 

hearing is in that blue coloured area is known as zone 4 in this plan? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 15 

 

  [9.45 am] 

 

MR CLARK:   So moving onto the highlights package.  Even with these works 

complete some key intersections along the corridor are predicted to be 20 

at capacity before 2026 even without the MAIL or area 2 and 3 

rezoning, for example the Harewood Road roundabout and the 

Yaldhurst Road intersection which is to the south. 

 

 I understand that the Transport Agency and other agencies have agreed 25 

to the strategic case approach to monitor the situation along the western 

corridor and to consider further investment at the appropriate time.  

Therefore future improvements may be agreed as part of that process 

however I am advised that this future investment is not yet confirmed 

or part of any programme.  As such I consider that at this stage limited 30 

weight can be given to this process. 

 

 The future investment is likely to respond to issues to the north of 

Memorial Avenue and to the south of the southern airport interchange 

which are the areas currently predicted to come under pressure.  35 

However, as noted in my evidence, the Memorial Avenue interchange 

is predicted to be approaching practical capacity by 2026 and I am 

concerned that congestion may develop at that interchange.  The 

signalised intersections within the interchange are already proposed to 

include high numbers of approach lanes.  This is up to six on one 40 

approach and four to five on the other approaches. 

 

 This will be the largest interchange in Christchurch and given the 

works that are currently underway to create this grade separated 

interchange it is difficult to think of any further works that could be 45 

delivered in the future to mitigate any adverse effect from the proposed 
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re-zonings at this intersection, that is unless we create a new bypass 

route.  In other words the interchange will be about as big as it gets. 

 

 In terms of the site specific issues in firstly area 2.  In my evidence I 

state that I support the rule which would prevent access from Russley 5 

Road.  This is rule 16.4.6.1.2 NC2 in the industrial provisions attached 

to Mr Stevenson’s evidence-in-chief.  I would also support the 

retention of rule 16.4.6.1.2 NC1 restricting access to Harewood Road 

close to Russley Road if the Panel is minded to accept the rezoning of 

the adjacent land sought by submissions 2014 and 2440.   10 

 

 Secondly, area 3, I remain particularly concerned at the rezoning 

sought by submission 2278 which is often known as area 3 west.  This 

proposal would need access to be solely off the southern airport access 

interchange loop road.  Drivers using the southbound off-ramp from the 15 

expressway would not expect an access to an industrial park as they 

pass around what will be a fairly tight 180 degree bend.   

 

 Sir, it may be worth just drawing attention to the plan shown as 

appendix IDC2 to my evidence-in-chief. 20 

 

 So it is on the screen and again the north point is to the left. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to check the Panel members have got a copy of 

that.  Yes, there is a slight accounting area, the first statement had a 25 

copy of it, the second statement we got in last night did not have it 

attached on the version that we got from the Secretariat but I have got 

my copy, I will just check that the others have got theirs.  Okay. 

 

MR CLARK:   So to have the north point in the correct place you need to put 30 

the plan sideways.  So traffic coming south on the expressway will be 

coming off at the expressway off-ramp, round the 180 degree bend and 

currently access to the rural plots is shown on that plan, just after the 

completion of the 180 degree bend. 

 35 

  [9.50 am] 

 

 I still consider that it has not been demonstrated a proposed access 

layout for a more intense use of this land is safe. I note in his rebuttal 

statement, Mr Carr concludes that he has addressed my concerns, but 40 

this is on the explicit assumption that the design speed for trucks can be 

assumed to be lower than that of cars. 

 

 I would not normally accept his premise, that is trucks going slower, 

for an expressway off-ramp, as cars and trucks will be decelerating 45 

from their speed on the expressway where the speed limit will be 80 
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kilometres per hour. However in this case, it will be necessary for 

trucks to reduce their speed to about 50 kilometres per hour to safely 

past around the bend. 

 

 The layout appended to my rebuttal evidence was based on a 60 5 

kilometres per hour design speed for trucks, and it demonstrated the 

shortcomings of the layout, particularly in terms of the cone of vision. 

In other words, drivers will be looking straight ahead and not beyond 

the cone of vision. 

 10 

 The layout appended to the rebuttal evidence of Mr Carr is based on a 

truck design speed of 52 kilometres per hour. The visibility achieved 

just meets the standards, however, this is on the basis that the speeds 

have already been managed down. This is an important assumption, 

that is drivers travelling at high speeds will incur risks, by that I mean 15 

some drivers may lose control in the bend if they are travelling too fast. 

However, these drivers will incur greater risk as they pass around the 

bend if they are not able to fully understand the layout ahead. 

 

 My concern is that a driver coming off an 80 kilometre per hour limit, 20 

decelerating around the tight turn, may not have time to safely adjust to 

conditions of this unusual expressway off-ramp layout, including an 

intersection as they finish going around the bend. As a result, these 

issues highlight my concerns relating to the principle of intensifying the 

use of the access resulting from submission 2278.  25 

 

 Also, I consider this to be a poor location for industrial zoning, as it 

will have a disproportionate effect on the State Highway. To explain 

this, I would like to table a plan which relates to one of the traffic 

model runs carried out by consultants QTP as part of the traffic 30 

modelling of the effects of the rezoning requests. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, Ms White, is the plan proposed to be produced – we 

received a copy of it before hand from the Secretariat, are you 

intending to produce a plan through this witness? 35 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes, I am. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well just take me through it then. 

 40 

MS WHITE:   So could we please first turn to the plan which is labelled 

NWRA2 2026 PN, referring to submission 2278. 

 

MR CLARK:   I have that plan. 

 45 

MS WHITE:   Could you please explain where that plan came from? 
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MR CLARK:   So appendix B of Mr Milne’s evidence-in-chief included a QTP 

memorandum, but it did not include every single plot that could be 

output from the model runs. 

 5 

 So this one shows that for a 2026 situation and the base means 

including other proposed re-zonings, such as the Special Purpose 

Airport Zone or SPAZ, the MAIL rezoning and Area 2, this does not 

include Area 3 East, but this plan particularly relates to traffic leaving 

the Area 3 West site, in the evening peak, so it is outbound only. 10 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 

 So you can see a figure of 155, that is the total traffic leaving the site, 

you can see a figure of 69 figures that is turning left out from the site 15 

then going down the State Highway – please disregard the handwritten 

77, that is incorrect and should read “86”, so that is the traffic turning 

right out from the site. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are asking for “77” to be changed to “86” by way - 20 

- -  

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - of handwritten change? 25 

 

MR CLARK:   And then you can see the traffic that is either going around via 

the loop ramp to go onto the expressway that is the – sorry, not loop 

ramp, that is the north bound onramp, that is 36. 

 30 

 Some traffic is predicted to wend its way through the airport lands, that 

is 41 with most of that then going to Memorial Avenue. 

 

 So the point here, sir, is that, all vehicles leaving this site have to use 

the State Highway. 35 

 

 So there are greater effects proportionally on the State Highway 

network from the rezoning of Area 3 West and industrial zoning 

elsewhere of a similar size and use, and this is in a situation - - -  

 40 

MS WHITE:   Could I just get you to pause there, could I - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We might produce both as one document I think, Ms 

White so perhaps once we got to the point of explaining both of them 

then we just do that. 45 
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MS WHITE:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. All right, I think you may be able to 

proceed from there. 

 5 

MR CLARK:   So this is in a situation where the State Highway, following the 

upgrade works, will already be either at capacity or approaching 

capacity. 

 

 One last point on Area 3 West, is it will be fairly inaccessible for 10 

persons, like employees wishing to walk, cycle or use public transport. 

 

 So moving onto Area 3 East which is submission 2183, at this point I 

would like to refer to the second plan which I believe the Panel has 

been provided with – again this is evening peak, 2026 for the same 15 

scenario with the re-zonings of the SPAZ/MAIL Area 2, this time we 

have Area 3 East traffic and not Area 3 West – and this shows 59 

passenger car units leaving the Area 3 East site in the evening peak. 

 

 Now only seven are predicted to head to the Russley Road interchange, 20 

and this is the source of the 12 percent figure given in paragraph 4.4(c) 

of my rebuttal evidence. However, you can see that further six 

passenger units or around 10 percent are predicted to use the minor 

streets to the south to a join the State Highway at Bentley Road, whilst 

(INDISTINCT 3.55) proportional trips are predicted to use Merrin 25 

Street. 

 

 I trust this explains the question yesterday, sir, between Professor 

Bagchi and Mr Milne about how you got from 85 down to about 20. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CLARK:   The Panel will be aware discussions at the MAIL hearing 

relating to the possibility of restricting trucks increasing minor 

residential streets, and any restrictions would be likely to increase the 35 

proportion of trips heading from the Area 3 East site to the 

Russley/Memorial interchange, thereby adding to my concerns about 

accumulative effects of the proposed re-zonings. 

 

 I am happy to answer questions. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so we will call those – so those two plans will 

go in as one Exhibit F and as I understand it you said that they were 

modelling outputs from the QTP modelling, is that correct? 

 45 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

EXHIBIT #F – MODELLING OUTPUTS FROM THE QTP 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does that complete your highlights package? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you.  When you’re ready, Mr Winchester. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you sir. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.00 am] 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Morning Mr Clark. 

 

MR CLARK:   Morning. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Now I just want to try and better understand the 20 

differences of view or opinions between yourself and Mr Milne, 

particularly with regard to impacts on the main airport interchange.  

Now you have read Mr Milne’s rebuttal evidence where he addresses 

the idea of cumulative impacts on the state highway network? 

 25 

MR CLARK:   Yes I have. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and in terms of the modelling that he has used and 

the numbers that he has used is there any material difference of view 

between those numbers which I think are set out in his attachment C 30 

and your assessment of traffic generation? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes sir, there are a few points which were noted in paragraph 

4.4 of my rebuttal. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  In the scheme of things, what is the percentage 

difference, in terms of maximum peak impact between your numbers 

and Mr Milne’s? 

 

MR CLARK:   We do not have a test which considers the effects of all the re-40 

zonings. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR CLARK:   The one we do includes a through route across the area 3 site.  45 

So if one was to take the test with area 3 west then that only excludes 
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the area 3 east traffic.  So to answer the question, the differences 

according to the modelling would currently be quite small, but that is 

because a very small proportion of the area 3 east traffic is predicted to 

use the state highway and the Russley-Memorial interchange. 

 5 

 I have said in my view I believe that that proportion is likely to be 

higher. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you. And so when Mr Milne says that the 

predicted impact of the area 3 rezoning is around 20 vehicles per hour 10 

at peak time do you agree with that or disagree? 

 

MR CLARK:   I disagree.  That figure comes straight from the plot I have just 

provided to the Panel. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  And so what is your number then? 

 

MR CLARK:   Well the number in this plot is showing as 18 vehicles going on 

Hawthornden Road towards the expressway, that is the one-way figure, 

so I could imagine the two way figure would be 20 vehicles, but in my 20 

view it is undesirable to have traffic wending its way via the minor 

streets to join the state highway at Bentley Road so I consider the 

figure to be higher to get to Memorial Avenue and the Russley 

interchange. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now you said in your highlights package 

you considered that area 3 was an undesirable location for industrial 

development and is that just from a traffic perspective? 

 

MR CLARK:   I am only considering the traffic and transport issues. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  Were you advising the Crown during the course of 

preparation of the Land Use Recovery Plan which identified this area 

for industrial use? 

 35 

MR CLARK:   No. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you.  You made the point in your highlights 

package that one of the issues and one of the concerns you have in 

terms of the impacts on the airport interchange is that its design is 40 

maxed out, it is about as big as it can get and therefore it is not going to 

be straightforward to increase capacity if it gets overloaded.  Is that 

correct? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct, yes. 45 
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  [10.05 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And based on your predictions of traffic generation say 

without the area 3 rezoning and with the Crown’s preference in terms 

of the MAIL rezoning, can you estimate when that interchange might 5 

reach capacity? 

 

MR CLARK:   The figures we had when I provided this evidence to the MAIL 

hearing suggested I believe a volume to capacity ratio in the high 70s.  

Now to explain that figure, in theory if you are at 100 percent, that is 10 

called theoretical capacity.  We tend to assume that 85 and 90 percent 

is practical capacity and what you should normally be considering. 

 

 So without the rezoning it is approaching practical capacity, with the 

re-zonings the highest modelled number I found is 79 percent, but as I 15 

stated in my rebuttal there is a few increases that should be added to 

that.  So we are going into the low 80 percent with a 2026 scenario. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right so as soon as 2026? 

 20 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And just in terms of the way you have 

approached your evidence compared to Mr Milne, it is the case is it not 

that both of you have taken into account the Industrial zonings 25 

including MAIL and including area 2 and area 3 when you have done 

your assessments? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, with this caveat that there is not one test that covers all of 

them. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you Mr Clark, that is very helpful.  Thank 

you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Winchester.  All right so Ms Crawford, is 35 

she not around? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I believe she withdrew her cross-examination request - - 

- 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  - - - on the basis that the withdrawal of part of 

Mr Clark’s evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Satisfied her issues. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In regard, that’s right, she made that comment yesterday, I 

missed passing it through the Secretariat.  Okay Mr Cleary, thank you. 

 5 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [10.07 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you.  Good morning Mr Clark. 

 

MR CLARK:   Good morning. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   Just in terms of these exhibits that you have just produced, 

and I will take you first to - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, if you want to have Mr Carr alongside you for 15 

cross examination that is fine. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Oh. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is up to you, it is up to you. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   I am happy to, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I know sometimes it can be quite a complex task to cross 

examine traffic evidence and I have given that indulgence before on 25 

this topic so (INDISTINCT 3.01). 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, I was not aware of that.  Thank you.   

 

 I think it would have been the first exhibit or was it part of the same 30 

exhibit showing the 155 pm peak movements. 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So you have handwritten – you have crossed out 77 and 35 

replaced that with 86.  And just in terms of the 2026 pm period, is that 

a one-hour period or a two-hour period, what is it exactly? 

 

MR CLARK:   This is a one-hour evening peak outbound flow and for both 

plots they are in what is called passenger car units, and for traffic 40 

purposes a car is by definition one passenger car unit, a truck is 

generally given a value of two. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So in terms of the figure 69 going towards the Yaldhurst-

Russley-Yaldhurst intersection - - - 45 
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MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - you are predicting an increase of 69. 

 

MR CLARK:   That is the total flow leaving the site and turning left.  5 

 

MR CLEARY:   In that peak period? 

 

MR CLARK:   In that peak hour. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, in that peak hour.  So that is approximately just over one 

car per minute if you average it out.  That is correct, isn’t it? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   Would you consider that a very minor traffic generation, am I 

right? 

 

MR CLARK:   The left turn is of less concern than a right turn.  Left turns are 

generally easier to make.  They are only giving way to one traffic 20 

stream. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I think in terms of the pressure I suppose it puts (ph 4.59) on 

that intersection.  So the left turn is the 69 going out? 

 25 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you are saying that the right turn is of more concern to 

you? 

 30 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   So it is the 86 that is of more concern to you? 35 

 

MR CLARK:   In terms of the operation of the access intersection, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I am talking about the cumulative effects on the intersection, 

sorry. 40 

 

MR CLARK:   In that case, the 69 is the traffic heading down to the Yaldhurst 

Road intersection and the modelling indicates that that intersection is 

already right at 100 percent capacity if not slightly over.   

 45 
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 I am saying that based on, I think it was Exhibit F provided to the 

MAIL hearing. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes.  There has not been any sort of further sensitivity testing 

of the impact undertaken of that additional 69 vehicles? 5 

 

MR CLARK:   The model is an area-wide model so it has included an 

assessment of the effects.  I think that was the plot that Mr Allen 

showed to Mr Milne yesterday, which is appended to the QTP 

memorandum.  It showed some increases in delays at the Yaldhurst 10 

Road intersection. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But didn’t the QTP assessment advise that there should be 

further sensitivity testing of that? 

 15 

MR CLARK:   I did state in my evidence at the MAIL hearing that - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   Just in terms of your evidence before this hearing, please. 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, but I think it may help.  I did say in the evidence last 20 

hearing that I believed there may be a chance to re-optimise the signal 

timings at that intersection, which may mean that the large bands 

shown currently in that QTP plot could be reduced.  But we still are in 

a situation where the intersection is 100 percent full and therefore extra 

traffic will add to the queue. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, has that answered your question? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Look, I do not have his evidence from the MAIL so I have no 

idea what he is talking on this thing. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   To be fair, Mr Clark, his question was about a QTP 

recommendation for sensitivity testing, in this hearing before this 

Panel.  Clearly the other evidence is before the Panel as well.  You said 

that your answer would help, but it did not quite answer the question. 35 

 

MR CLARK:   What I am suggesting, sir, that the large increase in delays 

shown in the QTP plot could be higher than one could expect and 

therefore re-optimising the signal times, which could be called a 

sensitivity test, may reduce the modelling impact at that point. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In other words, you are making that acknowledge as a 

form of concession to the question? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So there is scope to improve things, is that what you are 

saying? 

 5 

MR CLARK:   Yes, but it will still be over 100 percent capacity, or likely to 

be.   

 

MR CLEARY:   Just in terms of the bigger picture in terms of the cumulative 

effects on the State Highway network, and I am not totally familiar 10 

with everything that happened at the MAIL hearing, but can I try to 

summarise the client’s position? 

 

 There were various forms of relief sought by the different parties – to 

the MAIL hearing – and my understanding, if I summarise the Crown’s 15 

position, was that they preferred the Council’s version because that 

would have less traffic generation and accordingly less impact, 

cumulative or otherwise, on the State Highway network.  Is that a fair 

summary? 

 20 

MR CLARK:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, I understand the client has wider concerns and that for 

the Panel to make an integrated decision – but in terms of your 

concerns of cumulative effects, if the Panel in the MAIL hearing were 25 

to find in favour of the Council, would that change your position in 

terms of the cumulative effects of this proposal? 

 

 I do not want you to talk about the merits of the MAIL proposal, 

because that would be inappropriate. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is a fair question, Mr Cleary.  So in other words, on 

the different assumptions which are available, one being that one, does 

it affect his answers? 

 35 

  [10.15 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes.  But again I am careful I should not trespass onto the 

MAIL hearing. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I do not have problem with your question. 

 

MR CLARK:   The position supported by the Crown, which is the Council’s 

position, the traffic generation for that proposal is roughly two-thirds of 

that sought by MAIL.  So if that version goes ahead, then the 45 

intersections will be under less stress than with the full MAIL proposal.   
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 But still, modelling before that and this hearing indicates the Yaldhurst 

intersection and the Harewood intersection to be over 100 percent. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But generally speaking my question was would you have less 5 

concerns in terms of the cumulative impact of rezoning this land? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, that is a fair position. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the QTP modelling, just so I am clear, the QTP 10 

modelling was on the basis of the relief sought by the Council or the 

Crown or MAIL? 

 

MR CLARK:   Unfortunately it is somewhere between the two.  The traffic 

number I wrote in my rebuttal evidence is – the assumption in the QT 15 

modelling is slightly lower than that agreed as being the full MAIL 

proposal. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is 210 vehicles, is that correct? 

 20 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And 30 percent of that 210 will be associated to travel to and 

from the State Highway obviously? 

 25 

MR CLARK:   That was the position I did not accept at the MAIL hearing. 

 

MR CLEARY:   All right.  I am just conscious of the time and there is a lot to 

get through, but I think I will go to the issues of the design of the 

intersection and if there is any time I might come back. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just ask for more time if you need it, Mr Cleary, and we 

will see how we go.  

 

MR CLEARY:   Can I take you to annexure A, Detail of Proposed Intersection, 35 

and that is set out in Mr Carr’s statement of evidence? 

 

 Annexure A has got proposed access intersection layout, and across the 

page is also his annexure A, his detail of proposed access intersection.  

Have you got that? 40 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is on the screen.  Just so I am clear, in terms of the safety 

issue, which movement are you actually talking about that might create 45 

conflict?   
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MR CLARK:   The right turn out from the site.  So that would then be going 

under the expressway.  The issue with that is traffic coming off the 

expressway, coming south on the off-ramp, going around the bend and 

keeping going round to go under the expressway. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, and some of that traffic might be accessing the 

development in that feeder lane.  You do not have any concerns of that 

left-hand feeder lane? 

 10 

MR CLARK:   If the left-turn lane - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   Into the development.  You do not have concerns with that? 

 

MR CLARK:   No. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   And similarly the right turn lane, with a stack length of 20 

metres, you do not have any concern with that? 

 

MR CLARK:   The right turn bay is quite short.  You can see as one comes off 20 

the express there is a hashed area down the middle of the road.  Within 

that hashed area you can see a solid line.  That is a barrier between the 

two lanes of traffic. 

 

  [10.20 am] 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   The two lanes.  That is right. 

 

MR CLARK:   That means that there is a very short right turn bay for traffic to 

turn into the site. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  Does that stack length meet the relevant standard Mr 

Clark? 

 

MR CLARK:   To me it feels quite short because traffic would not - - - 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   I asked about - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   He asked about the standard, not what you feel.  So think 

about the standards that are relevant and answer the question. 40 

 

MR CLARK:   So my concern is that traffic cannot get into the central right 

turn bay - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Clark I am going to pause you a minute. Which 45 

standards would you refer to in answering Mr Cleary’s question? 



 Page 196 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MR CLARK:   The Austroads standards. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   With reference to the Austroads standards does it comply 

or not? 5 

 

MR CLARK:   I am not aware of a departure on that point. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Please answer the question.  Does it comply or not? 

 10 

MR CLARK:   As far as I am aware, yes, I am not aware of a departure. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sorry Mr Clark, Mr Carr has provided you a copy with the 

design.  Mr Carr’s opinion is that the design of the access meets the 

appropriate standard.  Do you disagree with that?  I am not asking you 15 

about what you might feel or what you might think in principle, I am 

asking you Mr Clark, you actually agree that the design meets the 

appropriate standard? 

 

MR CLARK:  Yes. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Can I take you to the conferencing statement that was 

prepared this morning?  You had concerns, I was not actually clear on 

your summary, you said you had concerns about traffic travelling faster 

than the design speed, now I think it was trucks, and Mr Carr had 25 

assumed a speed of 52 kilometres an hour and you generally agreed 

that that is an appropriate speed. I think you mentioned 50 kilometres 

an hour this morning so Mr Carr’s assessment of safe site distances at 

52 kilometres an hour, you would agree with that? 

 30 

MR CLARK:   That is the design speed of that bend. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, in accordance with the standard? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, that is the minimum standard for a 50 kilometre an hour 35 

bend. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So very simple terms, design speed guides the design of the 

road.  That is correct? 

 40 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  So Mr Carr’s design, it is designed to the design speed, 

that is correct? 

 45 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 
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MR CLEARY:   Okay.  Now you talk in the second bullet point, 3.2 which is 

headed Principles of the Site Access.  And first, all the experts agree 

that the only possible access is off the loop road - - - 

 5 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - and that is because for different reasons you have agreed 

that there should be no access off, I think it was Merrin Street or 

Hawthornden Road. 10 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct, okay. So we are just basically reduced to one 

access point. 15 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   For now and in the future. 

 20 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And in your second bullet point you talk about what is called 

a disproportionate effect on the state highway and inaccessibility of the 

site by walking, cycling and public transport modes.  Now I am 25 

interested in that reference to walking, cycling and public transport 

modes and I just wondered where in your evidence that you filed to the 

court today have you actually raised that issue. 

 

  [10.25 am] 30 

 

MR CLARK:   In my evidence-in-chief. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I have to say Mr Cleary, another point is this is a joint 

statement, it is part of his evidence, he is raising it there as well. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   I appreciate it is a joint statement of Mr Carr’s.  Mr Carr does 

not - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is evidence.  It is evidence. 40 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.  (INDISTINCT 0.33)  You have actually done no – oh 

right.  Just, can you tell me what sort of proportion of people would 

you expect to access this development by walking or cycling? 

 45 
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MR CLARK:   Because of the location I would say probably zero, because it is 

fairly inaccessible for walking and cycling and bus. 

 

MR CLEARY:  And in terms of other industrial zones generally, what 

percentage of people do you understand to access industrial zones by 5 

walking and cycling?  I just want to understand, you talk about a 

disproportionate effect. 

 

MR CLARK:   Clearly we are not talking about deliveries, we are only talking 

about people going to work.  I would think maybe 10 percent may use 10 

walking, cycling or bus in an active town location. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and you have not considered that in your evidence-in-

chief have you?  Those percentages. 

 15 

MR CLARK:   No I have not. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and in terms of your summary, you did say, and I 

accept it is your opinion, that you do not consider it is an appropriate 

location for Industrial zoning and you are aware of course that it was 20 

identified in the Land Use Recovery Plan, the LURP, as being 

appropriate for rezoning? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes I am aware of that. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   And that was a collaborative exercise that involved the 

Councils, yes TRONT and NZTA is that correct? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, yes. 

 30 

MR CLEARY:  And NZTA, would it not be a reasonable assumption 

Mr Clark, that they would have identified, by agreeing to identify it 

there they would have thought it was suitable for Industrial zoning? 

 

 I appreciate you were not involved in that. 35 

 

MR CLARK:   I was not involved but I imagine they would have given some 

consideration to it. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So to quickly go back to the issue of cumulative effects, and I 40 

want to talk about the effects on the Memorial Avenue-Roydvale 

Avenue-Avonhead, those intersections which you refer to at paragraph 

4.5B.   

 

 Your Honour I appreciate I have gone well over my allocated time. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   How much time do you need Mr Cleary? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Not much longer sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I will give you two minutes. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   And in terms of those numbers it would be the 86 turning 

right.  So you said you had less concern with those numbers, that is 

correct? 

 10 

MR CLARK:   No, that is not correct.  I said the right turn out was more 

problematic coming out from the site access. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Because of the impact on the Memorial intersection? 

 15 

MR CLARK:   The 86 is going either all the way to the north towards 

Harewood Road or some will be passing through the Memorial-Russley 

interchange. 

 

MR CLEARY:   But you have more concern with the impact on that 20 

intersection?  That was what you have said? 

 

MR CLARK:   Sorry sir, there are two issues here.  The 86 is turning right at 

the site access.  That is probably the more problematic at the site 

access.  In terms of the cumulative effects, the concerns are the 25 

Yaldhurst intersection to the south, Harewood intersection to the north 

are both operating over capacity.  So I have concern with both 

directions and the Russley-Memorial interchange is approaching 

capacity. 

 30 

  [10.30 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the cumulative effect what is the additional 

number of vehicles from a rezoning of this site that will affect that 

intersection in numbers? 35 

 

MR CLARK:   The Memorial - Russley interchange? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 40 

MR CLARK:   It says 34 on this plot. 

 

MR CLEARY:   34, okay, in the peak period.  Now, Mr Clark, that is one 

additional vehicle roughly every two minutes, that is correct, isn’t it? 

 45 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 
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MR CLEARY:   And in terms of, from a traffic expert’s point of view, do you 

consider that is an adverse cumulative effect one every two minutes, 

Mr Clark? 

 5 

MR CLARK:   The incremental effect will be modest but the cumulative effect 

with other developments they will all add to the pressure on the 

interchange.   

 

MR CLEARY:   I have got no more questions, thank you, Mr Clark. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Clark, I just have one question because most 

of my questions have been covered now thank you.  But I am not sure 15 

if it is in your evidence but I think it is in the Crown’s position that if 

the whole of the area that is identified as priority business area in this 

location what is being considered for business zoning at the moment 

rather than just parts of it, that there may be other options available for 

access to the site that may have less impacts than can be achieved 20 

where we are just looking at this 11 hectares of the priority business 

area.  Are you able to help me with what other options might be 

available if the whole of the priority area was included?  If you have 

not looked at this don’t - - - 

 25 

MR CLARK:   I have not looked at that, and the joint statement this morning 

the experts thought this was the only possible option.  I suppose an 

option is to serve the whole area off Hawthornden Road but there you 

get into other concerns of interest to other parties.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we will worry about those, you just concentrate on 

the traffic engineering dimensions. 

 

MR CLARK:   Well, in theory, sir, you could have access for the whole area 

off Hawthornden Road but then you have traffic effects affecting a 35 

different area.  You would be concerned around either the operation of 

Avonhead Road at the intersection with Roydvale Road.  That could be 

mitigated if it was considered appropriate for through traffic to pass 

through the MAIL site but there would still be amenity concerns, and I 

am purely talking about the traffic effects here, of higher traffic on 40 

residential streets. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, because what I am looking for is Ms Harte’s evidence, 

at the back of her evidence there is a plan which shows the whole of the 

priority area.  So are you familiar with the extent – the plan is up there 45 

at the moment – so the area that we are focusing on or that we have 
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submissions before us is in the north of this area adjoining the potential 

loop and then we have got the other property down into Hawthornden 

Road.  But am I right in thinking that the area shown in blue there has 

no other road frontages at the moment other than Hawthornden Road in 

one direction and the state highway in the other direction? 5 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And there would be no potential for an access or would there 

be any potential for an access onto the state highway other than through 10 

the southern loop road? 

 

MR CLARK:   No, given the design of the state highway as an expressway you 

would not want an extra access between the two major interchanges.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   So however that block was developed there are limitations on 

its access unless some more significant works were done somehow or 

other to bring access from somewhere else? 

 

  [10.35 am] 20 

 

MR CLARK:   It is a challenging site. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right, thank you very much.  That is all my questions, 

thank you. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Dawson.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Huria.  Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just one very briefly, Mr Clark.  Am I correct in my 

understanding that the difference between the analysis of sight lines in 

your evidence and that of the witness, whose name escapes me for the 35 

moment, Mr Carr was purely to do with the speed assumptions is that 

correct? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 40 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, most of my questions are covered too thanks, 

Mr Clark.  Just a couple of questions for clarification really.  So when it 

comes to the different intersections you have described it is the 45 

Memorial Avenue - Russley Road intersection on the state highway, 
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the Harewood Road one and the Yaldhurst Road one.  I took your 

answers to effectively say that for Memorial Avenue once it is 

upgraded it is pretty well maxed out in terms of what you could achieve 

by way of further improvement, unless you are looking at a bypass 

project of much more major scale for the highway? 5 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But the position is, I took it different at Harewood and 

Yaldhurst in the sense that neither of those could be considered maxed 10 

out in design terms, would that be correct? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And am I right to understand that in a similar way the 15 

configuration given to the interchange for the southern airport 

interchange as it were, which is part of the project, that is one 

intersection design, it does not necessarily rule out a potential to further 

upgrade that intersection? 

 20 

MR CLARK:   I imagine one could have achieved the southern interchange in 

a variety of means, yes, sir, you could have provided a larger 

interchange if there had been the requirement two or three years ago.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is not the project that has been pursued, it is more of a 25 

hypothetical and in a hypothetical sense you would see it as more 

capable of being upgraded than the Memorial Ave - Russley Road 

interchange once it is upgraded? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, that is fair, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And under that scenario would that open up some 

opportunity for a wider scale industrial development that would be 

more compatible with the state highway’s operation even if it was to 

include the full area of blue as indicated in the Regional Policy 35 

Statement as a greenfield priority area in this location as discussed with 

Ms Dawson? 

 

MR CLARK:   It would mean going right back to the drawing board but one 

could consider I imagine a diamond interchange with more 40 

conventional expressway on and off-ramps with a different 

arrangement and that may have given suitable possibility for access but 

possibly at the cost of more land to achieve that outcome. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in the same sense it does not rule out that 

potential future possibility, the fact that that interchange configuration 

as currently proposed has been done? 

 

MR CLARK:   Well, you can see that there is construction works underway so 5 

there is certain inertia behind the project already under construction and 

it would be a significant task now to redesign and provide a higher 

capacity interchange. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But in a relative sense to the Memorial Ave - Russley 10 

Road interchange not maxed out or in that sense effectively precluded? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is a fair point, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now, you may say it in your evidence but I 15 

want to take you to annexure A for this question from Mr Carr’s 

rebuttal which was on the screen before and illustrated the intersection 

proposed conceptually by Mr Carr’s clients. 

 

  [10.40 am] 20 

 

 I asked Mr Milne yesterday but he could not answer me, the question 

about regardless of who the road controlling authority is for this section 

of the loop, whether it is the NZTA or the Council, whether or not the 

loop road would be a limited access road, as you would be familiar 25 

with.   

 

 A limited access road as I am familiar with is capable of being declared 

under the Government Roading Powers Act or the Local Government 

Act. 30 

 

 What is your understanding, given your knowledge of the project and 

this part of it, as to the intended status of this section of road?  Is it a 

limited access road or not? 

 35 

MR CLARK:   I would say yes, sir.  But I am unclear about the ability of the 

Council to limit access.  Certainly if it is maintained as a State 

Highway, then I would consider that it would be a limited access road 

under that definition.   

 40 

 My evidence acknowledged it is currently uncertain who will operate 

the road and therefore whether the loop road itself will act as a State 

Highway or a local road it is to be determined. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, I appreciate it is a matter for the lawyers to help me 45 

on the law and rather than rely on my memory of it.  But one other 
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question for you then is – and I can ask Mr Carr the same question – is 

this access to be a crossing place or is it to be an intersection, or a road 

access? 

 

MR CLARK:   I am not sure I understand the question, sir.  Are you referring 5 

to the very minor access opposite or not? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, appreciating it is hypothetical in the sense that Mr 

Cleary’s clients are proposing rezoning on the basis of an access, is it 

your understanding that what is proposed at the top of that page there 10 

by way of access is a form of intersection or road access, as opposed to 

a simple crossing place to a property? 

 

MR CLARK:   It is currently planned as a crossing place to a property under 

the current zoning.  If it is uplifted to this zoning – it is beyond my area 15 

of expertise, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just thought as a traffic engineer you just might know 

whether in fact that looks to you like a road or it looks to you like a 

crossing place. 20 

 

MR CLARK:   Given the design, it is a full intersection and therefore it is 

becoming a road, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  I appreciate it is putting pressure on an area that 25 

you may not know and I will certainly ask Mr Carr the same question, 

as he may have more understanding of what his client proposes there.  

Thank you.   

 

 I think that has covered everything I wanted to know from you at this 30 

stage.  Any questions arising from that, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Cleary, any re-examination? 35 

 

MR CLARY:   No, sir. 

 

MS WHITE:  If I may, sir, just a quick point of re-examination? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, I knew I was – thank you very much, Ms White, you 

saved my bacon. 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [10.43 am] 

 45 
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MS WHITE:   In cross-examination from Mr Cleary you were asked as to your 

opinion whether design complies with the AUSTROADS guide? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 5 

MS WHITE:   Do you have any comment on the section of that guide which 

applies to designing roads so they are safe for trucks?  If it assists, I 

have a copy of that. 

 

JUDGE HASSANS:   No, you are not going to be able to assist the witness on 10 

this.  This is going to be an open question. 

 

MS WHITE:   Okay. 

 

MR CLARK:   I was concerned about a truck being able to get into the right-15 

turn bay safely, beyond the area of central barrier. 

 

MS WHITE:   All right, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, I think I will leave it at that.  It is just re-20 

examination is a (INDISTINCT 4.31) lead the witness.   

 

 All right, thanks very much, Ms White, and thank you very much, Mr 

Clark. 

 25 

MR CLARK:   Thank you. 

 

<IAN DAVID CLARK WITHDREW [10.44 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now the same as before, we have got Ms White and 30 

Ms Whyte, is it? 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes. 
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<MARGARET JANE WHYTE, affirmed [10.45 am] 
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MS WHYTE:   Sorry, I have got a lot of paper this morning. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [10.45 am] 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you confirm that your full name is Margaret Jane Whyte? 5 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   And you have the qualifications and experience set out in 

paragraph 1.3 of your statement of evidence? 10 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   You have prepared a statement of evidence dated 17 September 

2015? 15 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you have any amendments to that statement of evidence? 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   No.  Or one, sorry.  The only thing I did want to point on is that 

– hang on, sorry, I do not know if it is even in here.  No, it is not a 

correction.  Sorry, so no, I do not have any corrections. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is going to sound funny on the transcript. 25 

 

MS WHYTE:   I will start sounding vague. 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you confirm that your evidence is to the best of your 

knowledge and belief true and correct? 30 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   You have prepared a highlights package of your evidence? 

 35 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I have.  

 

MS WHITE:   Could you please read that package and remain seated for 

questions?   

 40 

MS WHYTE:   Okay.  There are two matters that I want to address in my 

summary.  The first relates to the zoning within the Industrial Park 

Zone, the Wairakei Road, and the second relates to the lack of the ODP 

for the whole of the Greenfield Industrial (Avonhead) land. 

 45 
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 Turning to the first issue, in my evidence in paragraph 5.3, I identified 

that I supported the rules in section 16.4.6 in the Industrial Revised 

Provisions subject to the change agreed at mediation relating to 

landscaping adjacent to the Harewood School. 

 5 

 This support was on the basis that the rules were appropriate given the 

revised ODP for this area that was attached to Mr Stevenson’s 

evidence.  In particular, that there were no properties within the 

Industrial Park Zone (Wairakei) that adjoined or could gain direct 

access to Harewood Road.  This was also reflected in point 20 in the 10 

table of the attachment B to my evidence. 

 

 Listening to the questions to Mr Stevenson yesterday, it was apparent 

that there may be an issue as to whether the Council has scope to now 

propose the removal of two properties adjoining Harewood Road from 15 

that zone when that land was notified as part of that zone in Stage 2 and 

no submitter sought its removal. 

 

 My issue is not with the rezoning or otherwise of those properties at 

733 and 751 Harewood Road, but rather the rules that would provide 20 

road access from this zone onto Harewood Road.  

 

 Mr Clark, he has addressed it this morning in his summary.  In 

paragraph 6.3 of his evidence, he identified concerns with access from 

this zone onto Russley Road and onto Harewood Road too close to the 25 

Russley Road intersection. 

 

 I had indicated to Mr Clark that a specific rule addressing road access 

to Harewood Road was not needed as the ODP no longer included any 

land that could access it, and as such I was comfortable with Mr 30 

Stevenson’s recommendation to delete rule NC1, contrary to the 

Crown’s submission, which previously had restricted access.  That was 

because the ODP had changed, that showed no direct accesses to be 

obtained Russley Road and no access obtained from the zone to 

Harewood Road. 35 

 

 So if the land at 733 and 751 Harewood Road is to be included in the 

Industrial Park Zone, then I consider the non-complying activity rule 

that could restrict access needs to be retained, and that is rule 16.4.6.1.2 

NC1, and that the no access notation should be included on the ODP as 40 

was shown on the notified version of the ODP to ensure that adverse 

effects on the Harewood Road-Russley Road intersection are 

appropriately managed. 

 

 Finally – this was not in my earlier summary – I note that the land at 45 

733 Harewood Road does directly adjoin the Harewood Primary 
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School, but I consider that the changes agreed to rule 16.4.6.2.2 B and 

C as addressed in the joint memorandum of the Council, the Harewood 

School Board of Trustees, and the Crown satisfactorily addresses any 

interspace issues between the school and the adjacent Industrial Park 

Zone land. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, just one thing that is probably convenient 

to note at this point, and that is that we would appreciate some help 

from the Council on the jurisdictional aspects of the question originally 

posed in Ms Whyte’s summary around scope to remove properties in 10 

the absence of submissions. 

 

 We come back to that again but it is something we would appreciate 

some help from the Council on. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, understood, sir.  I will take instructions on that, sir. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 20 

 

MS WHYTE:   Right. So the second matter I briefly address is the lack of ODP 

for the whole greenfield industrial Avonhead land which is the Area 3. 

In paragraphs 5.31 to 34 of my evidence I discuss the importance of an 

Outline Development Plan for the whole greenfield priority area of 25 

which the land affected by submission 2278 and 2183 is just a part. 

 

 As I mention in paragraph 5.32, the policy purpose of an Outline 

Development Plan is to ensure that development within a greenfield 

priority area is integrated and in accordance with the (INDISTINCT 30 

0.40) plan for the whole priority area. 

 

 Now that approach is intended to reduce the risk of one part of the 

development compromising the potential development of the wider 

area, and in particular it seeks to identify the key strategic matters 35 

including relevant connections, reserves, open space, pedestrian and 

cycle amongst storm water management areas, and ensures that these 

can be achieved between different landowners within a new zoned area 

and ensure that interfacing connections between the new zoned areas 

and the existing established areas beyond are managed. 40 

 

 Now my experience in Outline Development Plans are normally 

introduced through a plan review process or a plan change process that 

enables the full range of issues and sometimes potentially competing 

interests to be considered. 45 
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 As a Planner, I am concerned that having a single Outline Development 

Plan for the whole greenfield priority site has not occurred and is 

unable to be achieved at this point in the process. 

 

 Now this next part relates to the question Ms Dawson actually asked 5 

Mr Clark, so Mr Clark has identified that the only option for access 

available to be considered for the land subject to the submissions, is 

onto Russley Road and he has concerns about the safety of that access. 

And as I note in paragraph 5.31 of my evidence, this issue has arisen in 

part because the rezoning only addresses part of the larger greenfield 10 

site. 

 

 In response to the question that Ms Dawson asked Mr Clark, that 

reference had come from my evidence-in-chief and it was written prior 

to the conferencing statements that have now come out from the traffic 15 

engineers that Hawthornden Road is not an appropriate access. 

 

 But what I suggest is that there is still some potential that potentially 

cycleway and walkway access would still be available through other 

parts of the site, including the cemetery site potentially and onto the 20 

other road. 

 

 And that is my summary. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. Mr Cleary? 25 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [10.52 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you. Good morning, Ms Whyte. 

 30 

 And we have established earlier that NZTA was involved in the 

identification of greenfield priority areas for business, that is correct? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I was not involved in the process, I understand NZTA was one 

of the partners in relation to the Land Use Recovery Plan. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. In terms of the ODP, you have just said in your 

summary that you would normally expect an ODP to be developed as 

part of the plan review process, and who would you normally expect to 

develop the ODP? 40 

 

MS WHYTE:   The person who is promulgating the change of zoning. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, I will ask it another way.  In terms of the ODPs for 

stage 2 areas, greenfield business or greenfield residential, what 45 

involvement had the Council had in developing these ODPs? 
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MS WHYTE:   I do not have any knowledge – I mean, are you talking - - -  

 

MR CLEARY:   I am sorry, did - - -  

 5 

MS WHYTE:   - - - generally or in relation to this site or what? 

 

MR CLEARY:   In relation to greenfield priority areas, did the Council prepare 

and notify ODPs for new greenfield priority areas? 

 10 

MS WHYTE:   Not all of them. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Not all of them? 

 

MS WHYTE:   From my understanding, in terms of the MAIL site, the ODP in 15 

terms of that was developed through a private plan change, and then 

Council stage 2 notified a – had an Outline Development Plan.  In 

terms of the Wairakei Road, that has come through in terms of stage 2, 

I am not sure, I am assuming the Council developed it, I was not 

involved. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes.  And other greenfield residential priority areas, are you 

familiar whether the Council has developed the ODPs for those or not? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I am not familiar with those. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Given the requirement for an integrated approach towards 

development of greenfield priority areas around the airport, would you 

not think it would have been appropriately the function of the Council 

to develop an ODP? 30 

 

MS WHYTE:    I think if the Council’s promulgating the plan change then yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, the Council’s required under the LURP that is correct to 

approach the rezoning of the area - - -  35 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, does it help us to have Ms Whyte’s opinion 

these things or are they matters for submission or questioning of Mr 40 

Stevenson who came through yesterday?  I am just conscious of time. 

Ms Whyte will endeavour to answer what she thinks but is it not just a 

straight out a matter of submission? 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of the Crown’s further submission on our client’s 45 

submission - - -  
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MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - it poses it in part - - -  

 5 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   - - - that is correct? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   And then it goes onto say that, it could have – rezoning could 

have a detrimental effect on the operation of the State Highway, access 

or arrangement for this site and other impacts need to be reflected in 

any subsequent rules related to the rezoning of the land. 15 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That is correct? 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And are you able to assist the Panel in terms of what might be 

appropriate rules if – because you have not said anything about that in 

your evidence. 25 

 

MS WHYTE:   No, I think the issue comes with this site, is that when I look at 

the other greenfield priority sites around the airport that have been 

rezoned and are subject to Outline Development Plans, both the MAIL 

site and the Wairakei Road site implement the safety of the State 30 

Highway by not providing for any access onto that road. 

 

 So now that it is apparent through this process that that is the only 

access, then the - - -  

 35 

MR CLEARY:   Well no – sorry, that was not my question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I think she did her best. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. 40 

 

MS WHYTE:   I have not developed any rules in relation to this zone - - -  

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 45 

MS WHYTE:   - - - is my answer. 
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MR CLEARY:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Mr Cleary, I do not know if I am going to let you, 

pull out of this witness a whole set of rules by way of questioning in 5 

cross-examination, I am just going to stop you on that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I just ask if she – I really want to know whether she turned her 

mind to it and it is apparent that she has not. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well that is fine, but your question did not put it 

that way. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. In terms of the whole issue of demand – I know it is not 

addressed in your evidence – but do you agree in terms of what the 15 

LURP says about the level of demand, what provision should be made 

for industrial land, you are familiar with that, the LURP? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I am familiar with the LURP, I am not sure if you are asking 

me – are you asking me do I agree with the LURP? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.  Are you familiar with it? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I am familiar with it. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   Yes.  In terms of the quantum of land that is to be rezoned for 

industrial use, are you familiar with that? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I am familiar with the greenfield priority areas identified in the 

LURP. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   I wonder would it be possible, sir, to quickly bring up the 

evidence of Mr Willis, Andrew Willis for the MAIL hearing on the 

issue of demand? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, have you asked the Secretariat? 

 

MR CLEARY:   I forgot to sorry, my apologies - Andrew Peter Willis, 3 

September 2015. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well just - - -  

 

MS WHYTE:   I have got this. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Pardon? 45 
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MS WHYTE:    I have it. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You have it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   In paragraph 6.6, and he says, “The LURP noted that if recent 

uptake rates were used to predict future demand, around 550 hectares 

of industrial land would need to be identified”, and you understand that 

statement is correct? 10 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, that is from the LURP, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And 6.11 of his evidence. 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And the LURP deliberately sought to supply greenfield 

priority business land that was in excess of demand, to ensure 

sufficiency of supply, choice in location, market competition 20 

demonstrated during the recovery period, plenty of simple land is 

available, you would agree with that statement? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   I want to take you now to objective 6.2.6 of the Regional 

Policy Statement, and the principle reasons and explanation, and I want 

to focus on the part in the explanations and reasons that say the location 

selected for industrial business land development are also key for 

rebuilding. 30 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MS WHYTE:   That is halfway through the first paragraph? 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:  Key for rebuilding and the forward planning of the 40 

transportation network and associated freight hubs. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 



 Page 215 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

MR CLEARY:   Would you consider these words provide a number of 

messages, firstly that the greenfield priority areas are key as in being 

very important for rebuilding? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, as part of overall industrial business land. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes.  And the second message, I wonder whether you would 

agree with the identification of these areas should be factored into, and 

that means integrated into the future planning of the transportation 

network? 10 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes.  I mean the whole planning of the land and zoning and 

activities is key, it is that integration between land use and 

infrastructure.   

 15 

MR CLEARY:   Now final question is regarding the ODP.  You said in your 

summary, you say that an ODP for the full area is unable to be 

achieved at this point in time. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I will just check what I did actually say.  It is unable to be 20 

achieved at this point in the process, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   At this point in the process. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   I asked Mr Stevens some questions about what improvements 

he would like to see. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   And he was happy to collaborate with Ms Harte on that and I 

am asking you firstly, do you have any obvious suggestions at this 

point in time? 

 35 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I would like to see it cover the whole of the area. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You have said that already, okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well ask the question Mr Cleary.  40 

 

MR CLEARY:   I said are there any improvements that you would like to see 

in terms of the detail. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Sorry that was a different question. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I would like to see better identification in terms of where 

some of the links are working in terms of cycleway.  I would like to 

understand what the blue arrows actually mean and whether there is 5 

indication in relation to how roading and those other matters will 

actually be integrated throughout the whole of the site. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right.  Do you think a key component of that ODP for that 

area is that it should not preclude further development of the balance of 10 

the blue area? 

 

MS WHYTE:   No.  I think the key component of an ODP is that it should 

provide an integrated outline development plan for the entire area. 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   So what I am suggesting is that if it does not preclude 

development of the remainder of the blue area - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It being what? 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   Sorry, it is the present ODP or the ODP that - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the theory that this expert has made it very clear to 

you on a number of times that she does not support.  She does not 

support the basic theory of that question.  So the hypothetical becomes 25 

very unhelpful to us. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I just wondered if the Panel was minded to approve the 

rezoning it may need some comfort in terms of - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well you have got your own witness to call on those 

matters.  This witness has already indicated that as far as she 

understands, the better approach is what the RPS directs by way of an 

ODP for the entire blue area. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   And I am asking for her assistance so we can have that if 

necessary before the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   And I understand she is willing to assist so I do not need to 

take it any (INDISTINCT 4.23). 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well that is a matter for us as to whether we would find 

that of assistance. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   However. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay.   5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you want to ask the question, by all means, but it is on 

the premise of her earlier answers that we are understanding what she is 

telling you. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   I will not pursue it any further, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, I realise I am not on the list.  I did indicate in 15 

opening yesterday that I had some questions for Ms Whyte around the 

Industrial Park zone issue that is dealt with in her evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it does not relate to Mr Cleary’s case? 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   No sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No it does not. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [11.05 am] 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Morning, Ms Whyte. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Morning. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   In your evidence-in-chief you deal with the Industrial 35 

Park zone at Wairakei at paragraphs 5.16 and following, in relation to 

the Corston submission. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:  And you also make reference to your evidence presented 

on the MAIL proposal about Industrial Park zoning. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Now you may recall during the course of the MAIL 

hearing there was an issue raised about cumulative effects of office 

activity at permitted levels of 5,000 square metres, of your Industrial 

Park zone.  Do you recall that? 

 5 

MS WHYTE:   Yes I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now the Corston submission does suggest that some 

office and commercial activity is appropriate in the Wairakei Industrial 

Park zone. 10 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   But no quantum, that is correct isn’t it? 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now thinking about the other Industrial Park zonings 

that are proposed, which is Tait, Awatea and MAIL, plus there are 

other Industrial Park zones which are sought. 20 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I think Foddercube is one. What consideration if any 

have you given to the accumulative effects of office activity in 25 

Industrial Park zones? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I did consider – that was part of the consideration in the way I 

addressed the Corston submission for this zone and it became apparent 

during the MAIL hearing and when the stage 2 proposals had been 30 

developed that there was quite a lot more potential for office 

development than I had originally considered at the stage 1 hearing 

when it related to the Tait and Awatea sites. 

 

 And given the evidence that I rely on in terms of stage 1 from the 35 

Crown, in terms of Mr Ogg about the importance office development 

had to the recovery of Christchurch, that is when I began to get more 

concerned on a cumulative basis that a number of these office parks, 

parts of them were not effectively going to become – sorry the 

industrial parks were effectively going to become office parks. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and on that basis then do I take it that your view is 

that site specific consideration should be given to whether office is 

permitted at all, let alone up to 5,000 square metres rather than it being 

a policy position that the Industrial Park zone should provide for 5,000 45 

square metres of office as a permitted activity? 
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MS WHYTE:   Yes I think that is preferable. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And just on a slightly different line of 

questioning, you will have read the evidence of Ms Aston and other 5 

planners about land which is proposed for rezoning beyond the limit of 

map A and the Regional Policy Statement? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I have briefly read it. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  Now from reading that evidence and that of other 

planning witnesses on that topic, is it your understanding that some of 

them seek to draw support from chapter 6 of the RPS for the rezoning 

requests of that land beyond the urban boundary? 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   In a general sense. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS WHYTE:   From amalgamating a number of policy considerations, yes I 20 

do, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, yes.  The question I am going to 

propose to you is, is that, in your opinion, a reasonable approach given 

that the focus of chapter 6 is very squarely on urban development 25 

within the identified greenfield priority areas and identified urban 

areas?  So and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   (INDISTINCT 4.38) not to lead a witness on something 

that is consistent with the theory of the Council, Mr Winchester. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It goes to the weight. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, well I will ask it in a more open manner then.  First 

of all, does chapter 6 of the RPS address the development of areas 

outside greenfield priority areas and the urban area in any material 

way? 

 40 

  [11.10 am] 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I think my reading of the RPS is that it provides quite 

clear guidance in relation to the urban rural boundary.  I think that is 

where it provides the clearest consideration in that if you are outside 45 
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the urban boundary you are outside the urban boundary and urban 

development is to occur inside the urban boundary. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.   

 5 

MS WHYTE:   And then definitely there is the priority set up that the 

greenfield priority areas are the areas identified for the future 

development. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  And is it your opinion then that the way chapter 6 10 

works and the objectives and policies work is that they focus on land 

which is identified for urban activities and rather leave the rest of the 

RPS to deal with how the balance is managed? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So what then is your opinion on the ability of the Panel 

to draw support from the objectives and policies of chapter 6 for land 

that is not identified for urban development? 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   My view is it would be difficult to find support for that through 

chapter 6. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you Ms Whyte, that is very helpful.  Thank you 

sir, for the indulgence. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Winchester, thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:  I was going to ask you about the same question that 

Mr Winchester just put to you Ms Whyte so thank you for answering 30 

that, because your evidence does address the Crown’s concerns 

regarding land that is outside the map A urban boundary in Barters 

Road and Springs Road and to a certain extent in Harewood Road. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   But does your answer to Mr Winchester say that you have 

only addressed the particular traffic matters say of concern to the 

Crown? 

 40 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I have only addressed the matters that were raised in the 

further submissions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And it does not imply that you think that there is support in 

chapter 6 for that sort of zoning? 45 
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MS WHYTE:   No it does not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Because Mr Cleary asked you about 

these things, if I do not ask you the Judge will ask you, and he may 

follow up.  You have not addressed the LURP in detail in your 5 

evidence but I think you said to Mr Cleary you are familiar with the 

LURP, in the way it is written and operates? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   And he did ask you some questions about chapter 4 of the 

LURP so do you have a copy of that here?   

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes I do.   

 15 

MS DAWSON:   I just want to get your opinion about how this chapter 4 is 

structured.  So the first section 4.1, is a more general section which I 

am not going to ask you about.  It has some more general actions.  As I 

read section 4.2, and I want you to tell me if it is what your opinion is, 

is that section 4.2 which is headed up Building New Communities, it is 20 

on page 25. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I have it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So we are in section 4 which is about the planning framework 25 

really.  So 4.2 is called Building New Communities and if I have read 

the paragraphs in the introduction and explanation it is all about 

residential.  Could you just skim through and let me know. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes it is. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is about residential? 

 

MS WHYTE:   It is. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So do you think that the actions in 4.2 are also about 

residential?   

 

MS WHYTE:   I actually had not considered that. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   So action 19 is the one that has been brought to our attention. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which talks about, it just says greenfield priority areas.   45 
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MS WHYTE:   What I am just looking for is to check in terms of the outcomes 

that it says it is going to achieve. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well it doesn’t because it moves on then into 4.3 which is 

business. 5 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes.  I think in terms of the way that works, my reading of 

action 19 is that everything, all of those other actions do relate to living 10 

areas. 

 

MS DAWSON:   They all do.  Everything does. 

 

MS WHYTE:   They all do, yes, and I think that whole chapter does, when I 15 

read that, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because then when you turn to 4.3 you have got a similar 

section but it is about the business side of things. 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, yes it is.  So I think it does distinguish between residential 

and business, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, and then we have action 24 which is the equivalent of 

action 19 I suppose. 25 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But relating to the business actions to be completed in the 

City Council plan review. 30 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just like 19. 

 35 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now I infer, so does that sound a reasonable structure, in 

your reading of it? 

 40 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, it does. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So then Mr Cleary took you to section 4.3.2 which, and I 

mean he just took you through that about, I think he did it in relation to 

the quotes from this section from Mr Willis’s evidence for the MAIL. 45 
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MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And that says what it says, that there is to be plenty of choice 

and lots of location and allowing for competition.  But could I then take 

you to 4.4 which is the next section and which is about delivering 5 

infrastructure and services. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I am interested in how you read the second paragraph 10 

under 4.4.1 and I might let you read that but my question was how does 

that relate in your view to the timing of the release of the business 

priority areas? 

 

MS WHYTE:   My reading of that is that the infrastructure needs to go first.  15 

Or that it has to actually be available first so that then the development 

can occur. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And could that happen over time and still be consistent with 

the LURP? 20 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes I think it could. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it would not be inconsistent with the LURP not to release 

all – or would it be inconsistent with the LURP in your reading of all of 25 

the way this whole section is structured, to zone business priority areas 

over time as the infrastructure is available? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I think that makes sense. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   And is consistent with the LURP? 

 

MS WHYTE:   It would be. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Thank you.  Thank you very much for that. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes Ms Huria?  No questions? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just one general question and you may or may not have an 

answer to this Ms Whyte, I think at paragraph 5.2.9 where you 

obviously talk about the fact that it is neither efficient nor effective to 45 

rezone the individual sites Industrial.  I guess when I read that I was 
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wondering to myself whether you were thinking was that a long term 

proposition you were pointing there or was that a matter related solely 

to your understanding of the infrastructure issues. 

 

 I guess to put that another way perhaps, maybe I am asking - - - 5 

 

MS WHYTE:   No, it was slightly wider. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay. 

 10 

MS WHYTE:   That comes back to my view that I think that the whole purpose 

of these outline development plans for the priority areas is that they are 

done as a whole, in an integrated manner.  So that is the main focus in 

terms of effective or efficient to rezone individual sites, that is the key 

focus for me there. 15 

 

MR WILLIS:   Okay so if I understand what you said, if there had been an 

outline development plan available you would have taken a different 

view on? 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   If there had been an outline development plan available for the 

whole site that considered a series of integration then I think we would 

be looking purely at can the issues that Mr Clark has identified be 

overcome.  Because the other issues that I have got about the 

integration could potentially have been addressed through the outline 25 

development plan, as has occurred for example with the MAIL site. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Right. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Where through discussions and mediation and evidence there 30 

were changes made to that outline Development Plan to address issues. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, thank you, so I take from that, again the statement is not 

saying that you think that this is necessarily an inappropriate fight for 

industrial purposes, simply that there are issues that need to be resolved 35 

- - -  

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, sir, that is my view. 

 

MR WILLIS:   - - - for that to be taken further – okay, thank you, yes. 40 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Whyte, I will take you back through this a little bit, if 

you go back to the page that was on the screen there please. 45 
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MS WHYTE:   In the LURP? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. Now just thinking about this discussion you were 

having with Ms Dawson, and this particular paragraph, I think you 

might have said in your answer that the infrastructure needs to be in 5 

place before the land is rezoned, is it fair to say that is what you 

thought? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Sorry, I think that was what I said – sorry, I just need to find it 

– certainly in terms of what I read from the first couple of sentences in 10 

that paragraph. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to give you an opportunity to reflect fully on 

that. 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just go back through it, yes. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Can I just get the page – have you got the page reference, 20 

sorry? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it is on page 32. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Sorry, it is just a bit furry. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, absolutely, page 32 far better to read it – I have read 

mine highlighting and underlining through different bits and pieces so I 

might take you through some of that – so that second sentence - - -  

 30 

MS WHYTE:   And it - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just – yes, okay, well I will ask the question, so that 

second sentence - - -  

 35 

MS WHYTE:   Sorry, yes. No, so yes, I perhaps was a wee bit blunt in my 

answer to Ms Dawson in relation to the infrastructure being exactly 

there. I think it either needs to be there or achievable within the 

development period for the land. So I would say either existing or 

certainly planned or programmed. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. So just thinking about that for a minute, now and 

that is what I understand what you take from that with references to 

program and so forth in that paragraph? 

 45 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   The other dimension I am wondering about though, is that 

second sentence where it refers to provisions in this Recovery Plan for 

greenfield development have been designed - - -  

 5 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - to be achievable within in this case, planned 

infrastructure capacity. 

 10 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then we go back – I just want to go back to page 28 

and 4.3.2, and just a couple of things about that, just looking at the 

second to last sentence before we get into bullet points, the greenfield – 15 

well, missing out the first part of it, but combined with those things, 

“Greenfield priority areas will be sufficient” and that word “sufficient” 

came up with discussion with Mr Osborne - - -  

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - then it goes onto say, “to meet future demand” and 

then it goes onto talk about allowing for choice of location and market 

competition. 

 25 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you read that as, in other words, recognising that it is 

not just about “demand/sufficiency”, but indeed market competition 

can play its part in terms of - - -  30 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, it does. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - how much is available? 

 35 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I think it does. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the choice of location for instance whether it is in a 

sensible place for infrastructure and it is potential to be upgraded as 

oppose to “not well located”, that gives a weighting to how it should be 40 

considered, is that right? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, it does. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And just sort of one other thing, when it talks about the 45 

900 hectares of land there am I right to understand that is the area that 
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includes all of the blue areas including that part of the blue area that Mr 

Cleary’s client’s dealing with? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I think it would. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Were you going to add something to your earlier answer? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I was just going to – the only thing I was going to add is, one of 

the – I think for me one of the troubling concerns with this site, now in 

relation to the traffic, is that I think when the Land Use Recovery Plan 10 

was developed and when it considered the infrastructure being in place 

and all of that, I do not think there was an anticipation that the access to 

the State Highway was the only option, and that is the part - - -  

 

  [11.25 am] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because of the connection that had been modelled? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Because there were other connections - - -  

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS WHYTE:   - - - available at the time the land zoning was considered. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which traffic experts say - - -  25 

 

MS WHYTE:   Having now considered it, are saying “is not appropriate” and I 

think that is – so in terms of the whole infrastructure available 

programming I think that is one of the – certainly from a planning 

perspective that is quite troubling. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no I realise that, no, that is understandable.  Thank 

you for that. 

 

 So questions probably should go to you first, Mr Winchester. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, nothing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, any questions arising? 

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Just in terms of that, I think it was 4.4 that paragraph when 

you referred “infrastructure”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That one there or – no, if you go forward there Secretariat 

– just go forward to the other page and then just bring that into the 45 

middle there. 
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<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [11.26 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and so, it talks about wastewater, transport 

infrastructure capacity could constrain activities in the short to medium 5 

term in some of the identified greenfield priority areas, and then it goes 

onto say that the Council’s and NZTA are required to prioritise 

infrastructure programs to support development of priority areas. 

 

 Just that message appears to be fairly clear, but in terms of the 10 

infrastructure capacity, the issue of wastewater you understand, yes, it 

is resolvable, I think is what Ms O'Brien said? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I have no basis not to accept the evidence that has been 

presented on that. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, so then it is the transport infrastructure capacity, and 

there is seen to be two aspects of that, is the safety and then potential 

accumulative effects, is that right? 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   Well in terms of – so you are talking purely about this, the 

infrastructure? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 25 

MS WHYTE:   That is my understanding of the evidence. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, okay. Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary, questions – re-examination, Ms 30 

White? 

 

MS WHITE:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Thank you very much, Ms Whyte, that has been 35 

helpful to us, in terms of where we are placed, we will take the morning 

recess and then hear you from Mr Cleary and call first witness. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Sir, I have not filed any opening legal submissions. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just get straight to – well if you like you can just highlight 

any one or two things you want us to think about, it is over to you – I 

will leave it in your hands and then you can call your first witness. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I expect the theory of my case is fairly obvious to the Panel by 45 

now. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Always a danger to make an assumption on anything like 

that, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, I think I will go straight to witnesses. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. We will take our first recess. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.28 am] 

 10 

ADJOURNED [11.28 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.47 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:  Thank you, sir, I will just proceed to call my first witness, 

Mr Young. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 20 
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<BLAIR WALLACE YOUNG, sworn [11.48 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [11.48 am] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, good morning, Mr Young, I wonder if you could 

please confirm that your full name is Blair Wallace Young? 

 5 

MR YOUNG:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence in respect of 

this matter dated 17 September 2015? 

 10 

MR YOUNG:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you have the qualifications and the experience set out in 

section 1 of your evidence? 

 15 

MR YOUNG:   That is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I wonder if I could ask a supplementary question arising out 

of yesterday and it is actually you have read the transcript, Mr Young? 

 20 

MR YOUNG:   Mr Osborne’s transcript. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Well, the transcript from yesterday. 

 

MR YOUNG:   Most of it, yes. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you have read the questions that I asked of Mr Osborne? 

 

MR YOUNG:   Yes, I have. 

 30 

MR CLEARY:  And in terms of his comments regarding he didn’t have an 

understanding of your day to day knowledge of the commercial real 

estate market? 

 

MR YOUNG:   Sure. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   I wonder if you could very briefly expand on that issue. 

 

MR YOUNG:   Yes, no problem.  I noted in Mr Osborne’s transcript that he 

said there was 950 hectares of commercial and industrial land available 40 

to Christchurch.  I think it is a bit simplistic to say that that is enough to 

soak up any industrial development because it is in my experience, 

which is considerable, the reason why industrial areas exist in different 

parts of Christchurch city is because of the business uses. 

45 
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  [11.50 am] 

 

 For example, Port Hills, Portlink, services the port industry, or they 

want to be close to that port because they receive freight cars, that sort 

of stuff.  Bromley historically has been an area of manufacturing.  It 5 

suffered badly in the earthquakes but a lot of that is being rebuilt, in 

manufacturing. Woolston is the same. 

 

 And the reason for that is quite obvious, and that is that they need to 

stay close to their worker environments where all the people that work 10 

in those factories and things live, around the eastern suburbs. 

 

 Just a quick comment, some companies that have moved to Rolleston 

Izone, because that is where you can get land that is similar in cost to 

those eastern suburbs, they are now struggling significantly to keep 15 

their workforce because it is such a long way away from where they 

live. 

 

 If you take other examples, Hornby of course is the big distribution 

area for all of the – whether it is the supermarkets or other products.  20 

You have got Wigram Skies, a new development with Ngai Tahu, on 

the shoulder of that area, which is also of a lot of manufacturing, food 

processing facilities.  

 

 Moving on to the airport, in the airport environs and around that area 25 

you have got people that want to be close to the aviation industry in 

respect of travel or providing services or couriers and things like that.   

 

 So there is certainly a distinction of the merits of different areas and the 

activities that are there.  You cannot simply say that – you know, 30 

people will go where they need to be, which gives them the 

infrastructure and the contact with what they need around it.   

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of your knowledge of existing and future trends for 

industrial development and your association with Bayleys, could you 35 

perhaps extend very briefly again on that? 

 

MR YOUNG:  Okay.  Bayleys is a significant commercial and rural and 

residential company throughout New Zealand. We have over 900 

agents, 73 offices.   40 

 

 Bayleys pride themselves on having a significant research division.  So 

every commercial industrial and residential area of New Zealand is 

analysed on a yearly basis.  We have four research people.  They come 

to Christchurch, they spend a couple of weeks here, they talk to all the 45 

valuers and they release a report on an annual basis, which is published. 
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 We also hold a function at Bayleys where we get a large number of 

people that turn up to hear from those guys about that report, which is 

all about land values, where the land is being soaked up, as far as 

development, where development is moving, the trends of where it is 5 

moving. 

 

 The other thing I think which is important probably for the Panel to 

know is that back in 2008 Bayleys were the master agents for the 

airport development.  At the time I was the commercial manager for 10 

Bayleys but I resigned from that role to be the lead agent for the CAIL 

airport development.  

 

 The Recall deal, which is Brambles, a large building on the Dakota 

Park campus, that is a deal that I brokered.  So I am very familiar with 15 

the planning of Dakota Park and the structure of the airport campus. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Subject to that, those additions that you have just made, can 

you confirm that the contents of your evidence are true and correct to 

the best of your knowledge? 20 

 

MR YOUNG:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Your evidence is brief but I also understand you have got a 

very brief summary for the Panel? 25 

 

MR YOUNG:   I would firstly like to say that I have discussed with Mr Cleary 

the matter of the expert witness, the Code of Conduct, and my 

evidence, from my clients, I would just like for the Panel to 

acknowledge or know that I am just wanting to give you an objective, 30 

informative opinion. 

 

 Moving on from that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Just to clarify that.  I did note that you did not make a 35 

positive statement as to abiding the Code of Conduct and I take from 

that answer that it was on a considered basis, given the theory of your 

evidence? 

 

MR YOUNG:   Correct. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Correct. 

 

MR YOUNG:   So, Messrs Wilson and Martin contacted me mid to late 2014 

and asked me to come and have a chat to them about their land.  They 45 
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were referred to me by a couple of clients that I have worked for, often 

other developers in town. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 5 

 So as I do with everything, I did some background research on their 

property.  The first thing I did was searching through the Council file 

and the systems we have at work, Property Guru, et cetera.   

 

 I found it interesting that their properties were already zoned Industrial 10 

at that time.   “Pending designation” was the description.  I was also 

aware that Mr Gerry Brownlee had instructed ECan to prepare a Land 

Use Recovery Plan to identify priority areas for business growth for the 

earthquake recovery. 

 15 

 Meeting with Messrs Martin and Wilson, I further understand that they 

had – particularly Jerry Martin – he had had his land acquired by 

NZTA, New Zealand Transport, for the loop road.  I certainly know a 

lot of detail why that loop road is now the option that has been put in 

place by comparison to the double set of traffic lights that was 20 

originally planned.  

 

 But it was clear from that – an NZTA representative had told them that 

their land was going to be business zoned.  Going back to the LURP, I 

understood that the property had been zoned and gazetted by the 25 

Minister on 6 December 2013. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, can you stand up, please? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just while your witness is reading stay standing in case I 

need to ask you things - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   My apologies, sir. 35 

 

MR YOUNG:   - - - such as, is this the summary or is it further evidence? 

 

MR CLEARY:   I think it is a summary, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will just bear that in mind.  The evidence if read word 

for word would take about eight minutes to read. 

 

MR CLEARY:   All right, okay.  I wonder if you could move things along, Mr 

Young? 45 
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MR YOUNG:  Okay.  Basically, I had a clear understanding from all the 

information I had at hand, NZTA, the Council, the fact that Messrs 

Wilson and Martin were already paying rates applicable to business 

use, so they were not paying residential rates or rural rates anymore. 

 5 

 I was contracted to go and approach likely people that would be 

interested in developing that land for commercial use.  The advantage 

of the land is that you can have ownership, whereas on the airport 

campus you can only lease, and that is because of the 1967 Aviation 

Act which prohibits the airport from selling any of their land. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:  Yes, I will have to sort of interrupt you there.  That is actually 

not in your evidence. If you could perhaps refrain from making 

additions of that sort? 

 15 

MR YOUNG:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have read the evidence. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 20 

 

MR YOUNG:   Do you want me to comment on the land values or? 

 

MR CLEARY:   I do not think so.  I think probably leave it at that. 

 25 

MR YOUNG:   Okay. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and if you could answer any questions counsel may 

have, or the Panel? 

 30 

MR YOUNG:   Sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [11.58 am] 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Mr Young, and thank 

you for that clarification about the Code of Conduct.  So presumably 

you could not give evidence in accordance with the Code of Conduct 

because your company and that you personally stand to benefit in terms 40 

of the potential rezoning of this land?  That is correct? 

 

MR YOUNG:   Yes, correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  You have said in your evidence that you 45 

maintain a working knowledge of the planning documents, and you 
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have made some comments in your summary of evidence and in your 

written evidence about directions in the LURP.  You are not a planner 

though, are you? 

 

MR YOUNG:   No, I am not, but obviously I follow – that is integral to my 5 

business so I follow that with great depth. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Did you take any professional advice from a lawyer or 

planner about the content of the planning documents when you were 

undertaking your investigations and when you were engaged on it? 10 

 

MR YOUNG:   No. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  You made reference in paragraph 2.6 of 

your evidence to giving a view from a commercial real estate 15 

perspective.  What do you mean in that respect?  Is it in relation to the 

benefits that would be realised by land owners or something else? 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 20 

MR YOUNG:   I think I touched on it before, I think the benefits are that a lot 

of companies have a mandate that they want to own their own property, 

so that land provides an opportunity for people to be able to develop 

their own property, if it was subdivided.   

 25 

 Secondly there is confusion over the Special Purpose Airport zone and 

what sort of activity you can have on that campus.  Or because you are 

dealing with one landlord, whether you qualify to be from their point of 

view, on that campus.  So it provides a competitive alternative through 

the release situation or an owner-occupier situation where they have 30 

close proximity to the airport. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Right so if I can break that down or try and break that 

down or summarise it, commercial real estate perspective looks at 

benefits to the landowner, potential market attractiveness and benefits 35 

to potential tenants or developers, is that right? 

 

MR YOUNG:   Well benefits to all parties, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER: Right, and when you apply a commercial real estate 40 

perspective do you consider benefits or costs to the broader 

community? 

 

MR YOUNG: Obviously with any new businesses or developments of 

properties like that it is providing employment as well. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Right. 

 

MR YOUNG:   And it is also providing obviously rates and all the other things 

that those people pay to support the wider community. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you.  Now you made reference to significant 

research that has been undertaken by Bayleys in terms of market 

analysis and those matters.  Are those reports publicly available, do you 

release them? 

 10 

MR YOUNG:  Yes, they are on our website and you can dial into several years 

of history for all those reports right throughout New Zealand.  We have 

a publication called Total Property which is five times a year.  They 

contain updated information in those magazines.  There is a separate, 

normally four-sided, like an A3 folded printed document which is 15 

headed up Research, which is available from our office, and we also 

have a database of people that ask us to post that to them when it 

becomes available, so we send out I don’t know the numbers but in the 

thousands basically. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  And is it that report and analysis that 

you rely upon in giving your evidence and your objective views about 

the appropriateness of rezoning this land? 

 

MR YOUNG:   In some ways, yes, but not in its entirety because of the fact 25 

that I have done a number of transactions around the airport area as 

well as in other parts of Christchurch.  I know that there is a lot of 

demand to be close to that facility, being the airport. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 30 

 

MR YOUNG:   And also the state highway et cetera as well. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And what is your independent analysis or 

where is your independent analysis of demand for industrial land in 35 

your evidence? 

 

MR YOUNG:   I have not gone into that in great detail but I have a number of 

purchasers of the land or part users of the land that I could identify but 

I do not think I am particularly willing to do that here, I am sorry.  It is 40 

sensitive market information. But to give you an example the rental 

vehicle companies, the camper vehicle companies, there are a number 

of companies that would like to set up an office facility as well, that are 

related to a lot of travelling, that spend a lot of time in the planes. 

 45 
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 Service industries for the aviation industry, health industry, that sort of 

thing, suppliers of equipment and that sort of thing as well.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  Are you familiar with the MAIL site? 

 5 

MR YOUNG:   Yes I am. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And is Bayleys engaged - - -  

 

MR YOUNG:   No. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - in relation to the MAIL site?  It is not, thank you.   

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now you have made reference to a potential sale of the 

land for industrial purposes in paragraph 2.8 of your evidence and the 

fact that this sale fell over and the sale price was in excess of 

$6,000,000.  Are you able to advise what Bayleys’ commission on that 

purchase price would be or is that commercially sensitive? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, Mr Winchester, I can guess what it might be. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I have done plenty of real estate buying and selling in 

recent times 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  Thank you, sir. 

 30 

MR YOUNG:   Well I think I would rather actually acknowledge the fee. It 

was two percent. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It doesn’t cut either way with how we see your evidence, 

Mr Young so don’t worry about that. 

 

MR YOUNG:   All right.   

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Of course there hasn’t been a fee earned at this point in 

time. 

 

MR YOUNG:   No. 

 45 

MR WINCHESTER:   No thank you, Mr Young. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions thank you, Mr Young. 

 5 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis? 

 

MR WILLIS:   No thank you sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  I don’t have any questions either, your evidence is very 

clear.  Thank you very much.   

 

MR YOUNG:   Okay, thank you. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well there’s no questions arising on that.  Right, now we 

are slightly behind the ball but Mr Carr is coming through now. 

 

MR CLEARY:  I understand, I have just been passed a note earlier by my 20 

friend Mr Winchester that he says he - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are free to go Mr Young. 

 

MR YOUNG:   Thank you, sir. 25 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.06 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   In terms of Mr Carr, Mr Winchester won’t be cross examining 

him so that might make up some time. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that’s good.  Let’s get on with it. 

 

MR CLEARY:   So it is Mr Carr next. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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<ANDREW DAVID CARR, affirmed [12.07 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Allen, are you okay if Professor Bagchi goes ahead of 

you? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Not at all sir, whatever suits the Panel. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN: All right. Are you ready to go when I call on you 

Professor? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Me? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Will you be ready to go when I call on you.  I am 

going to call you through ahead of Mr Allen, all right.  Not now, just 

when I call on you, you can sit down again.  Just giving you a warning.  

All right. 

 15 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [12.07 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Mr Carr, if you can confirm that your full name is Andrew 

David Carr. 

 20 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And in respect of these proceedings you have prepared a 

statement of evidence-in-chief dated 17 September 2015 and a rebuttal 

statement of evidence dated 1 October 2015. 25 

 

MR CARR:   That’s correct, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you have the qualifications and experience set out in your 

evidence-in-chief? 30 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And I just wanted to ask you once supplementary question 

and it is in respect of Mr Clark’s earlier summary and he queried your 35 

use of a different design speed for trucks and I wonder if you could 

describe the process that you have used for determining this. 

 

MR CARR:   Certainly.  The initial design speed for the environment was 

provided by Mr Clark and was set at 60km/h.  But in undertaking a 40 

literature review associated with that it transpired from that literature 

that the design speed of trucks may be lower and that obviously had a 

potentially critical effect on site distances and the like.   

 

 So I have got a couple of additional exhibits here.  The first one is an 45 

extract - - - 
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MR CLEARY:   I wonder does he need to show those? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I don’t know.  I mean if Council hasn’t seen them 

then the answer is yes, Council should see anything that comes in 5 

before the Panel accepts it as an exhibit. 

 

MR CLEARY:   That’s right, yes. 

 

MR CARR:   So the first is an extract from the Austroads Guide to Road 10 

Design part 3, just a single page photocopy. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   So could you identify this document please? 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will just call it exhibit G, I don’t think there will be 

any opposition to that coming in, so you don’t need to go through the 

formalities, exhibit G. 

 20 

EXHIBIT #G – GUIDE TO ROAD DESIGN PART 3: GEOMETRIC 

DESIGN 

 

MR CLEARY:   I am obliged.  Okay, if you could continue. 

 25 

MR CARR:   And this particular extract, table 3.4 at the bottom which sits 

within a section talking about the operating speed of trucks, shows that 

in a particular speed environment for cars the trucks generally travel at 

a lower speed and given Mr Clark’s information about a 60 kilometres 

an hour car speed it would suggest that the truck speed is 52 kilometres 30 

per hour, and that is where the 52 kilometres per hour that I use within 

my analysis comes from. 

 

 In my view it is always good to turn the calculation on its head and 

double check that.  I have a second extract from another AUSTROADS 35 

guide. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Again counsel will not have seen this. 

 

MR CARR:   Correct. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, just make it snappy. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Pardon? 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is this coming in? 
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MR CLEARY:   It is not, I don’t believe it is in, is it?  Is it on the record? 

 

MR CARR:   It is not on the record at the moment. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Allen, just signal if you have got any issues otherwise 

it is just going to go straight in as an exhibit. 

 

MR ALLEN:   No, sir. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   And if you could just briefly explain what this document is 

when the Panel has had the opportunity to look at it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   This is exhibit H. 

 15 

EXHIBIT #H – GEOMETRIC DESIGN FOR TRUCKS – WHEN, 

WHERE AND HOW? 

 

MR CARR:  So this is another extract from another different AUSTROADS 

guide.  If I could draw your attention to table 9B at the bottom which 20 

talks about the minimum curve radii for cars.  At the design speed that 

has been set at 60 kilometres per hour the second line down 

corresponds to that and you can see on the right hand side an absolute 

minimum radii given, depending on the superelevation of the road, and 

the absolute minimum of 10 percent superelevation which shows a 25 

66 metre radius.  

 

 In this particular instance the radius for a vehicle that has exited the 

state highway through 180 degrees to turn north underneath the 

underpass is actually 61 metres.  That is on the plans that NZTA have 30 

provided by Mr Clark.  So you can see that it is slightly below that 

radius. 

 

 But if you then move up to the next table up, the minimum curve radii 

for trucks.  If you were to assume a 60 kilometres an hour design speed 35 

you would need a radius of 83 metres.  What NZTA is proposing is 

substantially lower than that and essentially what that table shows is 

that if a truck was to attempt that curve at 60 kilometres an hour it 

would be operating well beyond its safe speed.  Two possibilities 

would be it would skid or the second possibility is it may topple.   40 

 

 However if you then move to the design speed of 50 kilometres an 

hour, which is the line above it, you can see that with attempts at 

superelevation you need a 57 metre minimum radius which 

corresponds quite closely to the 61, 60.9 that is shown.  So that led me 45 

to conclude that, firstly, the design speeds for trucks and cars is 
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different and, secondly, that an approximate 10 kilometres per hour 

speed differential would be appropriate. 

 

 So I took the conservative approach of using 52 kilometres per hour, 

going back to that first attachment rather than dropping down to 50, 5 

hence my analysis was based upon the 52 kilometres per hour and that 

is attached to my rebuttal. 

 

MR CLEARY:   With those additions that you have just made can you please 

confirm that the contents of your evidence is true and correct to the best 10 

of your knowledge? 

 

MR CARR:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And I believe you have a summary for the Panel? 15 

 

MR CARR:   I do, yes. 

 

MR CLEARY: If you could proceed with that and answer any questions 

afterwards. 20 

 

MR CARR:  I will. In my evidence-in-chief I focused on the higher level 

matters associated with the rezoning sought by submission 2278 which 

was based upon the modelling carried out by QTP and attached to the 

evidence-in-chief of Mr Milne.  25 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 I concluded that the existing land use zonings in the area resulted in 

insufficient capacity at the Johns Road/Harewood Road, Johns 30 

Road/Sawyers Arms Road and Russley Road/Yaldhurst Road 

intersections but that the zoning sought by the submitters resulted in 

only small changes in traffic volumes.  In my view therefore this traffic 

would have only small effects on the queues and delays. 

 35 

 My rebuttal statement focuses on matters of detail particularly around 

certain design criteria associated with the proposed site access.  Based 

on my assessment I am of the opinion that appropriate sight distances 

can be provided in all directions for both car and truck drivers and that 

the intersection lies within or extremely close to the field of vision for 40 

all approaching drivers. 

 

 A particular feature of the layout is the provision of auxiliary turning 

lanes for left and right turning vehicles which all experts agreed are 

required.  The most recent joint statement sets out that the experts also 45 

agree that the right turning lane is required regardless of whether the 
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land is rezoned and the left turn lane might also be required.  As such in 

my view the proposed layout is therefore not substantially different to 

what would be required under the current land zoning.  Overall I am of 

the view that the land use sought by submission 2278 can be 

accommodated on the road network without significant effects arising 5 

on the efficiency or safety of the road network. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  So it is up to you, Mr Allen? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   I thought you were going to Mr Bagchi first. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry. 

 15 

MR ALLEN:   Yes, I am not sure he has got any questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sorry, professor, sorry to interrupt you, but if you 

would like to take your questions, have you got any questions? 

 20 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, I have no questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No questions, all right.  Okay, well, thanks very much.  

Just as well for Ms Dawson.  Thank you, Mr Allen. 

 25 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ALLEN [12.17 pm] 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Carr. 

 

MR CARR:   Good afternoon, Mr Allen. 30 

 

MR ALLEN:   Just a few questions and starting first with cumulative effects on 

the state highway.  At the MAIL hearing you presented exhibit F, 

didn’t you? 

 35 

MR CARR:   Yes, I did but that was simply a rearrangement of an attachment 

to Mr Falconer’s evidence. 

 

MR ALLEN:  And for the Johns/State Highway 1/Harewood roundabout 

without the MAIL traffic, that has a volume capacity of 104, doesn’t it? 40 

 

MR CARR:   I happen to have it here so if you could repeat the question I can 

check. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Okay.  So we are going to Johns/State Highway 1/Harewood 45 

roundabout. 
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MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Without MAIL and it is 103. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is this from exhibit F to the MAIL hearing which is 

on the screen now? 

 

MR ALLEN:   That is correct, this exhibit.  So we are in the second column 

along, sir, without MAIL and we are at 103. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, that is correct. 

 15 

MR ALLEN:   And it is correct that at a volume capacity ratio of greater than 

100 the roundabout is exceeding its capacity and queuing will be 

occurring? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, there is more traffic arriving at the approaches than can be 20 

passed through the intersection. 

 

MR ALLEN: And moving south now to the Yaldhurst/Russley Road 

intersection which is also on the same column but further down, we 

have a volume capacity of 101? 25 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR ALLEN: And in between those two intersections, and Mr Clark 

summarised this today, there is the Memorial Ave/Russley Road 30 

intersection, isn’t there? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, there is. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And at the MAIL hearing your transport evidence supported the 35 

full MAIL development, didn’t it? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, it did. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Moving now to the volume of traffic leaving area 3 west, the 40 

experts have agreed that using the airport access interchange is the only 

access for area 3 west, haven’t they? 

 

MR CARR:   That is correct, yes. 

 45 
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MR ALLEN:   And you were here this morning when Mr Clark explained his 

exhibit F – sorry, sir, this is going to become slightly confusing – so his 

exhibit F this morning, they were these diagrams here. 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, I was here for that.  I don’t have a copy here though so if it 5 

could - - - 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sorry, does your counsel have a copy? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Counsel is searching. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you could run that past Mr Allen please and just check 

it is correct. 

 

  [12.20 pm] 15 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you, sir. And just very briefly with this, you accept that a 

high proportion of traffic to and from Area 3 West will have to use the 

expressway? 

 20 

MR CARR: If that is the only access to the site then all of the traffic associated 

with Area 3 West would be using that off-ramp, yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:  And approximately 68% of the evening peak outward traffic 

from Area 3 West goes directly to the expressway, does it not? 25 

 

MR CARR:   I understood the expressway to mean in the sense that Mr Clark 

has used it, the whole of that part of the southern access road. 

 

MR ALLEN:   I am using the 69 that heads south and the 36 that loops and 30 

comes north. 

 

MR CARR:   Right, then, yes, that is correct. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And that 68% is significantly greater than your modelled 30% 35 

using the State Highway for the full MAIL proposal isn’t it? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And how would public transport access Area 3 West? 40 

 

MR CARR:   It very much depends upon the demand for public transport. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  No, the question was about how it would access, not of 

demand. 45 
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MR CARR:   If it was to access the site then it would also use the expressway 

and the State Highway. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And for pedestrians and cyclists? 

 5 

MR CARR:  It would be very difficult unless there were some sort of easement 

across the land towards the east. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Now moving to the issue of safety off the access way, have you 

undertaken a safety audit of the intersection proposed to your rebuttal 10 

evidence? 

 

MR CARR:   I am not entitled to undertake a safety audit because that has to 

be done independently of the designer, and I am the assumed designer 

in that particular respect, but I have designed it with safety in mind. 15 

 

MR ALLEN:   So has a safety audit been undertaken? 

 

MR CARR:   No. 

 20 

MR ALLEN:   The expressway speed will be 80 kilometres, will it not? 

 

MR CARR:  On the main line of the State Highway, yes it will – well, the 

speed limit will be 80, it is more likely to say that the operating speed 

will be about 90 kilometres an hour, generally you add 10 kilometres 25 

onto the postage speed limit. 

 

MR ALLEN:  And the exhibit G that you presented this morning, that 

speedway speed by the time you get to the loop, needs to be 52 

kilometres for trucks and 60 kilometres for cars, is that correct? 30 

 

MR CARR:   It would need to be – yes, it would. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And therefore those trucks and cars would need to deaccelerate 

to that speed within the confines of the southern airport access 35 

expressway off-ramp before they hit that tight radiae corner you 

explained? 

 

MR CARR:   That is correct, the NZTA design shows that to be the case, yes. 

 40 

MR ALLEN:  And moving now to the evening peak outward bound traffic, you 

accept that 86 PCUs will turn right from the site across the expressway 

off-ramp? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 45 
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MR ALLEN:   And that is solely for the Area 3 West traffic, is it not? 

 

MR CARR:   That was the information presented, yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Do you accept that that is a significant amount of movements 5 

across an expressway off-ramp? 

 

MR CARR:  No I do not. It is 86 PCUs, so allowing for proportion of heavy 

vehicles that maybe within that, it comes out to be one vehicle 

movement every 40-45 seconds in the absolute busiest period. 10 

 

MR ALLEN: And would you expect that to be a level of across road movement 

that people would expect on an expressway off-ramp? 

 

MR CARR:   I cannot speculate for driver’s expectations in that circumstance, 15 

all I can do is to ensure that a design of an access meets appropriate 

standards. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Can you please turn to figure 3 in your rebuttal evidence? 

 20 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN: Now this morning your counsel said, and I am looking in 25 

particular first up at the right hand turn entry point into the site, so your 

counsel this morning said that there is a 20 metre area there to turn into, 

is that correct, a stacking for 20 metres? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, so 20 metres relates to the full length of the right turn lane, 30 

it is the distance between the give way line if you like on the left hand 

side of the picture, and where the red line intersects near to that right 

turn arrow, so that is 20 metres. And then there is 25 metres provided 

between that location and the end of the safety barrier, so a right turn 

length of 45 metres in total. 35 

 

MR ALLEN:  Thank you. You mention the safety barrier, what is the purpose 

of the safety barrier there? 

 

MR CARR:  I can only speculate because I have not spoken to the scheme 40 

designers. The safety audit identifies an issue of potential headlight 

glare for vehicles that are turning through 180 degrees to head north, 

their headlights will be shining directly into the path of vehicles that are 

travelling towards south. I do not think the safety audit highlights 

anything else, but I would anticipate, given that that curve appears to be 45 
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below the minimum, that there is also a reason for providing it would 

be to ensure that there is no crossover accidents. 

 

MR ALLEN:  And by “crossover accidents”, you mean vehicles exiting the 

expressway at up to 90 kilometres an hour and needing to deaccelerate 5 

into the radiae curve that is right at the limit or near the limit of the 

design guide? 

 

MR CARR:  Yes, that is correct. But again that is not a feature of this 

particular design, that is NZTA’s proposal, and that particular issue of 10 

vehicle speeds was not raised in NZTA’s formal safety audit – that was 

carried out on that scheme. 

 

MR ALLEN:   So just moving back now to the clear stack width of 20 metres, 

you would accept that that would accommodate one long truck turning 15 

right? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:  And if more than one vehicle was waiting, they would have to 20 

either use the median strip there, as you mentioned before, is that 

correct? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 25 

MR ALLEN:   Or if there were more they might start because of the median 

barrier there to stack back into the off-ramp lane? 

 

MR CARR:  Yes, if there were more than one long vehicle under the vehicle 

requirements of NZTA, a typical articulated vehicle or B train is 20 30 

metres long, so that would occupy the whole of the length of that full 

turning lane, and I would anticipate if there was a second vehicle then 

yes it would tailback into the lane. 

 

 But that said, the modelling shows that at the peak times the traffic 35 

volumes are very infrequent and so at the peak times, allowing for a 

small proportion of those to be heavy vehicles, I would anticipate that 

there would be very many instances of two long vehicles waiting. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Okay, so you do not anticipate very many circumstances, would 40 

it be an issue if it occurred? 

 

MR CARR:  If it has occurred, you can see that there is a sealed median – 

sorry, a sealed shoulder towards the south of that lane, that shoulder is 

two metres wide and the traffic lane is three and a half metres wide, so 45 

if there was a little bit of a protrusion of a second heavy vehicle, there 
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is sufficient space for another driver that was following it to pass on the 

inside using the shoulder – it is not an ideal solution, but if – although I 

believe the instances of two vehicles in that circumstance is going to be 

infrequent, then in my view it is an adequate solution. 

 5 

MR ALLEN:  And then moving now just down to the next figure which is 

figure 4 - just down below figure 3 – there we have got a sight line 

indicated there, that cuts across a batter slope and also goes right to the 

very limit, on this scale map at any rate, of the designation boundary, 

does it not? 10 

 

  [12.30 pm] 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, it does. 

 15 

MR ALLEN:   So do you accept that there would need to be some redesigning 

of that to accommodate properly that site line to ensure cars coming up 

from under the expressway are visible from any right hand turning 

traffic out of the site? 

 20 

MR CARR:   In part, yes I accept that.  The sight line just tangentially touches 

the proposed edge of the designation.  It would not take a great deal for 

that site line to be just a few centimetres outside of the designation and 

I do within my rebuttal talk about the need for addressing additional 

land.  It is most evident perhaps in figure 3 that we have just talked 25 

about where the site line does clearly go outside of the designation. 

 

 In respect of the batter slope, my calculations are showing that within 

the margins of error, using PDFs rather than detailed vertical 

alignments, there is no requirement to undertake any works to that 30 

batter slope.   

 

 I accept that the scheme has not been fully designed yet and there may 

be changes in the horizontal alignment of, or vertical alignment rather 

of the ramp and if that is the case then it would need to be taken into 35 

account that the sight distance should not be compromised.  It works 

but it is tight and there is not much room for amendments to the vertical 

alignment if that was to take place during the detailed design. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir I am aware of my time.  I have got just a few more questions 40 

if I may have leave sir for five or six more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine.  Just the batter slope, just so I understand 

it.  The fat end is at the lower end of the slope is it? 

 45 

MR ALLEN:   Sir that is my understanding of the tadpole alignment. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, thank you. 

 

MR CARR:   The narrow end points downhill if you like. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CARR:   So the road is descending as it goes underneath the state 

highway. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Are you aware Mr Carr, of any other such new expressway off-

ramp designs with the same type of configuration? 

 15 

MR CARR:   No I am not. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Do you accept that it would be safer to have a solely left-in, 

left-out intersection? 

 20 

MR CARR:   No I do not accept that.  In terms of the function of the ramp 

itself, yes removing the right turn is always a safer arrangement, just as 

at any priority intersection it is a safer arrangement.  But the risk with 

the left-in, left-out is that it introduces U-turners elsewhere on the 

roading network and those U-turners can offset any localised safety 25 

benefits by simply migrating the accidents to a different location. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And if there is no right outward turn then all traffic from area 3 

west would have to turn left and onto the expressway? 

 30 

MR CARR:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR ALLEN:   And at evening peak that would be the full 155 PCUs? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes it would. 35 

 

MR ALLEN:   And the first intersection those PCUs, or the traffic, would then 

encounter would be the Yaldhurst intersection? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, that is right. 40 

 

MR ALLEN:   How would trucks going north turn around and re-access the 

state highway or move to turn round and head north because they have 

been kicked south, how are they going to get back to north? 

 45 
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MR CARR:   Well that is not something I have turned my mind to because I 

focused on providing an intersection layout that I believe to be safe and 

meets design standards.  So I would perceive no need to restrict the 

right turn movement out. 

 5 

MR ALLEN:   But if the Panel was to restrict right turn movements out, you 

have not considered the effects on either the state highway network or 

the local road network of that traffic having to turn north? 

 

MR CARR:   No I have not.  If I was uncomfortable with this design or if it did 10 

not meet the standards then that is certainly something that would have 

to be looked into, but in my view what is proposed in this particular 

layout meets design standards, it would operate safely and there would 

be no need to restrict right turn movements out. 

 15 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you.  No further questions Your Honour. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Allen.  All right, now Panel questions.  

Ms Dawson. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   No, I do not have any questions thank you Mr Carr.  I think 

they have been all covered. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 25 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Willis, just when you are ready. 

 

  [12.35 pm] 30 

 

MR WILLIS:   Just a point of clarification Mr Carr and I do apologise for 

forgetting your name a little earlier.  You noted in your rebuttal 

evidence the assessment shows there are very slight shortfalls in the 

fields of vision.  I assume that is the situation you have just been taken 35 

through, is that what you were referring to then? 

 

MR CARR:   No it is a slightly different issue.  If I could perhaps take you to, 

probably the best one would be figure 9 I think, of my rebuttal, the 

appendix to my rebuttal.  Page 7 of 7. 40 

 

 So the concept is that as a car driver as you are driving more quickly 

you become more focused on the road ahead.  And so at higher speeds 

if you like your field of vision starts to narrow and that has been 

quantified by NZTA.  Therefore it is good practice that at the point 45 

where a driver might have to brake to see a vehicle moving into a 
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dangerous position, that their attention is naturally focused in the right 

sort of area. 

 

 Figure 9, and just looking at those yellow lines, shows that if a truck 

was at the point where a driver would be able to spot a vehicle that was 5 

moving into a dangerous situation, their field of vision naturally 

encompasses the intersection ahead and so they are able to see the 

majority of vehicles that are turning without turning their head, without 

having to refocus. 

 10 

 If you look at the blue lines, this will be a car driver, so the car drivers 

are travelling slightly quicker and so their field of vision is narrowed, 

and you can see that if a vehicle had turned right into the site from the 

right turn lane, that it would be outside of their natural field of vision.   

 15 

 So they would not spot it until a couple of metres further down the line. 

 

 So my analysis is showing that at the site distances the field of vision 

issue does come into play slightly but as a car driver moves along very 

slightly, in the order of sort of two or three or at most eight metres I 20 

think, then the whole of the intersection does become within their field 

of vision. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you but that was from a car only wasn’t it, that is what 

you are saying? 25 

 

MR CARR:   It is for both a car and a truck.  The blue lines are for the car 

driver - - - 

 

MR WILLIS:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CARR:   - - - in this particular instance, and the yellow lines are for a truck 

driver.  So that in this particular instance for figure 9 the truck driver is 

fine, the car driver has a slight shortfall.   

 35 

MR WILLIS:   Yes, okay. 

 

MR CARR:   If you look at figure 10, which is simply below that.  At the site 

distance required for a vehicle turning right from that right turn lane, 

both the car and the truck driver are able to see moving vehicles within 40 

their field of vision. 

 

MR WILLIS:   Thank you, I understand.  Thanks very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Carr I just want to ask you first about, or I will take 45 

you to Ms Harte’s evidence, attachment A. 



 Page 255 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MR CARR:   I do not have a copy of that with me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I am just going to bring it up on the screen for that 

purpose.  We will see how we go with the vision of it on the screen.  5 

Now so what that blue area depicts as I understand it Mr Carr, is the 

total area identified as priority area under the RPS for industrial land. 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And this is possibly when you were at some disadvantage 

because the detail of this possibly does not come up but if we could 

just, oh yes it does.  If you could just blow that up slightly so that we 

focus on, just for orientation. 

 15 

 Now can you see the slight overlay of the interchange arrangements 

that we have been discussing? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes I can. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Bottom overload. 

 

MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And as I understand it, to orientate myself to your figure 25 

A, your Figure A shows the connection at that shaded area in the 

middle doesn’t it, where it starts to slightly bend in. 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, that’s right. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So thinking about that total area, of which your client’s 

land is only a part, I am going to ask you some questions around your 

attachment A. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 35 

 

 So we will go to your attachment A in your rebuttal evidence, which 

shows the details that you have in mind of the proposed access.  We 

will put that on the screen, I think. 

 40 

 If you were to consider this on the basis that one proposition that has 

been put to us by Ms Whyte for instance, is that an Outline 

Development Plan should be applied to the whole of the Greenfield 

Priority Area, and that raises a question about thinking about the whole 

of that area.   45 
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 If you were to think about the whole of that area – I am going to ask 

you some questions about the adequacy of this intersection. 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So first of all it is an intersection anticipated here, rather 

than a crossing place? 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, it is.  My understanding is that the submitter will be looking 

to vest the access road with Council, and this layout here is designed to 10 

an intersection standard. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Do you know any more than the 

other experts whether or not this interchange area would be a limited 

access road as well as the associated expressway?  Do you have any 15 

understanding of that? 

 

MR CARR:   I do not have any understanding of that.  I am sorry, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just thinking about it then, would that intersection be 20 

adequate for a rezoning of the entire Greenfield Priority Area? 

 

MR CARR:   I have not carried out any analysis that would enable me to 

conclude one way or the other.  I will speculate then. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I will try to avoid too much speculation.  If we 

focus on the right-turn bay that was the focus of discussion, your 

discussion with Mr Allen, if you were thinking about the entire 

Greenfield Priority Area, would that provide an adequate amount of 

space for turning trucks? 30 

 

MR CARR:   It would be under more pressure than if Area 3 West was solely 

rezoned, but it will be possible to quantify the effects of the additional 

vehicle movements to assess that in advance of any decision being 

made. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That was not my question.  Well, it was partly related to 

my question.  I want to know from you whether, if we were to look that 

far ahead, this intersection would be adequate, or would it need a 

complete redesign.   40 

 

 And if such a complete redesign, is it just an issue of tweaking the 

intersection or does it involve more? 
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MR CARR:   I believe it will be tweaking the intersection, sir.  The key driver 

of the length of that right-turn lane is primarily the northern end of that 

safety barrier. 

 

 It seemed to my mind to extend a little bit further north than it would 5 

need to do otherwise.  That would enable that right-turn to be 

lengthened, if that could be shortened. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But if that would only accommodate one truck, as it is 

now, wouldn’t it be fair to contemplate that on the whole of the 10 

Greenfield Priority Area we are going to need quite a lot more, in terms 

of a proportion of the industrial land that would be left, or not provided 

for? 

 

MR CARR:   Not necessarily.  I have done some work for Fonterra out at 15 

Darfield where their right-turn lane is sufficient to accommodate two 

truck and trailer units turning in at the end of a shift.  It very rarely 

happens, even when you have fixed shift times and 65 tankers 

operating.  The majority of the time the truck can go right in.  

 20 

 In this instance, the ability of a truck to go right in very much depends 

upon the opposing traffic movement.  If there is nothing that is coming 

in the opposite direction, the truck can pull straight through and it 

would not need to stop, it would not need to wait.   

 25 

 And the volume of traffic which is heading south on that lane is not 

approaching the capacity of the road, so in my view there would be 

plenty of opportunities – gaps in the traffic – for trucks to turn right. 

 

 I could not pretend, sir, that I have done any analysis, and it would 30 

need further consideration, but I do believe that that is a fundamentally 

flawed arrangement and could not be improved to provide satisfactory 

access to the whole of the area. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does that answer suggest that as far as you are concerned 35 

this interchange configuration is quite suitable and would not need to 

be upgraded in any sense either, for rezoning of this land on a broader 

basis according to the Greenfield Priority Area? 

 

  [12.45 pm] 40 

 

MR CARR:   I believe it would need to be tweaked a little bit.  I would look at 

extending that right-turn lane.  I would also look at widening that 

shoulder such that if vehicles were more frequently tailing back into 

that through lane, that there is a greater area of seal for vehicles to drive 45 

around them.   
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 I would also look at the length of the left-turn lane as well.  But you 

can see that that is actually relatively easy to deal to through extending 

that.  

 5 

 So, in my view, this is an appropriate layout to deal with the traffic 

associated with the submission that I have looked at, and it is an 

appropriate layout as a basis for looking at a wider venue.  But I have 

not carried out any analysis to conclude for certain on that. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, do I underline that last qualification in your answer 

on the basis that you have not done the work, or do I take it as a minor 

qualification to your first statement, that it is relatively adequate? 

 

 I struggle with trying to figure out what it is that you are saying.  You 15 

are saying you have not done the analysis but you think it is fine.  More 

or less. 

 

MR CARR:   I cannot give you certainty because I have not done the analysis.  

But I can say that that particular layout, or variance thereof, serve 20 

relatively large developments, and the features that change depending 

upon the traffic flows are the length of the auxiliary lanes. 

 

 The left-turn lane is straightforward to increase the size of.  The right-

turn lane is a little bit more problematic, but there are ways and means 25 

of improving that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Mr Carr.  Any questions arising, Mr 

Allen? 

 30 

<FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ALLEN [12.47 pm] 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, just three brief ones, if I may.  Firstly, Mr Carr, Mr Willis 

took you to your figures 9 and 10, to your rebuttal.  Do you still have 

those in front of you? 35 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Just again – and you made it clear with your figure 3 and figure 

4 – those site lines require areas to be kept clear beyond the designated 40 

boundary.  Is that correct?  

 

MR CARR:   Yes, beyond the proposed designation, yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Turning to annexure A – back to that annexure A, I am sorry, 45 

that His Honour was just asking you questions about.  
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MR CARR:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Am I right that when I asked you questions earlier about the 

trucks, cars stacking up to turn right, you conceded that there was very 5 

little wriggle room in the current design?  Is that a fair summary? 

 

MR CARR:   I am not quite sure what you mean by wriggle room.  There is 

certainly enough space within the right-turn lane for one 20-metre 

truck, and there is the potential that if a second vehicle was queuing 10 

that it might tail back into the traffic lane. 

 

MR ALLEN:   You were just discussing the possibility – hypothetical – if the 

whole Area 3 was to be developed, with His Honour, that you could 

maybe widen the shoulder?  Is that correct? 15 

 

MR CARR:   Yes, potentially, yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   By widening the shoulder then you would be reducing the radii 

of the cars turning around?  They would have to swerve to the left to go 20 

around anyone before coming back out? 

 

MR CARR:   No, not necessarily.  If you extended the curve as shown on the 

plan, the driver would essentially be continuing to keep the steering 

wheel in the same position to go around the back of any other vehicle. 25 

 

MR ALLEN:   And again you would be coming hard up on the designated 

boundary, wouldn’t you? 

 

MR CARR:   You potentially would, yes. 30 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Allen.  Any re-examination, Mr Cleary? 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Mr Carr, for your help. 

 

MR CARR:   Thank you, sir. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.49 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have got Mr Hall next. 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   I call Mr Hall. 
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<ANDREW JAMES EMILE HALL, sworn [12.50 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Again this is a short statement, Mr Cleary, quite brief on 

some of them. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I understand he has got an extremely brief summary, but he 

does also have another document that he would like to produce. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sure. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [12.50 pm] 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Mr Hall, if you could confirm that your full name is Andrew 

James Emile Hall? 

 

MR HALL:   It is. 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   And you prepared a statement of evidence dated 17 

September 2015 in respect of these proceedings. 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   And can you please confirm that you got the qualifications 

and experience set out in that statement of evidence? 

 

MR HALL:   I have. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   And I understand you have another document that you would 

like to produce but that document – the aerial photograph – counsel 

will not have seen that. 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   So I wonder if you could provide copies. 

 

MR HALL:   I have some copies here - this is an aerial photograph which may 

help explain the flow paths in the area. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you. Do I need to get the witness to formally identify? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is no opposition, it can just come in – call this 

Exhibit I, aerial photograph regarding flow paths. 40 

 

EXHIBIT #I – AERIAL PHOTOGRAPH REGARDING FLOW PATHS 

 

MR CLEARY:   So could you briefly describe – it is fairly self-explanatory but 

perhaps a very brief description of what it shows. 45 
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MR HALL:   Yes, this is an aerial photograph of the area we are talking about, 

there is the red line which shows the area being applied for rezoning. 

To the south of that red line you will see a six metre wide easement, 

that is an existing easement which connects the application area to 

Hawthornden Road, that easement amongst other things accounts for 5 

drainage of storm water and can be used as a secondary flow path or 

overland flow path. 

 

 To the north you will see a blue dashed line, on the ground that is a 

natural flow channel, it is a relatively wide swale across the applicant’s 10 

land but as it gets closer to Avonhead Road you can see that it runs 

along what appears to be a natural boundary, the shape of those lots is 

up against what is quite a distinct flow channel, may be a metre deep 

and several metres wide. 

 15 

 Mr Cleary and myself visited the site and observed that it was dry, but 

quite clearly a drainage channel that could be used sometime in the 

future. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And just – sorry, in terms of the easement, you said it 20 

provided for storm water and of the like, do you understand whether it 

provides or any other access? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes, there is a right of way over that easement that also applies to 

sewerage, water supply and other services. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   And do you know if this provides for pedestrian right of way 

or cycling or anything like that? 

 

MR HALL:   Only to the dominant tenements. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, you can put that in by way of a further exhibit 

following this. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, I do need to get that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a copy of the right of way - - -  

 40 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - or the easement I should say. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, and have you got a very brief summary of your 45 

evidence for the Panel – sorry, subject to those additions, you can 
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confirm the content of your evidence is true and correct to the best of 

your knowledge? 

 

MR HALL:   I have some corrections which I would like to bring to your 

attention, and this follows on from discussions with Council in the last 5 

couple of days and also proceedings from yesterday, and really just to 

bring it in line with that evidence, and I will read that out now. 

 

 The removal of paragraph 28 and the replacement with the applicant’s 

land that is now been included in the modelling of the Riccarton 10 

interceptor catchment. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 

 Now the result of that modelling and the subsequent infrastructure 15 

upgrades, the land will eventually be permitted to discharge wastewater 

to the Council sewer. Whilst this is not immediately available, there 

may be a window of a capacity following the upgrade of the lower 

Riccarton interceptor. This window will most likely occur at a time 

outside the peak flows and not during a storm. 20 

 

 A system can be constructed onsite where the discharge can be 

controlled to ensure that these requirements are met. The system would 

include a pump unit and an iota on box controller as regularly used by 

the Council. 25 

 

 I would also like to remove paragraph 32 and replace it with, “The 

applicant’s land is now included in the modelling for the Riccarton 

interceptor upgrades. Capacity of the discharge of sewerage from this 

site may potentially become available following the upgrade of the 30 

lower Riccarton interceptor”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Cleary, before cross-examination, if you could over 

the lunch provide copies of those inserts to go into this evidence for the 

Panel and other counsel and we can just, rather than to try to write it all 35 

down, we can just put them in as inserts, but if you could have that 

available over the lunch please. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I will do my very best. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well otherwise we just have it in front of us and it just 

helps every one if it is available. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   He read from a document, I think the secretariat can help 

you with photocopying. 

 

MR HALL:   In terms of a highlights package I will treat that change of those 

corrections is dealing with sewerage and so I will just address the storm 5 

water. 

 

 The storm water will be discharged to ground onsite. A consent for the 

discharge will be required from Environment Canterbury and as 

expected the site will be permitted to use the Council’s global 10 

consenting. 

 

 The facility onsite will have the following characteristics, it will be 

design to treat the first thrush flow, the basins and soakage facilities 

were design to meet the 2 percent AEP critical storm event, the system 15 

will be designed to address bird strike and the system will include 

suitable overland flow paths for flooding and blockages. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Same for that one, just provide copies of it so that we can 

follow in cross-examination. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   I am very happy to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 25 

MR CLEARY:   I am just wondering, sir, are you intending to take a break 

now? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well - - -  

 30 

MR CLEARY:   Given what – I am not too sure - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think that is what we are going to have to, but just bear 

in mind we are significantly behind in time again, which is unfortunate, 

we can always start early. 35 

 

MR CLEARY:   I think we have actually caught up, sir, we have done quite 

well – Mr Hall was scheduled for 12.50. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is right – yes, we are not too bad – all right, we 40 

will take the luncheon adjournment, and if you could get those copies 

in, we can put them on the (INDISTINCT 3.06) come back, thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.58 pm] 

 45 

RESUMED [2.02 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Everyone.  So we have got these additions which we will 

put in Mr Hall’s evidence.  And just to clarify this, Mr Cleary – I see, 

no, he has got the notes there that is fine, I understand that.   

 5 

 Mr Winchester.  Are we finished, Mr Cleary, this witness is now 

available for cross-examination? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I can’t recall now whether I asked him he confirmed his - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   By all means. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:  Do you confirm that your evidence as amended is true and 

correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR HALL:   It is. 20 

 

MR CLEARY:   Answer any questions please. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.03 pm] 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER: Good afternoon, Mr Hall. Now, you have had discussions 

with Mr Norton in the past couple of days, is that correct? 

 

MR HALL:   Not Mr Norton. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right, so just Ms O’Brien.  Okay, well, you have read 

the rebuttal evidence of Mr Norton about the rezoning of certain parts 

of your client’s land, haven’t you? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And he doesn’t support the rezoning of certain of the 

identified properties, does he? 

 

MR HALL:   No. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And the basis of that is around the absence of a legal 

right for certain parts of the land to use an overland flow path and there 

is no easement for that, that is correct, isn’t it? 

 45 

MR HALL:   Yes. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   So if we are looking at your exhibit I which has been 

produced are you able to indicate which areas of land are serviced by 

the easement which runs down to Hawthornden Road? 

 5 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

MR HALL:   Currently the dominant tenements are the two properties at the 

end of that easement. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.   

 

MR HALL:   Maybe if I - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Maybe if we can somehow point them out, can that 15 

exhibit be brought on?  So if we go down this right-of-way there is a 

jutting out section to the south, is that one of them? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   And the one which is a lighter colour rectangle just to 

the north? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what we might do on the plan is to mark those with the 

letter D to stand for “dominant tenement”.   

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir.  Thank you, Mr Hall, that is helpful.  So what 

we have got then is all of the land from the north across to Russley 

Road which would be subject to the need to discharge across the 

natural flow path that you have indicated on the exhibit? 

 35 

MR HALL:   Not necessarily, no. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  So is your solution then to the issue identified by 

Mr Norton to ensure that all stormwater for those allotments is 

managed onsite? 40 

 

MR HALL:   No, we will deal with stormwater up to the 50 year event onsite.  

Any stormwater which is above that will need to be addressed in an 

overlay and flow path, that is an expected part of the engineering 

design but I am unsure exactly how we would deal with it at the 45 

moment but there are a number of options available. 
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MR WINCHESTER:  I see.  So have you made any investigations as to the 

ability to obtain easements or other legal rights to enable that discharge 

across on an overland flow path from those sections? 

 5 

MR HALL:   I have discussed it with my client and in other similar situations 

we have looked at options of perhaps looking at that easement and 

making that perhaps an easement in gross.  There is usually in these 

circumstances some form of commercial arrangement which is 

undertaken at the time of the subdivision application to determine 10 

where a possible servicing link may be required or overland flow path. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Are you able to advise as to your knowledge of land 

which would accommodate that overland flow path beyond your 

client’s land as to what that landowner’s position is? 15 

 

MR HALL:   Sorry, could you? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you know what the position of this landowner here 

is for example as to their receptiveness to enter into an easement? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are referring to the land which is bisected with the 

blue dotted line next to Russley Road? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I am, sir, to the northern boundary of the rezoning 25 

rezoned area. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I am just thinking of the transcript. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, sir.   30 

 

MR HALL:   No. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Hall, that is all. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY PROFESSOR BAGCHI [2.08 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, sir.  In 40 

paragraph 27 of your evidence-in-chief - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor, I just might get you to repeat the start of that 

question just to make sure it comes through the sound system otherwise 

it doesn’t go onto the transcript. 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:  Yes, sorry.  In paragraph 27 of your evidence-in-

chief you have said that there is currently a wastewater capacity 

shortage in the existing Riccarton interceptor sewer and Avonhead 

Road sewer, is that correct? 

 5 

MR HALL:   Yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, thank you.  In the same paragraph of your 

evidence you identified that your client’s sites lie in the upper 

Riccarton interceptor catchment not the lower Riccarton interceptor, is 10 

that correct? 

 

MR HALL:   No, I don’t believe so. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   If you could kindly look at your same paragraph. 15 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

MR HALL:   I think this describes my client’s land as being in the catchment 

of both Upper and Lower Riccarton interceptor site. 20 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   So is it in Upper or Lower? 

 

MR HALL:   Both. 

 25 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Both, right thank you.  Now you know that Upper 

Riccarton interceptor is not expected to be upgraded until at least the 

next LTP, subject to the Council decision.  Do you agree with that? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 30 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  You have suggested connecting to the 

Lower Riccarton interceptor once and then the Lower Riccarton 

upgrades are completed by 2017/2018.  Now how is it feasible to 

connect to the Lower Riccarton sewer when the land is on the Upper 35 

Riccarton catchment.  Technically is it possible? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes, the Upper Riccarton drains to the Lower Riccarton. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Upper Riccarton, oh, so you will be connecting to 40 

the Upper Riccarton? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor you are going to get into a bit of difficulty here 

because you are testing this witness on matters of engineering that he is 

qualified in and you have not got a witness to help you.  So bear that in 45 

mind when he answers your question you may not be able to take some 
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things further simply because you do not have an understanding behind 

the questions from an engineer, if I could say it as kindly as that. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So by all mean carry on but otherwise we could end up 

stalling with endless questions and answers on things that he has 

already answered. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right sir.  I will go to the next question.  Now the 10 

next question is, assuming that access to the Lower Riccarton 

interceptor is feasible, we heard from Mrs Bridget O’Brien during the 

Residential hearing in the past and Mr Simon Collin during the MAIL 

hearing that the increased wet weather capacity of 33.7 litres per 

second has already been fully allocated to Dakota Park, MAIL and the 15 

Hawthornden Road residential development.   

 

 Now would you accept that there is no wet weather capacity for 

discharge for your client? 

 20 

MR HALL:   Since that evidence was heard there has been an agreement made 

with Council that this land would be included in the modelling for the 

design of the Lower and Upper Riccarton sewer and I think that more 

recent rebuttal evidence overtakes that previous evidence. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, have you seen that evidence Professor?  The evidence 

that has come in from the Council. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I have not seen it sir. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I think when you read it you will find that on this 

issue there is very little difference between the Council and 

(INDISTINCT 2.44) 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I will have to see that evidence sir, sorry thank you. 35 

 

 And also the maximum drive weather capacity is 40 litres per second, 

given the Dakota Park, MAIL and Hawthornden Road residents will 

use drive weather spells to discharge sewage, is there any clear window 

for discharge left for your clients? 40 

 

MR HALL:   As described in Ms O’Brien’s evidence yesterday the modelling 

will show whether there is a window of capacity and my client will be 

able to provide a facility which will be able to meet that window if it 

exists. 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   All right, thank you.  Sir no more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you Professor. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Hello Mr Hall, thank you.  Just following on from this, 

questions about the sewer, of the capacity, is it correct that following 10 

the modelling of the catchment with the lower interceptor upgraded 

there may or may not be capacity for sewage to be taken from this site? 

 

MR HALL:   That is a possibility but it is quite unlikely that it will not be 

available. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   At some stage for some flow - - - 

 

MR HALL:   Certainly, yes. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   - - - some storage sort of, yes. 

 

MR HALL:   Once that catchment is in the model, by one upgrade or another, 

the capacity will be available, but I believe that a window will be 

available after the upgrade of the lower interceptor. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   But that is what the modelling – won’t we have to wait for 

the modelling, I think Ms O’Brien said, to be able to determine that for 

sure. 

 30 

MR HALL:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now if it is not available at that stage, it is just all, like the 

night-time capacity et cetera is all taken up, when would we be looking 

to the next opportunity?  Is that when the Upper Riccarton would be 35 

upgraded? 

 

MR HALL:   There are two further upgrades beyond that.  There is the Upper 

Riccarton and then the Avonhead Road. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR HALL:   We have an opportunity, I believe to avoid the Avonhead Road 

upgrade by discharging down through Merrin Street which has a very 

large sewer pipe in it, but I certainly would expect that we would be 45 
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able to have capacity into it after the first upgrade but almost certainly 

after the second upgrade. 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And remind me when that is intended to be.  It is some time 

away yet, isn’t it? 

 

MR HALL:   Currently it is not in the LTP. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   That is right. 

 

MR HALL:   The Council intend to have it placed in there or apply to have it 

replaced in there at the next hearing. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   But optimistically, when is that likely to be available?  I think 

Ms O’Brien did give us a date but I cannot remember what it is. 

 

MR HALL:   I cannot tell.   

 20 

MS DAWSON:   But could it be 10 years away? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes it could potentially be 10 years. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could be, all right, thank you.  That is the sort of scale of 25 

timeframe that I am (INDSTINCT 0.55) 

 

MR HALL:   I would certainly hope it to be earlier. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I know you do and you have made that clear, yes.  Now 30 

coming back to stormwater, are you familiar with the plan attached to 

Ms Harte’s evidence of the whole of this business priority area? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So if stormwater disposal, the aspect that needs to be dealt 

with by overland flow, the more than 50 year component, if that needed 

to be disposed of in an integrated and co-ordinated way from that 

whole area, how would you as an engineer look to deal with it? 

 40 

MR HALL:   When I have been put in those situations it is important that all 

the landowners are aware of what they may be entering into.  And so it 

becomes a collaborative effort, design to try and place those flows in an 

area which will not inhibit future development and will not cause 

nuisance. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   So have you looked at that whole piece of land at all and 

looked at how as an engineer you might, on the basis that the 

landowners are all interested and willing, how it might be appropriately 

serviced for stormwater in an integrated way? 

 5 

MR HALL:   Yes I have. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I suppose what I am interested in is how would that be, 

and how would it relate to the sort of design you might do, the ones you 

have already talked to us about, which is just for part of that area, for a 10 

third of it I think.   

 

MR HALL:   There are a number of options and some of those options are 

easier than others.  The easiest options are to follow the natural flow 

paths of the land.  That would require a flow path going outside of that 15 

blue area, but in terms of engineering an option which was within it, 

that would require some earthworks and that is not beyond the bounds 

of feasibility. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But would it all need to drain either to Hawthornden Road or 20 

to the natural flow path to the north to Avonhead Road, or are there 

other natural flow paths that you have not told us about, outside of your 

client’s area? 

 

MR HALL:   The significant flow path is the one which is shown on Exhibit I, 25 

but there are undulations throughout the land which you could consider 

to be flow paths of some description.  When we talk about those minor 

undulations though, it is easy enough to engineer a route for stormwater 

through those, so the idea is that the land generally falls towards 

Hawthornden Road and you would be able to manipulate the land scape 30 

to ensure that safe passage of that overland flow could be achieved to 

that point. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if you were doing it for this whole area, and it was to 

develop an outline plan for example, would you take an overall look at 35 

all that land and work out the best way to co-ordinate it? 

 

MR HALL:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  Those are my questions, 40 

thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 
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MS HURIA:   Afternoon Mr Hall.  Just with regard to that natural flow path 

here, can you just help me by telling me whether or not landowners 

have an automatic right to use a flow path like that? 

 

MR HALL:   Sorry which flow path was it, the northern one? 5 

 

MS HURIA:   So the blue one. 

 

MR HALL:   There is no particular right for a person who is developing that 

land to add flow to it from a different land use. 10 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay. 

 

MR HALL:   But I understand under the laws of natural servitude, perhaps my 

colleague Mr Cleary could expand on that. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   Not today. 

 

MS HURIA:   So I suppose one of my concerns would be that if there was a 

disaffected landowner outside that red square that had the natural flow 20 

over their property, they could refuse for it to be used over their 

property. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 25 

MR HALL:   Yes, and easement would need to be required, and that would 

require their approval. 

 

MS HURIA:   Their approval?  But what you just said before, am I right in 

saying that there are other options, engineering options that could be - - 30 

- 

 

MR HALL:   Yes, I believe there are. 

 

MS HURIA:   - - - put into place if that does not work?  Just one last question, 35 

around the map again, at the top of the six-metre wide easement with 

flow path – the blue one down the bottom there.  That house that sits on 

the top of that, the house on Hawthornden Road, can you see that just 

in the corner there?  That one there? 

 40 

MR HALL:   Yes.  

 

MS HURIA:   Does that have any control over the easement or any 

involvement with it? 

 45 

MR HALL:   I do not believe that it does, no. 
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MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Huria.  Mr Willis? 

 5 

MR WILLIS:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and I do not have any questions either, thank 

you, Mr Hall.  All the matters I had in mind have been covered off by 

questioning.  Professor Bagchi, do you have any questions arising from 10 

that questioning from the Panel? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Mr Winchester? 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any re-examination, Mr Cleary? 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks very much.  Thanks for your help, Mr 

Hall.  You are free to go. 

 25 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.21 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Ms Harte is the next witness. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sir, just before Ms Harte is sworn, I note I am not down 30 

in the list for cross-examination. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I did indicate I had some questioning for Ms Harte.  Is 35 

that acceptable? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and I understand you have checked with Mr Cleary 

and he has no issues. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

MS WHITE:   In a similar vein, the Crown would also like to seek leave to 

cross-examine Ms Harte.  I have checked with Mr Cleary and he has no 

objection.  It would not be longer than five minutes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  I presume your estimate is around about the 

same, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   They are, sir, and I am happy for my learned friend Ms 

White to go first.  It may be more logical to do it that way. 5 
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<PATRICIA HARTE, affirmed  [2.22 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Professor Bagchi, you are down for questioning.  I will 

have you go first and then Ms White, followed by Mr Winchester. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, I can come after them.  Or even I can come first, 

whatever. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just thinking about what is more appropriate. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Six and two threes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You do not have an issue with your one, Mr Cleary? 

 

MR CLEARY:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think if you are ready to go, we will have you first and 15 

have the others later 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I can, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 20 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [2.23 pm] 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, Ms Harte.  If you could confirm that your full 

name is Patricia Harte? 25 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you have prepared a statement of rebuttal evidence dated 

1 October 2015? 30 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I note that it shown as 2016 – a minor correction.  Forward 

planning, I think.  Your qualifications and experience are as set out in 35 

part 1 of your rebuttal evidence, is that correct? 

 

MS HARTE:   That is correct? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Do you have any corrections that you would like to make to 40 

your evidence? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, there is one on paragraph 4.2, in the last sentence where I 

state “and Mr Osborne stated that Area 3” – it should be “not”, is “not 

required”, not that it is “no required”. 45 
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MR CLEARY:   And subject to that amendment you can confirm that the 

contents of your evidence is true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 5 

 

MR CLEARY:   And you have got a summary prepared for the Panel? Thank 

you. 

 

MS HARTE:   In my rebuttal evidence, I have set out reasons why rezoning of 10 

the submitter’s land adjoining the loop road off Russley Road is an 

appropriate way to achieve the goals of the higher level documents, that 

is the LURP and the RPS. 

 

 The first reason why rezoning is the appropriate course of action is, of 15 

course, the LURP anticipates this rezoning be done through the review 

of the Council’s District Plan.   

 

 Identification of this land for industrial uses follows consideration 

through a series of planning initiatives, including PC1 to the RPS, 20 

which determined that it was not appropriate to leave the land between 

the airport State Highway and the then-urban area exclusively in rural 

use. 

 

 From this a special review of the northwest area was undertaken.  This 25 

investigation, which I consider to be a reasonably detailed assessment 

of the issues and options for the area, concluded there was definitely a 

demand for industrial land in this area and that several areas, including 

Area 3, were suitable for industrial use. 

 30 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

 I understand the Council then made moves to rezone these areas but 

other events intervened, including the earthquakes. 

 35 

 In my opinion, the areas identified in the Northwest Review therefore 

have credibility as Greenfield Priority Areas for business.  I therefore 

consider the Council has a specific responsibility to rezone this land 

unless there are robust and detailed reasons why this land should not be 

included. 40 

 

 The Council has chosen not to rezone this land and cited a number of 

reasons for this, including servicing constraints, impacts on the 

residential area east of – that will be actually west of Hawthornden 

Road – and the adverse effects of oversupply of industrial land. 45 
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 I note from the evidence lodged with the Panel and responses to 

questioning yesterday that a number of these matters have or are able to 

be addressed to the point where they are not an impediment to rezoning 

of this land, in particular the servicing matters. 

 5 

 In my evidence, I note that it is not unusual or inappropriate to zone 

land that cannot be developed immediately.  This commonly occurs, as 

the whole purpose of planning is to look to and provide for future 

needs. 

 10 

 The most appropriate time for rezoning is when a district plan is 

reviewed, and I note there will always be a tension as to whether 

infrastructure provides for development or whether development drives 

the infrastructure.  

 15 

 Regarding impacts on amenity of the neighbouring area to the east, the 

land proposed to be rezoned by Wilson, Martin and Chang is 

sufficiently removed from his area for this to not be an issue. 

 

 The only remaining matter then is the issue of oversupply of industrial 20 

land.  I have found nothing of substance in the information assessment 

provided by the Council witnesses that appears to justify not rezoning 

this piece of land.  There is nothing that tells me why this land is any 

less in demand than any other piece of land in the area.  In fact, most of 

the evidence points to this area in close proximity to the airport as 25 

being particularly in demand. 

 

 All the comments have been very general.  In my opinion, the concerns 

of oversupply are not sufficiently robust or focused to justify ignoring 

the directive in the LURP and RPS to rezone this land. 30 

 

 The ODP – I definitely considered the possibility of preparing the ODP 

for the whole greenfield area but chose not to for two main reasons. 

 

 Firstly, it did not seem appropriate to include land when the owners of 35 

that land had not asked for rezoning and had not been consulted.   

 

 Secondly, I am aware of the sensitivity of residents in the area and 

thought it a better option to limit the ODP to the western area until 

these matters had been worked through. 40 

 

 I have of course used arrows to indicate the extension to the ODP area 

as possible.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Professor Bagchi, you are up. 45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY PROFESSOR BAGCHI [2.28 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Good afternoon, Ms Harte.  Ms Harte, you have said 

at paragraph 5.7 of your rebuttal that because Area 3 was identified as 

appropriate for industrial activities in the Northwest Review process it 5 

is reasonable to expect that issues such as potential impact of industrial 

zoning on amenity were considered acceptable, isn’t that so? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was that so? 

 10 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, thank you.  Does this statement not assume that 

the NWRA process was carried out to a higher acceptable standard? 

 15 

MS HARTE:   It was certainly carried out to a standard equivalent to many of 

the assessments that have been done in relation to the rezoning under 

this review, and in fact – I have read through the report that was 

written, and there were a number of supporting reports, so I think it was 

a relatively detailed one.   20 

 

 And of course there was substantial consultation, as I understand it, 

which is where the community has expressed its concerns. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Are you aware that the community has 25 

consistently expressed concerns about the procedural fairness and 

substantive recommendations of the Northwest Review process since 

2012? 

 

MS HARTE:   I have read that in your submission, yes. 30 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Now, sir, I would like to get it screened 

there – this is the section 32 assessment of the Industrial chapter.  We 

have it here. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so that section 32 assessment of the Industrial 

chapter is an exhibit, I think, to Mr Stevenson’s evidence. 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 40 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, sir.  Exhibit E. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Oh, is it, yes, okay.  Thank you. 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Page 7.  Have you read the Council’s explanation 

for why it notified NWRA3 as Rural Urban Fringe in this section 32 

assessment on the industrial chapter? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Wouldn’t you agree that at page 7 of 

that section 32 assessment under the subheading “Area 3 land between 

Hawthornden Road and Russley Road” the Council identifies several 

traffic issues? 10 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, it does. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  The identified issues so that the Council 

did not consider the impacts of amenity to be acceptable, do you agree? 15 

 

MS HARTE:   It certainly raises it as an issue, yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Now, I am bringing Mr Mark 

Stevenson replied to the Panel yesterday, you might not have been 20 

there, can I raise this, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you can. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You can ask Ms Harte for a start if she was there. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   She was not there, sir, yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, we will just see how she goes on the answer then. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir.  Now, if you have read Mr Mark 

Stevenson’s reply to the Panel yesterday that the inclusion of lands 

within the LURP does not always reflect that there was a proper 35 

assessment about the suitability of the land on the Council’s part.  This 

is at page 147 of the transcript for day 1, paragraph 1. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, I have read that. 

 40 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Now, in light of this, just because area 3 

is within the LURP does it necessarily mean that it is best suited for 

industrial rezoning, do you believe that? 

 

MS HARTE:   Not necessarily but I think I have explained earlier why I 45 

thought it had a reasonably good amount of research done prior to it. 



 Page 282 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   All right. 

 

MS HARTE:   But in general one cannot always assume that all the land 

chosen has been looked at in detail.  5 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Now, the last question I have, that ODP 

what you have sent, we have given it to the Secretariat, sir, if it could 

be brought up on the screen. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are very well organised, professor, I am impressed.  

Better organised than some of the lawyers. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, I took the lesson from yesterday. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Don’t you agree, Mr Cleary?   

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Now, the attachment, the annexure A to your 

rebuttal.  Now, about distance between the client’s property and the 

Earthquake Memorial, would it be possible for you to demonstrate to 20 

the Panel about where the client’s property’s boundary is in relation to 

the Earthquake Memorial? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I was wondering about that myself. 

 25 

MS HARTE:   I have a very scruffy plan, a handwritten one which shows the 

client’s land in relation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now, just for the transcript, Ms Harte, could 

you describe that in a geographic sense so we can follow it later, where 30 

your finger was pointing is in what part of your plan? 

 

MS HARTE:   That is north, it is facing north. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and the memorial is? 35 

 

MS HARTE:   I am assuming it is over here. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  So you are pointing to the south end below the 

green swathe and at the edge of the blue swathe in that corner? 40 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes.  I checked it on Google, I could not actually find it so I had 

assumed it is associated with the cemetery.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the cemetery which is accessed off Hawthornden, 45 

isn’t it? 
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MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 5 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Right, sir, thank you.  So can someone standing in 

the cemetery and that Earthquake Memorial see any of the proposed 

industries what is now being contemplated according to your ODP? 

 

MS HARTE:   Initially possibly but the ODP specifically sets out a 10 

requirement for building setbacks and at least a minimum of 

three metres of landscaping, so over time it definitely would provide I 

think quite reasonable screening. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   So can it be visible or not? 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well - - - 

 

MS HARTE:   The land might be able, I think I suspect from looking at this 

actually there may be a hedgerow in the way in the meantime. 20 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir, no more questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 25 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, Ms White? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [2.35 pm] 30 

 

MS WHITE:   Good afternoon, Ms Harte.  I would like to turn to paragraph 3.7 

of your rebuttal evidence.  And you say that it could not be clearer that 

action 19 requires the Council to rezone your client’s land? 

 35 

MS HARTE:   Yes, that is what I said. 

 

MS WHITE:   I am just wondering if we could bring up section 4.2 of the 

LURP page 25.  It is on the screen as well, action 19 is under section 

4.2 of the LURP, isn’t it? 40 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   And section 4.2 is headed “Building new communities”? 

 45 

MS HARTE:   That is correct. 
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MS WHITE:   And each of the subsections deal with housing, if you look at 

subsection 4.2.1? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 5 

 

MS WHITE:   4.2.2? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 10 

MS WHITE:   And 4.2.3? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   And there are two different types of greenfield priority areas, 15 

aren’t there? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   So could you interpret action 19 as only applying to greenfield 20 

priority areas residential? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, you could, I think the point that Commissioner Dawson 

raised was a very good one.  That use of those terms throughout the 

LURP and in a number of documents sometimes seems to vary as to 25 

whether it does take the point that it would be logical to mean that was 

actually limited to residential in that under action 19. 

 

MS WHITE:   I would just like to also next reflect on the statement that you 

made in your highlights package where you explained a reason why 30 

you did not prepare an ODP for the whole greenfield priority area being 

that to do so would have covered land, is it right to say, not owned by 

submitter 2278? 

 

MS HARTE:   No, because nobody was requesting that it be rezoned. 35 

 

MS WHITE:   Are you aware that in the MAIL hearing or in the private plan 

change MAIL proposed land to be included in its ODP that was not 

owned by MAIL? 

 40 

MS HARTE:   I was not aware but it does not surprise me.  I am not saying it 

should not be but the reason I gave is that nobody had requested it be 

rezoned, not that it was in a single ownership. 

 

MS WHITE:   Right.  Next if I could turn to your rebuttal statement at 45 

paragraph 5.3 and the second and third sentences where you say, “The 
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ODP shows the location of access to the new zone which is at the 

centre point of the loop road and this position has been agreed by the 

respective traffic experts”.  Now, you would acknowledge that 

Mr Clark and Mr Penny have concerns about the intensification of use 

of access in that location, wouldn’t you? 5 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, well, that is not what the point I was making it was just the 

actual location which is what the ODPs are about. 

 

MS WHITE:   Turning to the penultimate sentence in that paragraph where you 10 

say, “The ODP also refers to the possibility of additions should they 

occur through future rezoning”.  Would you agree that any future 

rezoning would incur the same costs of a plan change that you refer to 

in paragraph 6 of your evidence? 

 15 

MS HARTE:   If it was done by the landowners, yes.  If it was done through 

some other process it may cost slightly less for the individual 

landowners depending which you look at.  There are also Council costs 

so they could fall differently depending on who took the initiative. 

 20 

MS WHITE:   And then my last question for you is about your last sentence in 

that paragraph, “If required these matters can be reinforced through 

rules referring to the ODP”.  Now, you have not drafted any rules 

supporting your ODP, have you? 

 25 

MS HARTE:   No, I have not. 

 

MS WHITE:   That was all, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms White.  Mr Winchester? 30 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [2.40 pm] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Good afternoon, Ms Harte.  Now, I want to 

ask you some questions about the RPS and its objectives and policies 35 

and its relationship to the land to be rezoned, but before we do, I want 

to take you back a little bit in terms of history, you know, do you know, 

that what is now chapter 6 of the RPS a precursor to that was proposed 

change 1 to the Regional Policy Statement some years ago, do you 

recall that? 40 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, and chapter 12(a), was it? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that is right. And so, do you dispute the fact that 

large parts of what are now in chapter 6 have quite a strong genesis or 45 

origin in what was chapter 12(a) of - - -  
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MS HARTE:   Yes, no I do not dispute it. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. So just dealing with the concept of the rate of 

development and its relationship with infrastructure availability and 5 

those sorts of considerations, do you recall in Propose Change 1 that 

sequencing of development was an integral part of that instrument? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   And - - -  

 

MS HARTE:   I do not know – certainly for the residential. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. I think there were - - -  15 

 

MS HARTE:   I do not know whether I was familiar with the business ones at 

that point or whether they even existed. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see, okay. So if I was to suggest to you that Propose 20 

Change 1 included sequencing for the release of business land in two 

tranches you would not be able to recall whether that was the case or 

not? 

 

MS HARTE:   No, although that seems logical. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, all right. Well now can we just turn to look 

at the Regional Policy Statement and in your rebuttal evidence you are 

critical of Mr Bonis and his reliance on objective 6.2.2, and in 

particular sub-paragraph 4 of that objective, and I think the suggestion 30 

in your rebuttal is that he has placed rather too much reliance on that 

particular issue. 

 

MS HARTE:   That was objective 6.2.24. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. And you will see there that talks about providing 

for the development of greenfield priority areas at a rate and in 

locations that meet anticipated demand and enables the efficient 

provision and use of network infrastructure. 

 40 

MS HARTE:   Mm'hm. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. So thinking about what is now in chapter 6 as 

oppose to what was in PC1, you would agree that, that particular 

reference has a relationship with the concept of sequencing which no 45 

longer appears – rates and locations of development? 



 Page 287 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, there was no explicit measurement to sequencing in that 

sense. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, indeed sequencing is absent from Chapter 6 now, 5 

is it not? 

 

MS HARTE:   I think the term is, although I think there might be some 

reference to it in terms of what could be in an ODP. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you. I wonder if we could then just turn to 

policy 6.3.5, and my reading of your rebuttal evidence is that it, it does 

not mention this as being relevant, in fact it does not mention it at all, 

but if we think about the concept mentioned in objective 6.2.2 about the 

rate and location of development and its relation with infrastructure, 15 

you would agree that policy 6.3.5 has a relationship to that objective, 

wouldn’t you? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, as does 6.2.4. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  

 

MS HARTE:   3.4, quite a number of the policies link. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. And so, in terms of the need to rezone land which 25 

is identified as a greenfield priority area, you would accept that the 

RPS does not necessarily require rezoning through a District Plan, does 

it? 

 

MS HARTE:   Well the – if you look, it is policy 6.3.1, and the methods to 30 

achieve things, point 3, “territorial authorities will provide for 

rebuilding in the (INDISTINCT 0.01) in accordance with the Land 

Use Recovery Plan. Policy 6.3.1 by including these things in their 

policies and rules to give effect to this policy – and there is a similar 

one, a requirement in relation to business land, that Council’s will also 35 

implement that. 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now you have given those examples, but what is your 40 

answer to the question though? 

 

MS HARTE:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well the question that was asked by Mr Winchester. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   It does not – nowhere in the Regional Policy Statement 

does it say that Councils are required to rezone land in order to give 

effect to greenfield priority areas, does it? 

 

MS HARTE:   Not in that – just a minute – I am just trying to – sorry, I am 5 

getting mixed up with the LURP – no, you are correct, the term 

“rezoning” is not used. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. And so in order to give effect to the RPS, it is not a 

mandatory consequence of these objectives and policies that land needs 10 

to be rezoned now for industrial use? 

 

MS HARTE:   No, I agree, I have not actually said it is mandatory, I think if 

you read what I just said before. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is it your evidence then that based on your 

understanding of the facts and other evidence, that there is no 

overriding constraint on rezoning, is that a better way of characterising 

your evidence? 

 20 

MS HARTE:   No. I think I would say that it is like, the default position is that 

you would rezone. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see. 

 25 

MS HARTE:   But if there was some specific information/reasons why you 

would not, then you need to look at that carefully, but that information 

needs to be quite robust to take away from the clear intention that what 

is in map A would become rezoned. 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. And when you think about the relevance of certain 

of the objectives and policies I have taken you through in the RPS and 

we have looked at policy 6.3.5, I ask you to perhaps take a look at 

method 3 of that policy – and I hesitate to use – method 3, sorry – 

method 3 – to use things in isolation, but when you look at the themes 35 

running through the objectives and policies of Chapter 6, Ms Harte, it is 

a very strong theme of integration of land use with the availability and 

capacity of infrastructure, is there not? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS HARTE:   It is also in relation to transport, if you look at policy 6.3.4 it 

seems to put a bit of an onus on the transport network supporting the 45 

business. So while it is “integration”, I think there is a message here 
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that people need to get on board with actually making the areas that are 

being suggested to actually workable. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. And one of the key methods for looking at 

suitability of land and addressing the need to integrate land use and 5 

infrastructure, is to carefully consider infrastructure projects that may 

be required in order to free up land and that is exactly what method 3 

does, does it not, it tells you got to go and look at various infrastructure 

plans, long term plans, annual plans et cetera. 

 10 

 So land is not necessarily rezone without considering ability to fund or 

upgrade infrastructure. 

 

MS HARTE:   Are you referring to policy 6.3.53? 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   I am referring to method 3, which is up on the screen 

there, underneath the policy. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, Council has to give consideration to the infrastructure 

projects (INDISTINCT 4.28). 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you. And that would be relevant to a section 

32 analysis of the suitability of individual land to be rezoned, would it 

not? 

 25 

MS HARTE:   Yes, it would be definitely part of it. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And have you done any section 32 analysis to support 

the rezoning of the land that you identify? 

 30 

MS HARTE:   No, I have read section 32 report and I have been following the 

servicing evidence that has been presented. 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and so the RPS and the LURP is not the end of the 

story, is it, in terms of whether the zoning is confirmed or not?  You 

still need to do a section 32 analysis don’t you? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes.   40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  And as part of your evidence have you 

considered the costs to landowners in terms of rating implications of 

rezoning? 

 45 

MS HARTE:   No I have not. 



 Page 290 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No.  Safe to assume they are prepared to bear that cost? 

 

MS HARTE:   I think that the particular landowners themselves, the cost 

implications are probably greater than for people outside it because 5 

potentially the land will be worth more, in theory, if they are rezoned. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  So there could be costs imposed on neighbouring 

landowners? 

 10 

MS HARTE:   No, on them.  On the actual landowners. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Oh, I see, thank you.  And finally, you made reference 

in your highlights package and I think it is in your written statement as 

well, about the demand for industrial land having been demonstrated in 15 

this area.  Do you rely on Mr Young when you say that the demand has 

been demonstrated? 

 

MS HARTE:   To a large extent.  I cannot, because I am not a professional in 

that field, but I am certainly aware through the work that our company 20 

does that there is quite a demand because we actually are working for 

people subdividing or getting land ready for development in that area. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right, but there is nothing specific you can point to 

other than - - - 25 

 

MS HARTE:   Well I could point to some specific things but I have not 

actually got that in front of me and it is not in my evidence. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you Ms Harte, thank you sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Winchester.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Ms Harte, I think many of my questions have 

been covered by Ms White and Mr Winchester so thank you for 35 

covering those but just to make sure I am clear where you have got to 

in your interpretation of the LURP actions and then the objectives and 

policies of the RPS about this question of staging and sequencing. 

 

 So am I correct in that you agreed with Mr Winchester I think that there 40 

is nothing that you can point to that directs that any particular piece of 

priority area land must be rezoned immediately? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   There is no mandatory, or no requirement to do that.  And 

you have agreed that there are various objectives and policies that refer 

to sequencing or the integration of infrastructure and land use 

development and that may result in some sequencing or staging? 

 5 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I think you pointed out that the onus goes both ways – 

that there is an onus on land use development to fit in with 

infrastructure, and also I think you pointed to - - -  10 

 

MS HARTE:   In fact I think generally having read the RPS, I think the onus is 

that the infrastructure and transportation supports rather than the other. 

I think there is a slightly stronger onus if you read the various 

objectives but obviously integration is a balancing act but without there 15 

being proposals for development, infrastructure is not going to be 

planned for it.  But without planning for infrastructure then there will 

not be development either, so it is definitely a process of working 

through that expectation. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Because I think Mr Winchester pointed you to method 

3 of policy 6.3.5 which as I heard you, you pointed out that that was 

about local authorities ensuring or giving consideration to their 

infrastructure projects supporting the ordinary development priority 

areas. 25 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, yes, the property to get them into their LTP. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if you looked at part 2 of that policy itself, does it say - - 

- 30 

 

MS HARTE:   12, 6.3.5? 

 

MS DAWSON:   6.3.5, yes, policy 6.3.5 part 2, do you read that to be that the 

development is co-ordinated with the transport and other infrastructure? 35 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, yes it is, it is all - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   So it is both ways. 

 40 

MS HARTE:   Both ways. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 
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MS DAWSON:  Yes. So are you able to then say that the staging of zoning of 

business priority areas alongside the infrastructure development would 

give effect to the RPS?  In other words it is not not giving effect to it. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, it is not not giving effect to it.  5 

 

MS DAWSON:  That is right, I mean it is consistent and it would be consistent 

with the LURP as well. 

 

MS HARTE:  Yes, I think it hints although it does not use quite the same 10 

language, but yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  It is similar, yes. So there is nothing in either of those 

documents that makes it necessary to get on and do it all immediately, 

that an orderly and progressive development would give effect to the 15 

RPS. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes although I suppose both of them, they both have a base in 

earthquake recovery so there is an element of getting on with it, but to 

the extent that it is not specific in relation to the zoning of business 20 

land. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And I take what you said in answer to Mr Winchester that the 

default position is that greenfield areas would be rezoned at some stage, 

and that local authorities and land developers would be working 25 

towards ensuring that the infrastructure is integrated with that end in 

mind.  And did I recall you say that you need to be careful to back 

away from that approach completely? 

 

MS HARTE:   I think you would have to have a good strong reason and I tend 30 

to think that it would need to be particular to the location or some 

aspect of the development, rather than just a general, “oh we have got 

enough already” type of reason. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Now if I could just turn the policies about the 35 

Outline Development Plan, policy 6.3.3.  I want your opinion as to 

whether having an outline plan going into a city plan, District Plan, that 

does not cover the whole of the priority area, would give effect to that 

policy? 

 40 

MS HARTE:   Well you can look at a number of different components. The 

first one is that you can just read the first sentence and it says, the first 

two outline development plans or other rules.  So that in itself indicates 

that there are alternatives, and in relation to that, and if you go back to 

the LURP, action 24 which is to do with providing for business, it is 45 

interesting that it refers to outline development plans for Hornby and 
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Belfast, and the other it just talks about an integrated approach for 

greenfield priority areas near the airport and then zoning of the 

remaining map A business areas. 

 

 So I think there is not a single thrust that you have to have an ODP for 5 

all these areas, I think that can be read into it, put it that way.  It is not 

crystal clear.  But later on of course the map policy as you move down, 

it says, a single plan or where there is an integrated plan already an 

ODP can pop in for part of an area. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   But there is no integrated plan. 

 

MS HARTE:   Of course there is not because the Council has chosen not to 

rezone it. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   So let us just look at the wording of this policy.  It says 

development is to occur in accordance with an outline plan or other 

rules.  So that is a fairly broad statement.  It says subdivision must not 

proceed ahead of the incorporation of an outline plan in a district plan.  

So are you saying that zoning could occur but not the subsequent 20 

subdivision? 

 

MS HARTE:   Well clearly, it says outright that subdivision is not to happen 

without one so to me it is a little internally inconsistent. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:    Yes because putting an Outline Development Plan in a city 

plan requires a plan change doesn’t it? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   So to come along at a later date and put an outline plan in, 

even though the zoning is in place, but you cannot subdivided or do 

anything on it, just requires another plan change. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, and I find that statement about subdivision, I have always 35 

found it rather odd. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because it would – I mean, if you took it literally it would be 40 

a two-step process. 

 

MS HARTE:   No, it does not – if I can give an example I have been involved 

recently, there is no subdivision involved but it was a major 

development because it was a retirement village - what does that 45 

trigger? You know, it is - - -  
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MS DAWSON:   But if an Outline Plan is to be prepared then 1A says that it 

should be for the whole of that area. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, unless there is something else in place. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which there is not in this case. 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   And your view, what is the – when you look at this policy 

which talks about having an Outline Plan for the whole of the area, I 

mean what do you see is the purpose of that, I mean in planning terms? 

 

MS HARTE:   Well I think it is just writing out good practice that if you are 15 

going to rezone a piece of land and you want it to work well/function 

well, not impact too much on people who might be sensitive in the 

area, it is really good to have thought about some basic things that 

could occur on that, and if you want to put in a graphical form like an 

Outline Development Plan, that is probably a good move as well. 20 

 

 To follow this slavishly, results and we have not got a situation here 

where there is no – that is just simply not possible. I do not know the 

way around that except to accept a partial one. 

 25 

 But I certainly, you know, we do not know the future, we do not know 

whether the Council would be inclined to rezone the rest of this bit for 

some reason if it did get rezone, we just do not know that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Many of the areas that are business or residential priority 30 

areas have multiple landowners, and one of the purposes of an Outline 

Plan - - -  

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, absolutely. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   - - - would seem to be to get those people together and get it 

all coordinated so that in the long run it works as a whole, is that, 

would you see that as being better planning process? 

 

MS HARTE:   Not alone, there is certainly another reason to pursue, I mean 40 

even with a single owner it probably should be done because of the 

connections you want with the areas external and because of servicing 

issues, you want that clarified as to what is required. 
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 But certainly multiple owners adds to the mix and everybody knowing 

what can happen and why, and everybody getting an opportunity to 

actually work that through, is a very good idea. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are saying it is better planning, irrespective of what 5 

this policy says - - -  

 

MS HARTE:   I yes, I think it is - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - better planning practice - - -  10 

 

MS HARTE:   - - - it is irrespective, it is just good - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - to have it for the whole of the area and to think of all 

those things in an integrated way? 15 

 

MS HARTE:   Well, to work out if whether issues are such that you would 

need it. I do not think you can always assume you need one, it could be 

a small area. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   And could you see that as being a driver for having a policy 

of this nature in the RPS? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, I mean I can see it is one – I mean this sounds flippant, but 

it is kind of “flavour of the month” in a sense Outline Development 25 

Plans, but they are just graphical depictions of things that make good 

sense and that you want to plan for. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right. But in this case, we do not have that, we have a partial 

Outline Plan over part of the priority area. 30 

 

MS HARTE:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the other thing is that this Outline Plan has come 

attached to your rebuttal evidence, and just in terms of process, 35 

someone who might own some land roundabout this area, including 

someone that might even be in the priority area but not part of your 

client’s group, how are they ever to be involved in a process that brings 

in an Outline Plan to this process without them ever being able to have 

a say on it? 40 

 

MS HARTE:   The Outline Plan does not allow anything more to happen than 

what would happen just with normal rezoning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well it has sort of – well, if it had some rules on it or relating 45 

to it, it might require things to be done in a certain way. 
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MS HARTE:   None of which I would have thought would be to the dis-benefit 

of the neighbours and which could not occur anyhow under the 

industrial G zoning.  

 5 

MS DAWSON:   But we got roading connections indicated, landscape buffers 

of certain widths - - -  

 

MS HARTE:   That is for the people who requested the zoning. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   But they affect - they could potentially affect people 

roundabout that area. 

 

MS HARTE:   Well they are intended to actually avoid effects, but - - -  

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Well the roading connections may or may not be in the 

appropriate places for the future development of the rest of that priority 

area. 

 

MS HARTE:   That is certainly the case. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   But those people would not have had any ability to input into 

this Outline Plan. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 25 

 

MS HARTE:   No, but neither did they make a submission against these 

submitters actually requesting the zoning.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So they were just not party to it for one reason or another? 30 

 

MS HARTE:   I presume that they have decided that they would just rather 

things stay as rural on their land and they are happy with this bit going 

ahead, because they have not made a submission, any of the 

neighbours, except of course for the Avonhead Community Group.  35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  I will not take that any further.  Thank you very 

much, Ms Harte. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 40 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

MR WILLIS:   I had a number of questions but I think they have pretty much 

all been answered.  Perhaps just one.  We just about touched on it then 45 

so we may be halfway there. 
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 You did say that your scope of the Outline Development Plan you did 

on the basis of the property that had been requested to be changed.  I 

am just wondering, my understanding is that 76 Hawthornden has also 

been requested for a plan change.  You did not include that, I do not 5 

think.  Any reason why you did not do that one?  

 

MS HARTE:   The first one was, because it was not land that I was involved 

in, I did not know if that was my place to do it.  But secondly, it did 

take the property, the development, out through to Hawthornden Road 10 

and in my understanding there are some issues with that, traffic and 

amenity issues, and to me they have not been worked through.  So I 

would not have felt comfortable with that.  That is the primary reason. 

 

MR WILLIS:   You did not see the Outline Development Plan as a process to 15 

try and resolve those? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIS:    I guess, given where it was in the process it might have been - - 20 

- 

 

MS HARTE:   And I guess another minor element is that no evidence was 

presented by that, so I had nothing to go by.  

 25 

MR WILLIS:   Okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Harte, I think almost everything has been covered 

now.  Just a couple of minor things.  In terms of the exhibit that came 

in, Exhibit I from Mr Hall, with his overland flow path, do you think in 30 

light of that evidence you would make any adjustments to your Outline 

Development Plan?  

 

MS HARTE:   No, I think these matters can easily be worked through at a later 

stage, and they are – because they are property rights – they are matters 35 

of negation, which could occur within the zoned area as well as outside. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So no adjustment to the words or anything in or around 

stormwater or anything? 

 40 

MS HARTE:   No.  No, I think I would keep it the same. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Secondly, just as a matter of interest, when were 

you approached to give evidence?  Was it prior to the exchange of 

evidence-in-chief? 45 
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MS HARTE:   No.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Then you were brought in at the rebuttal stage? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes, I was. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was that prompted by anything you can help me 

understand, in terms of your reference to the area? 

 

MS HARTE:   The reason that I was given was the airport planning witness 10 

having evidence that seemed to go against us, whereas the other 

submission had not been, so they felt that needed to be – some planning 

evidence needed to be brought to the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so when you were first approached, that issue was 15 

raised with you? 

 

MS HARTE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Any questions arising, Professor? 20 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms White? 

 25 

MS WHITE:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any re-examination, Mr Cleary? 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [3.08 pm] 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   Just very quickly.  I think in answer to a question from 

Commissioner Dawson you mentioned, I think, in the context of the 

RPS you mentioned something about elements of recovery.  Can you 

recall saying that?  

 40 

MS HARTE:   I said there was kind of a driver for recovery, yes, though that 

and the LURP. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Right, and I wonder if you would expand on that word 

“elements of the recovery”?  Like what do you understand “recovery” 45 

to mean? 
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MS HARTE:   All I am saying is – she was talking about whether there was a 

need to do rezoning within a certain timeframe and I said that the 

specific words did not seem to say that in relation to rezoning of 

business land (ph 4.26) as such.   5 

 

 But there is a strong element within in both those documents that it is 

there for recovery and we need to get on with things and support 

business as well as residential development. 

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Do you have any understanding – I am careful about leading – 

but do you have any understanding about timeframes for recovery, in 

the statutory documents? 

 

MS HARTE:   I have not actually.  I cannot - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If it is any help to you, the Panel has itself made a 

decision on this in Strategic Directions, which indicates that the life of 

the plan is considered to be a sensible planning period for the recovery. 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you. 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Does that help? 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir, that is essentially it.  That is the case for my 

clients. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Cleary, put (ph 0.17) that in your closing 30 

submissions. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, indeed.  Sir, I just wondered, I am feeling slightly 

chastened by your earlier comment, I just wandered about this whole 

issue of an outline development plan of the whole area and you have 35 

heard the planning witnesses agree to discuss that and to see if we can 

have something that they think is appropriate.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we certainly do not stand in the way of any parties 

discussing matters bearing in mind it is in the interest of all parties to 40 

do those things and we certainly encourage it.  I think I should stop 

short of making a direction. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I appreciate that. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But simply record that obviously the Panel is assisted by 

parties working together on issues at any stage as a matter of principle 

so the Panel certainly does not stand in the way of it. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Indeed.  I am actually just thinking about timing and where 5 

that might fit in the process without you giving directions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The hearing has been set down for a certain period of 

time, Mr Cleary, subject to any applications for directions on matters of 

the kind you are describing. 10 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It is obviously going to be some time before we issue a 

decision but certainly we have got a process through which we need to 15 

test the evidence. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I do not know if that is much help to you but there is a 20 

couple of timetable issues there for you to think about.  Obviously if 

you need more time you are probably going to have to confer with 

other counsel and make an application for directions because it clearly 

has implications if we are looking at things beyond the hearing 

timetable. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   Absolutely, I would not expect to take up too much of the 

Panel’s time if reconvening was required.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sure. 30 

 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.12 pm] 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  So, Mr Hutchings. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so I understand you are down for legal 40 

submissions, you are not calling any evidence, followed by 

Ms Crawford.  Have you got those ready? 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, sir, that is correct.  So I tabled some submissions 

with the Panel yesterday afternoon, have you had a chance to read 45 

them? 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I am not sure if I have got them.  Maybe we will have to 

have a quick recess to actually make sure we have got our files up-to-

date. 

 5 

MR HUTCHINGS:   I do have copies here, sir, if that helps. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, if you had copies there it would be of some help.  

Unfortunately I do not have my copy with me and I do not think other 

Panel members, not all of them have. 10 

 

 You can take a lead from the fact that I am not organised that I 

probably have not read them either so you will probably just take us 

through on that basis.  Your client is the land nearby? 

 15 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, that is correct, sir, we are the neighbouring land to 

Mr Cleary’s clients. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Now, Mr Hutchings, you might want to be aware 

that you need to speak into that microphone.   20 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:  Yes, sir.   So would you prefer me to take you through 

them? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just speak to your submissions or take us through them, 25 

they are not very long. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, as I addressed before, for the Equus Trust, 76 

Hawthornden Road, so the land just bordering Hawthornden just to the 

I guess south of Mr Cleary’s clients.  Similar, that it is within the 30 

greenfield priority area business under the LURP and RPS.  It is zoned 

by the Council as Rural Urban Fringe.  Basically the replacement plan 

must give effect to the Regional Policy Statement and not be 

inconsistent with the recovery plans in this case the LURP.  Obligation 

to give effect to. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, you can take that as read. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Take that as read, thank you, sir.  Our submission, sir, is 

that the LURP is very directive in terms that the City Council in the 40 

next review must enable development in greenfield priority areas. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just on that action 19 at paragraph 7. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, that is correct, sir. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I suspect I have made a similar error to you in thinking 

that is relevant as did Ms Harte to some extent. although to be fair to 

her she also referred to the more relevant Action 24. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 5 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, sir, which I have over the page.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You agree that Action 24 is the property development of 

your business plan, isn’t it? 10 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, that is correct, sir.  In that cross-examination with 

Ms Harte I did pick up on that.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So looking at your paragraph 8. 15 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Paragraph 8, yes.  So policy 6.3.13, is to enable 

development of such areas, 6.3.61 states business activity has been 

provided for in a manner which provides sufficient additional 

Greenfield Priority Land for business through to 2028.  Therefore to 20 

zone this area anything else is not giving effect to the RPS and will be 

clearly inconsistent with the LURP. 

 

 Now the Council in its section 32A analysis went through three 

options.  The first which they said would be preferred was to zone this 25 

Rural Urban Fringe and within that analysis actually stated that it is not 

consistent with the LURP and does not achieve – sorry, I am getting a 

bit muddled there, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What paragraph are you at? 30 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Paragraph 9.  Rural Urban Fringe Zone is not consistent 

with the LURP and it does not give effect to policy 6.3.13 of the RPS. 

 

 I then go on to assess option two which is to zone this site Industrial.  I 35 

am aware that objective 3.6.1 and 3.6.2 are no longer in the Strategic 

Objectives, they were assessed as part of the section 32 but what is 

relevant to that paragraph now is that the rezoning of industrial was 

identified to be consistent with the LURP and will actually give effect 

to the RPS. 40 

 

 In their opening submissions the Council submit that policy 6.3.31a is 

not given effect to because there is no Outline Development Plan – and 

I have read the transcript from yesterday, sir, and I am aware there has 

been a lot of discussion regarding the Outline Development Plan and 45 

there has not been one provided for the entire area.  I have had a 
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discussion with Mr Cleary and sought instructions and we will be 

willing to engage with the Council and Mr Cleary in order to provide 

an Outline Development Plan and I was aware of your conversation 

with him just before in terms that there are no actual direction and we 

should apply for direction if that is to be the case, but we are not 5 

adverse to having an OPD prepared if that would assist the Panel. 

 

 In the past there has actually been an OPD prepared for this site as you 

would have been aware from proceedings. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Be careful not to give evidence from the bar, 

Mr Hutchings.  They are not calling in evidence. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   No.  I will leave that there then. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You can refer to a public document and those sort of 

submissions but (INDISTINCT 3.27) knowledge is not a lot of use for 

us coming from counsel. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, sir.  I understand that.  That is as far as I can take 20 

that. 

 

 Just in terms of paragraph 12, I know Ms Dawson had a discussion 

with Ms Harte before regarding 6.3.31a and in terms of whether an 

OPD is actually required for the zoning.  Now, I stated there in terms of 25 

the literal reading of it, not having an OPD does not preclude the 

rezoning of the site but I do accept that in terms of undertaking 

development and/or subdivision it will need to be incorporated into the 

plan which would (INDISTINCT 4.09) further variation. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   How do you deal with the methods under that where the 

first one is that authorities will require an Outline Development Plan to 

be developed and incorporated into District Plans prior to at the same 

time as rezoning land for urban use and greenfield priority use? 

 35 

 I take your point around the word “development” - - - 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - in the policy but in terms of understanding what that 40 

means, what reading do you give to the first paragraph under that 

heading Territorial Authorities under methods? 

 

  [3.20 pm] 

 45 
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MR HUTCHINGS:   Sir that does seem to give meaning to that first sentence 

there.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does seem to suggest an outline development plan is 

intended to go in at the time of the plan change doesn’t it, whether it be 5 

at this stage or at some later stage? 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes, yes, sir it does say that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does not necessarily seem to say that it must be for the 10 

entire greenfield area if the zoned area is smaller.  Is that your 

submission? 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes sir, that was my submission, yes.  So yes, it does not 

say it needs to be for the entire area.  I am in the difficult position that I 15 

do not have evidence to present - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes I understand. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   - - - and that is as far as I can actually probably take that 20 

point.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Sir, in terms of paragraph 13, in terms of integrations that 25 

does tie into the provision of an ODP and as I mentioned before I think 

it might have to be the case that we do work with Mr Cleary and maybe 

the Council to discuss integration in terms of the issues that have been 

raised, although it does appear that a lot of the issues in terms of 

stormwater and traffic et cetera can be managed with further discussion 30 

from the witnesses. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well yes, depending on which witness.  So which 

witnesses do you rely on on points of difference?  On traffic for 

instance you have got Mr Clark telling us there are real issues with the 35 

(INDISTINCT 1.58) integration with the state highway. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   I do know that the Council witness, Mr Milne, does not 

have any issues with my particular client’s site being rezoned. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, yes. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   So I will rely on his evidence in that respect. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Milne? 45 
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MR HUTCHINGS:   Mr Milne, yes correct sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Moving on to paragraph 14 sir. The Council submits that 5 

zoning the land industrial will not give effect to 6.2.4 and be 

inconsistent with strategic directions 3.3.10.  We submit that it does in 

fact give effect to those provisions.  Anticipated demand would have 

been considered in the drafting of the LURP, obviously it was not just 

put together and accepted into the RPS, there was a lot of effort and 10 

background assessments done in terms to get to this point that we are 

now.  So I am arguing that those have already been considered and that 

it was the intention of the LURP that these areas be rezoned.  That that 

demand has been anticipated and that it is already there. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now Mr Hutchings at paragraph 15 you refer to the 

50 dBA airport noise contour. 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Yes sir, so that is in terms of the issue of the same or 

more efficient use of the resources.  So the site is within the 50 dBA 20 

airport noise contour so it is not appropriate for residential activities.  It 

is only a small site so it is not large enough to be efficiently used for 

rural activities and the location of it being close to the major access 

roads in and out of the city indicate that an Industrial zoning is the most 

efficient use of this land. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you have any instructions from your client in 

regard to the airport and the way it has taken issue with transportation 

issues? 

 30 

MR HUTCHINGS:   No I do not sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you.  I will just check if there are any 

questions.  Thanks very much Mr Hutchings, I don’t have any either 

but thanks very much for your submissions. 35 

 

MR HUTCHINGS:   Thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now Ms Crawford. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sir I am conscious it is five minutes until afternoon tea, do 

you want me to start or do you want to have a cuppa? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I just want to make sure I have got your submissions 

in front of me, that is what I need to do. 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   I do not have any opening submissions, which is similar to 

what I did in the Residential chapter, I will address you in closing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are just going to call your first witness? 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, if it helps you we will take the afternoon break a bit 

earlier.  I think we will have a short break.  We should be back by 3.35, 

so 25 minutes. 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 

ADJOURNED [3.25 pm] 

 15 

RESUMED [3.41 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Crawford? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir.  Foddercube Products Limited, our first 20 

witness is Mr Fuller. 

 



 Page 307 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

<NICHOLAS PETER FULLER, affirmed  [3.41 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [3.41 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Please confirm your full name is Nicholas Peter Fuller? 

 

MR FULLER:   It is. 5 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence, dated 17 

September 2015, in relation to this matter? 

 

MR FULLER:   I have. 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Just to confirm for the record, you have also participated 

in expert conferencing and produced a joint witness statement together 

with Mr Milne, dated 2 October? 

 15 

MR FULLER:   I have. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you have any corrections to make to your statement of 

evidence? 

 20 

MR FULLER:   Not a correction as such but I would note that my evidence 

was the view that I held at the time of writing it, and subsequent to that 

and as set out in a joint statement – well, the joint statement reflects my 

current thinking.  

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  So on the basis of that, do you confirm the 

evidence you are about to give is true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge? 

 

MR FULLER:   That is correct. 30 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   You have prepared a summary of your evidence.  Could 

you please read that out and answer any questions? 

 

MR FULLER:   Okay.  My evidence-in-chief was based on the available traffic 35 

modelling of the road network surrounding the site at 318 to 374 

Springs Road for a future year of 2026. 

 

 At that time, I considered that the proposed industrial park at the site 

would have traffic effects at the Springs Road-Marshs Road 40 

intersection.  Council is aware that this intersection is predicted to be 

operating poorly and requiring upgrades in the long term, and the site at 

374 Springs Road can contribute to the upgrade through the provision 

of land. 

 45 
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 In addition to the above, the Halswell Junction Road-Springs Road 

intersection is predicted to be overcapacity regardless of the proposed 

industrial park, and the provision of development contributions would 

go some way towards a solution.   

 5 

 But since the preparation of my evidence-in-chief, Foddercube has 

commissioned traffic modelling to better understand the effects of the 

proposed industrial park.  The inputs of the traffic modelling and the 

interpretation of the traffic effects have been agreed with Council’s 

traffic engineer, Mr Andrew Milne, and summarised in our joint 10 

statement of 2 October 2015. 

 

 Our interpretation of the traffic modelling is as follows: the Halswell 

Junction Road-Springs Road intersection operates within capacity in 

2016 during peak periods, with the requested zoning having marginal 15 

effects on delay.   

 

 At 2026, the Halswell Junction Road-Springs Road intersection 

operates with high delays on some approaches during peak periods, 

with negligible changes in delays as a result of the requested rezoning. 20 

 

 In 2016, the Springs Road-Marshs Road intersection operates with high 

delays on some approaches during peak periods. The requested 

rezoning adds marginal additional delays during the evening peak with 

some low volume movements that already movements that already 25 

experience high delays. 

 

 At 2026, the Springs Road-Marshs Road intersection operates with 

high delays on some approaches during peak periods, and the requested 

zoning adds marginal additional delays during peak times with some 30 

volume movements that already experience high delays.  High delays 

were predicted for right-turning traffic at the proposed site access on 

Springs Road. 

 

 I consider that the changes predicted in road network operation are 35 

marginal to negligible, so it has been demonstrated there will be little 

change in road network performance with the rezoning sought.  

Therefore, in my opinion, the traffic effects of the rezoning are 

acceptable.  

 40 

 I also consider that the capacity issues identified at the proposed 

Springs Road site access can be addressed through engineering design 

solutions.  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Winchester, are you still going to cross examine 

Mr Fuller? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [3.45 pm] 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Briefly sir, I think.  Afternoon Mr Fuller.  Now in terms 

of your professional experience and your training, you are a specialist 

transport engineer.  Is that different from it being a transport planner? 

 

MR FULLER:   Not significantly no, I would say, yes pretty much the same. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  All right, okay. Well when you have prepared your 

evidence and carried out the caucusing, have you had regard to the 

Strategic Directions chapter and the RPS chapter 6? 

 15 

MR FULLER:   I have considered the RPS chapter 6 although I would note 

that planning itself is not my field of expertise. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay, well if I was to ask you some questions about the 

consistency of the zoning and particularly the traffic assessment with 20 

the RPS chapter 6 or aspects of it would you be comfortable in 

answering those questions or would you prefer to defer to Ms Aston? 

 

MR FULLER:   If you want to ask your questions then I will let you know 

whether I am comfortable. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is fine.  All right, so in terms of the impacted roads 

that we are talking about, so Halswell Junction Road and Springs Road, 

are they part of the strategic road network as you understand it? 

 30 

MR FULLER:   They are, they are both minor arterials. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  All right.  So in terms of the planning parlance we 

are using in these hearings they are strategic infrastructure.  All right, 

thank you.  Now it is your evidence that in terms of the impact on those 35 

roads and at the intersection of those roads it is going to be negligible 

because they are already going to be struggling.  That is the essence of 

it? 

 

MR FULLER:   No.  In terms of modelling that we had undertaken and in 40 

terms of the outputs that we were looking at, what they showed in some 

instances was a reduction in delay so an example of that would have 

been in the 2026 am peak where the change in turning volumes at the 

Springs Road-Halswell Junction Road intersection predicted an 

improvement for Springs Road north-bound traffic. 45 
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 But I would say that is probably not typical of the outputs.  In terms of 

defining something as marginal or negligible, typically the change in 

delays was less than five seconds and those sort of less than five second 

changes in delay were probably what we termed as the negligible ones, 

and the marginal ones were locations where the change in delay was 5 

greater than five seconds. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Thank you. I wonder if we could bring up RPS chapter 6 

and policy 6.3.5.  Do you have familiarity with this policy, Mr Fuller? 

 10 

MR FULLER:   I would not say that I am familiar with it but I have looked at it 

in the past. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  So if we look at the wording of the policy and 

subparagraph 1, it does not really apply in respect of your client’s land 15 

because this is not an identified priority area so it has not been factored 

into the integration of land use and infrastructure per se has it? 

 

MR FULLER:   No.  I would assume not. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  And then thinking about the concepts that are 

mentioned at paragraph 2 of this policy, obviously because it has not 

been identified as a priority area, it is outside the urban area, it has not 

been factored in in terms of ensuring the nature, timing and sequencing 

of new development is coordinated with development funding, 25 

implementation and operation of transport and other infrastructure. 

 

  [3.50 pm] 

 

 So it does it doesn’t fit neatly with the concept which is encapsulated in 30 

paragraph 2, does it?  And I will take you through paragraphs 8 - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, was the answer to that yes?  You need to actually 

speak the answer so it is on the transcript. 

 35 

MR FULLER:   Sorry, I was just having a look through it just to confirm what 

it says.  I would say that with regards to the timing of infrastructure 

improvements it does not fit neatly within that I suppose in terms of the 

work that we have done with the modelling.  What we are saying is that 

the effect of that additional traffic associated with the land or the 40 

rezoning that has been sought, the effect above what has been 

anticipated already at that intersection is it is marginal, so it is not a 

significant effect by any means. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right, thank you.  And the reason why paragraph 2 45 

of this policy talks about ensuring that there is coordination with 
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funding, implementation and operation of transport infrastructure is to 

optimise the efficient and affordable provision of both development 

and the infrastructure.  The zoning that your client proposes is not 

going to optimise the efficient and affordable provision of roading 

infrastructure, is it? 5 

 

MR FULLER:   It will not optimise it but I guess as I have indicated neither 

will it have a significant detrimental effect upon it.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and so that would be your answer to paragraph B 10 

of that policy as well, that while it does not maintain or enhance the 

operational effectiveness, viability and safety of existing and planned 

infrastructure it has a negligible effect on it? 

 

MR FULLER:   Yes. 15 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And do you think it is consistent with subparagraph C 

of paragraph 2, does it protect the investment in existing and planned 

infrastructure? 

 20 

MR FULLER:   I would say it is neutral again. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see.  And in terms of paragraph D, how would you 

address the fact that there is, according to Mr Milne at least, no 

planning in place for upgrading of this intersection that is going to be 25 

placed under stress? 

 

MR FULLER:   Again I would say that the effect is pretty much neutral, we 

have the words marginal and negligible so it does not really have a 

significant effect on that. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see, all right.  And if we look at method 3, can you see 

method 3 up on the screen there, and you were probably here when 

Ms Harte gave evidence and it is Mr Milne’s evidence that the 

necessary upgrades to relieve the stress on the Springs Road/Halswell 35 

Junction Road intersection are not provided for in any long term plan or 

any financial planning document, is that also your understanding? 

 

MR FULLER:   I understand that Selwyn District Council has identified in 

their long term plan 5 and a half million for upgrade but I will 40 

acknowledge that is in the post-2025 planning that they are doing.   

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  That is fine, thank you very much, 

Mr Fuller.  Thank you, sir. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester, thank you.  Ms Dawson, any questions? 
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MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thanks, Mr Fuller. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 5 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you. 

 

MR WILLIS:   No questions from me. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  I do not have any questions either thank you, 10 

it is all very clear. 

 

MR FULLER:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions in re-examination? 15 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Fuller, you are free to go. 

 20 

MR FULLER:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.54 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sir, we now have Mr O’Neill and unless I am out of date 25 

with the timeframe I do not believe there is any questions from my 

friend for the Council, it is straight to the Panel if the Panel does have 

questions of this expert witness. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I will just check and we could possibly just have him 30 

sworn if there are not any - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   I do not have any questions for Mr O'Neill. 

 

MR WILLIS:   I do not have any questions. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now that he is here you could just have him sworn in - - -  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and then we can accept his evidence in on that basis. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MR O'NEILL:   Thank you, sir. 45 
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<EOGHAN MICHAEL O’NEILL, affirmed [3.55 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [3.55 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Good afternoon, could you please confirm your full name 

is Eoghan Michael O'Neill? 

 5 

MR O'NEILL:   It is indeed. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 14 

September 2015 in relation to this matter? 

 10 

MR O'NEILL:   I have. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you have any corrections to make to that evidence? 

 

MR O'NEILL:   Just one, paragraph 18, the first sentence, just the replacement 15 

of the word “wastewater” with just “water”, so it should read, “The 

FPL site is not currently serviced for water supply”. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Right. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Crawford, it is not serviced for wastewater supply, it 

would not be very good. 

 

MR O'NEILL:   No, sir, I could equally add “and water”. 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   Now I will just ask you to confirm that the evidence is 

true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 

MR O'NEILL:   It is. 

 30 

MS CRAWFORD:   In terms of a summary, no doubt you are aware that the 

Council do not have any questions and you may – I am assuming you 

have read the Council evidence, the rebuttal – so I wonder if you could 

just briefly outline for the Panel where you think things have got to 

with respect to this Regional (INDISTINCT 1.30) Council. 35 

 

MR O'NEILL:   Well my understanding of the Council rebuttal evidence is that 

they have agreed with the issues that I raised with the assessment that 

Ms O'Brien incorporated into her evidence, and she now no longer 

opposes the inclusion of the rezoning of this land with respect to water 40 

and waste activity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes - - -  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - yes, read that myself, thank you. 

 

MR O'NEILL:   Thank you. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Ms Crawford. Right, you are free to go - - -  

 

MR O'NEILL:   Thank you. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - after all that. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.56 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, and our final witness for this afternoon is Ms 15 

Fiona Aston, you are familiar with the Panel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Planning expert. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Welcome back, Ms Aston. 
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<PAULINE FIONA ASTON, sworn [3.57 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [3.57 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, and for the record, you please confirm your 

full name is Pauline Fiona Aston but you are known as Fiona? 

 5 

MS ASTON:   Correct. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence, dated 17 

September 2015? 

 10 

MS ASTON:   Correct. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you have any corrections to make to that evidence? 

 

MS ASTON:   Just one. Just paragraph 11.2, the last sentence, where I say 15 

“both activities are permitted under the IP zoning”, it should be, “The 

plant nursery is discretionary under the IPR”. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   I am sorry, can you repeat that again. 

 20 

MS ASTON:   Sorry, the plant nursery is - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So which sentence, is it 11.2? 

 

MS ASTON:   The last sentence of 11.2. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS ASTON:   “The plant nursery is discretionary” and - - -  

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The last sentence 11.2? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It does not refer to the plant nursery, as far as - - -  35 

 

MS ASTON:   No, no, “both activities are permitted”, so it is referring to the 

proceeding - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see. 40 

 

MS ASTON:   - - - where I talk about, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So “non-compliant” should be changed to? 

 45 

MS ASTON:   No. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No? 

 

MS ASTON:   No, so where it says “both activities are permitted under the IP 

zoning”, it should say, “The plant nursery is discretionary under the IP 5 

zoning”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MS ASTON:   And the café is permitted. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you want to strike out the word “both activity” - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   My apologies. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Could you just tell us what to strike out and then what to put 

in. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, absolutely. So strike out “both activities are - - -  

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So, where does – which sentence? 

 

MS ASTON:   The last sentence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, “Both activities”, yes. 25 

 

MS ASTON:   “Are permitted under the IP zoning”, strike that out. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 30 

MS ASTON:   It should be, “The plant nursery is discretionary and the 

landscape contracting business is permitted under the IP zoning”. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And do you want to leave in the word - - -  

 35 

MS ASTON:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - “subject to gross less of a floor area - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   Sorry, yes I – my apologies, so it would be, “Plant nursery is 40 

discretionary and the landscape contracting and café are permitted” and 

leave the words in “subject to”. 

 

  [4.00 pm] 

 45 

MS CRAWFORD:   If I could assist, sir - - -  
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JUDGE HASSAN:   I have completely lost this. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   My understanding sir is we delete the words in the last 

sentence of paragraph 11.2, both activities are permitted under the IP 5 

zoning, if you put a strikethrough up into the brackets, the part in 

brackets remains and the strikethrough is replaced with, “the plant 

nursery is a discretionary activity and the - - - 

 

MS ASTON:   Landscape contracting business and café are permitted under the 10 

IP zoning.   

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And then following that the bracket stays in. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then the proviso applies just to the (INDISTINCT 15 

0.52) 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think we are there. 20 

 

MS ASTON:   My apologies, sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, that is all right. 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   Now I just have a supplementary question sir, just for the 

witness prior to confirming her evidence and it does arise out of a 

question of the previous witness sir, if I may.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it is in her area? 30 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes it is. It relates to the policies that were drawn to the 

attention of the past witness, the policy 6.3.5 and a question was asked 

about how one might address the fact that there may be no planning in 

place in terms of infrastructure, and as the expert planner I was 35 

wondering if Ms Aston could provide comment on that now or later to 

the benefit of the Panel.  The fact that there has been no planning under 

6.3.5D – 2D I believe it is - the question was asked of the previous 

witness, how might one address the fact that there is no planning in 

place for infrastructure upgrades.  Is there a planning response to that is 40 

my question. 

 

MS ASTON:   Okay.  I think the point of Mr Fuller was that this rezoning does 

not actually trigger a need for appropriate infrastructure that will not 

already arise as a result of the land that has already been rezoned in the 45 

Proposed Plan.  That is going to occur anyway but that is the evidence, 
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but I mean there is always the possibility of a trigger rule to say that 

development should not proceed until appropriate infrastructure is in 

place, and defining what that appropriate trigger or infrastructure might 

be, that is an option if the Panel found that this rezoning did give rise to 

a need for new infrastructure.  Which is not the position as I understand 5 

it of Mr Fuller. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  And on that basis can you please confirm the 

evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge? 

 10 

MS ASTON:   Correct. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, and you have a highlights package to read to 

the Panel? 

 15 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Please read this and answer any questions. 

 

MS ASTON:   So my evidence addresses the rezoning of a small area of land, 20 

approximately (INDISTINCT 3.16) hectares at Marshs Road and 

Springs Road, from Rural Urban Fringe to Industrial Park.  The site 

comprises land use for a plant nursery, which is approximately one 

hectare and associated (INDISTINCT 3.31) business, which is 

approximately 11 hectares, and land to the north which is the balance 25 

land after land is taken for the southern motorway extension and that is 

approximately six hectares, which is used for grazing and includes 

three existing dwellings on residential sites fronting on to Springs 

Road. 

 30 

 So the relief sought by Foddercube is that the site is rezoned from 

Rural Urban Fringe to Industrial Park and development is to be in 

accordance with a revised Springs Road outline development plan 

which is extended to include the site and associated rules.  And those 

provisions are considered to be appropriate, in particular to manage the 35 

interface with the Rural and Rural Residential land to the south and east 

of the site on the opposite side of Marshs and Springs Roads 

respectively. 

 

 The Industrial Park zone is considered to be appropriate for a number 40 

of reasons.  This zone provides for a high amenity industrial 

environment with a maximum 25 percent site coverage and minimum 

20 percent landscaping.  It is considered to be an appropriate buffer 

between the Provence rural lifestyle subdivision and heavy industrial 

areas to the west and north of the site, and to be consistent with IP 45 

zoning to the north east. 
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 The site is well located in relation to strategic transport.  It is within the 

southwest Christchurch industrial hub area with benefits of co-location 

with other existing and developing industrial activities.   

 5 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

 It is close to residential nodes, providing for closely located 

employment, including the growing southwest growth area.  The site 

can be serviced with reticulated services, and there are no stormwater 10 

constraints to rezoning. 

 

 The traffic evidence for Foddercube is that change is predicted in the 

road network operation as a result of the proposed rezoning are 

marginal to negligible.  So it has been demonstrated that there will be 15 

little change in the road network performance with the rezoning sought, 

and also that design solutions could provide an access that maintains 

the safety and efficiency of the road network. 

 

 The amount of additional land proposed for the site is relatively small 20 

and will not compromise the operation of the Priority Greenfield Areas 

as set out in Map A, with respect to business land. 

 

 IP zoning will enable the existing nursery business to further develop, 

including as proposed in the short term, which is to provide a 25 

complimentary café and landscape contracting services, and irrigation 

design and supply shop, and a mower retail service and repair shop, 

which will enable the existing business to become more convenient to 

its retail and wholesale customers by offering the complete garden 

service on one site. 30 

 

 These activities are permitted or discretionary under the IP zoning but 

are non-complying under the Rural Urban Fringe zoning.   

 

 The existing turf growing business, which currently occupies 11 35 

hectares, is to be relocated to a new site.  Purchase for this purpose 

between Lincoln and Prebbleton in the southern district, and after 30 

years of continuous growing the core nutrients have gradually been 

depleted, and so this 11 hectares will be released for alternative use.  

And given the depleted soil quality and location adjoining existing 40 

industrial land, high amenity industrial activity is appropriate. 

 

 In terms of the policy framework, the site is outside the existing area on 

Map A of the Regional Policy Statement, so objective 6.2.1 and policy 

6.3.41 of Chapter 6 and objective 3.37 of the Strategic Objectives may 45 

preclude the rezoning. 
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 All parts of the Land Use Recovery Plan, including Chapter 6, are 

currently under review.  Mr Stevens’ (ph 2.25) rebuttal evidence 

statement that the review does not cover the RPS is in fact incorrect. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, we have to give effect to the RPS, so that is pretty 

much that.  

 

MS ASTON:   Okay.  I go on to say that the Replacement Plan is to give effect 

to the RPS, i.e. to implement it according to the policy’s intentions, and 10 

what that intent is is for development to be enabled within specified 

spatial areas around greater Christchurch so that resources can be 

focused on rebuilding and delivering growth and recovery and those 

priority areas.  

 15 

 This provides certainty to all resource users as to locations for 

development, enabling long-term planning and funding for strategic 

network and social infrastructure and protection of greater 

Christchurch’s natural and physical resources. 

 20 

 In terms of this site, the rezoning involves a relatively small area of 

land immediately joining and physically and visually related to an 

existing zoned and developing industrial urban setting and will not 

compromise the long-term planning for strategic network or social 

infrastructure, and it will not adversely affect or impact on natural and 25 

physical resources, as identified in objective 6.2.1, as outstanding 

natural landscapes and features, water quality and quantity, 

(INDISTINCT 3.43) biodiversity and public space. 

 

 The rezoning will give effect to the RPS and Land Use Recovery Plan 30 

focus on consolidating urban form, adopting appropriate urban design 

qualities, and integrating transport infrastructure and land use planning.  

 

 The rezoning is a logical consolidation and conclusion of the south 

Hornby industrial area and will utilise infrastructure already provided 35 

or planned for this area. 

 

 And the rezoning is consistent with all the other relevant plan 

objectives and policies, including the strategic objectives and those 

relating to urban growth and form, recovery and growth, industrial 40 

activities, and separation of incompatible activities. 

 

 So in my view it is the most appropriate method, rezoning the site as IP 

in accordance with the ODP and associated rules proposed is the most 

appropriate way to achieve the purpose of the act and objectives of the 45 

Proposed District Plan, apart from objective 3.3.7C, and is more 
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efficient and effective than the Rural Urban Fringe zoning; enable the 

existing nursery on the site to develop to provide a one-stop shop 

garden centre; complete and consolidate the south Hornby industrial 

area by squaring off its eastern boundary. 

 5 

 It will mean that the whole block bounded by Marshs, Springs, Shands 

Road and Halswell Junction Road would then be zoned for industrial 

purposes. 

 

  [4.10 pm] 10 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, Ms Aston. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Crawford, my intervention there was related to the 

point you and I discussed yesterday which perhaps you will help with 15 

on submissions, but regardless of how a person perceives whether a 

Regional Policy Statement will be changed through a review to the 

LURP or not, it is the statutory document that is before us that we must 

give effect to and it would be an error of law for us to give it a different 

weighting or not give effect to it or ignore it in part on the basis of a 20 

potential for it to change through a later process.  So I hope you and I 

have a common understanding of that and I appreciate this witness may 

be able to assist us on how to give effect to the RPS but we have to 

give effect to the RPS. 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, indeed, sir, and as I addressed the Panel on in 

relation to the residential chapter closing submissions for Castle Rock, 

and interpreting King Salmon, giving effect to may enable the recourse 

for this Panel to part 2 if there is any concern about inconsistency 

internally within the document, or whether in fact the document or the 30 

policy in question has been properly tested and in fact reflects part 2 of 

the Act.  And that relies on the assessment by this Panel about whether 

policy that is prescriptive in relation to map A has been thoroughly 

tested under section 32. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well come prepared for those arguments in 

closing because you will have to address me on them. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Absolutely, sir, and I welcome that and actually while I 

am on that, I was intending to seek leave to produce the legal 40 

submissions in writing, I believe on Thursday afternoon is scheduled 

for closing, I am not sure if anyone is intending to appear.  I am happy 

to appear if required but I was intending to file a written closing as I 

did with the residential chapter but I am entirely in the Panel’s hands if 

it would be of assistance. 45 

 



 Page 325 

  

Ch15 & 16: Commercial (Part) and Industrial (Part) Commenced 05.10.15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean obviously if you are trying to challenge the 

boundaries of what “give effect” to means you made to try to find time 

to actually have your arguments tested. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, of course, sir, thank you.  Now, Mr Winchester has 5 

been waiting to ask some questions, I do not want to take up his time. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just thought it was important for me to make that point 

clear to you because you may have otherwise been surprised by my 

intervention. 

 15 

MS CRAWFORD:   Not at all, sir, thank you for that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Winchester? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [4.12 pm] 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Ms Aston.  Now, you 

describe the land which is subject to the rezoning request in 

paragraph 3.1 as a small area of land approximately 20 hectares? 

 25 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you I think said in your highlights package that it 

was relatively small, so you think that 20 hectares of Industrial Park 

zoning is small in what context? 30 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, I think it is in context to the total amount of land that has 

been rezoned Industrial in the replacement plan and I have looked at 

the section 32 assessment, which usefully gives a bit of a summary, and 

in that context I think it is about 905 hectares total, so we are talking 35 

about 2 percent, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Now, at paragraph 3.3 of your written 

statement you say “There are no environmental or servicing constraints 

to rezoning”.  I take it in that respect when you talk about servicing you 40 

include traffic? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, I do. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And the basis for that opinion is that you 

rely on Mr Fuller’s evidence rather than Mr Milne because Mr Milne 

has a different view on traffic effects, doesn’t he? 

 

MS ASTON:   Well, they seem to agree, reading the joint statement, that the 5 

traffic effects are between marginal or negligible depending on which 

direction the intersection is being approached but for some reason 

Mr Milne considers that that therefore is a constraint in terms of the 

traffic effects which – I mean I am not a traffic engineer so it is 

probably outside my expertise but I am just a little bit confused by that. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And again in your paragraph 3.3 you seem 

to be suggesting that the rezoning is going to provide some positive 

pressure or assistance for the upgrade of the Halswell Junction Road 

and Springs Road intersection, is that correct? 15 

 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

MS ASTON:   It just provides an opportunity for – I mean, Foddercube are 

very willing to provide land for a roundabout which, I mean obviously 20 

the detail design has not been worked out yet, but it will require taking, 

as I understand it and Mr Fuller in our discussions did go as far as 

looking at some possible roundabout designs, very schematic in our 

discussions, and that would involve taking Foddercube land, which 

they were prepared to offer, whereas normally you would have to 25 

negotiate with landowners and pay compensation for that, it is part of 

the rezoning that could be made available. 

 

 And obviously the details need to be worked out, so you got a willing 

landowner basically, and also development contributions assist – again, 30 

it is slightly outside my area to providing for this sort of infrastructure. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. 

 

MS ASTON:   Sorry, that may not be quite correct. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well development contributions probably is not outside 

your area as a planner, but - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   Right, okay. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Anyway. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right. The evidence you gave in your summary was 

though, that the rezoning is not going to be result in the need for an 45 

upgrade, so I am just trying to reconcile those two positions, you say, 
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“There is no need for an upgrade but Foddercube is prepared to 

contribute”? 

 

MS ASTON:   I think what we are saying is actually the rezoning is a benefit, 

because the upgrade is going to be required regardless and this is 5 

actually a way to help enable it happen, so it is a positive benefit that 

arises from the rezoning. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Right. And it is not Mr Milne’s evidence that the 

upgrade is going to be required regardless, is it, or is that the - - -  10 

 

MS ASTON:   I think I recall him saying that there would be required to be an 

upgrade once the land that is rezoned is developed for industrial 

purposes. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see. All right, well now the proposal here from your 

client’s perspective is for industrial park zoning and you talked about 

the type of activities that are anticipated in terms of Foddercube and 

that is primarily landscape and associated business - - -  

 20 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - that is correct. And you also talked about there 

being a balance area of land of 11 hectares or high amenity industrial 

development. 25 

 

MS ASTON:   Correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And in terms of the high amenity industrial 

development, is it your understanding that the traffic assessment has 30 

considered the traffic generation resulting from that use of the land for 

high amenity industrial? 

 

MS ASTON:   My understanding is, it is based on the traffic that would be 

generated for activities permitted under the industrial park zoning. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   And is it your understanding that one of the permitted 

activities in industrial park zoning is up to 5,000 square metres of 

office? 

 

MS ASTON:   No. My understanding and reading the industrial park zoning, is 45 

that, that is not a permitted activity in the industrial park zoning per se, 
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the general industrial park. My understanding is it is permitted in 

(INDISTINCT 3.53), but when I read what the notified plan defines as 

“industrial park”, it does not provide for 5,000 square metres of office 

activity no – I think that is a specific provision to (INDISTINCT 4.07)  

Wairakei Road – that is my understanding. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you. So would you be prepared to confirm that 

no such permitted activity rule for that amount of office space is sought 

for the land proposed to be rezoned? 

 10 

MS ASTON:   That is my – correct, it is just a general industrial park zoning, 

no that is not being sought. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right. Because you would accept that if 5,000 square 

metres of office floor space permitted that could have quite significant 15 

implications in terms of the remainder of the industrial zone and 

commercial land - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   I have - - -  

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - although the policy expects - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   - - - I have not considered that - - -  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I see. 25 

 

MS ASTON:   - - - because that was not what was my understanding of what 

was being sought. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, all right, thank you. Now I want you to turn to 30 

paragraph 6.3 of your evidence where you deal with the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement and the last sentence of that paragraph you 

make reference to the rezoning, and I am assuming that will not 

compromise the long term planning for strategic network for social 

infrastructure.  Is that what you are saying? 35 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  In terms of giving effect to the RPS you 

realise that one must give effect rather than not compromise or not be 

inconsistent with that document? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   And so I understand your evidence, is it your evidence 

that the proposed rezoning of this land will give effect to the RPS or 

that it is not inconsistent with the RPS? 

 

MS ASTON:   The only policy of the RPS where I have acknowledged 5 

potentially it does not give effect is the very prescriptive policy which 

is 6.3.14 which is the one about ensuring new activities only occur 

within existing urban areas or identified greenfield priority areas as 

shown on map A, unless provided for elsewhere in the RPS.  And there 

are legal submissions on what that means and I acknowledge those. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is fine.  I just want to understand the basis for your 

opinion.  So your opinion as to this rezoning giving effect to the RPS is 

not dependent on the changes that you have referred to the in the 

LURP?  So you say independent of any changes to the LURP and 15 

hence possibly the RPS this rezoning will give effect to the RPS, that is 

your opinion? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, it is based on some legal submissions about what weight 

can be given, given that the LURP goes through the normal RMA 20 

process, that is one element, and secondly whether there is some 

ability, looking at the RPS in the round, and the need for some 

flexibility in terms of the very prescriptive nature of the line. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay. 25 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I want to understand your planning opinion, putting to 

one side legal submissions.  Is it your opinion as a professional planner, 30 

putting to one side Ms Crawford’s submissions, that this rezoning will 

give effect to the RPS as it currently stands? 

 

MS ASTON:   Well maybe I could just - - - 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   No. 

 

MS ASTON:   - - - in order to answer the – there is an issue which arose which 

in terms of map A, there are some map A areas that are not being 

rezoned business areas for reasons that have been discussed in the 40 

evidence in relation to other areas earlier today, and the principal 

reasons and explanation for policy 3.3.1, the second sentence says, the 

areas on map A are areas identified as being required to provide 

sufficient land zoned for urban purposes to enable recovery and 

rebuilding through 2028.   45 
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 So map A provides enough land for recovery for that period.  If for 

some other reasons some of those map A areas cannot proceed, then 

should there not be some replacement areas in order to achieve that 

figure that map A – so I am just saying if you look at it in the round and 

the objective is to achieve recovery, I do not think you can look at that 5 

policy in complete isolation. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And if we are not looking at that policy in 

complete isolation, where in the round or elsewhere in chapter 6 or 

indeed anywhere in the RPS does it say that the Council should carry 10 

out a balancing exercise to substitute one unavailable area within 

map A for another area outside it?  Point me to that, Ms Aston. 

 

MS ASTON:   Well I think there are some monitoring provisions but that 

requires a process and it does not specifically say that you should 15 

substitute one for another but when you are understanding what – you 

look at the purpose behind the objectives and policies in order to 

understand what the intent is. 

 

  [4.25 pm] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So where in the document do you find that intent? 

 

MS ASTON:   Well the intent is - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, Mr Winchester.  I just want to make sure the 

question is answered. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 30 

MS ASTON:   So policy 6.3.11 - - - 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sorry, could we have this brought up on the screen, 

please? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MS ASTON:   - - - states that you have to give effect to the urban form which 

identifies the location of (INDISTINCT 1.25) of urban development 

that will support but it does not go on to say, “Well if for some reason 40 

you cannot give effect to that urban form, what do you do?”  It does not 

say that, it just assumes that you can give effect to that urban form. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have Map A available to you? 

 45 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   That, Ms Aston, identifies both existing urban areas in 

grey, does it not? 

 

MS ASTON:   Let me just see the key at the bottom.  Yes, I am pretty sure it is 5 

existing urban areas are grey, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and greenfield priority areas, green for residential, 

isn’t it?  Yes, and Greenfield Priority Areas for business in blue. 

 10 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And the existing urban area encapsulates by and large – 

sorry, the urban area and the urban form that you have talked about at 

policy 6.3.1, is that identified in green, blue and grey and includes the 15 

Central City, isn’t it?  That is what is being managed, those defined 

areas of land. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 20 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and in terms of how Chapter 6 operates, Chapter 6 

of the RPS, its purpose is to manage urban activities in Greater 

Christchurch, that is its main purpose, you would agree with that? 

 

MS ASTON:   Its main purpose is to manage urban activities in Greater 25 

Christchurch to enable recovering building in particular up to the 

period 2028. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And is your support for the rezoning and your opinion, 

this rezoning gives effect to the RPS, is it focused around Chapter 6?  30 

Is that the basis for your opinion? 

 

MS ASTON:   My opinion is that the problem – and I acknowledge it is partly 

a problem with the RPS – is that it really focused on major rental 

growth areas and because of the way it proceeded, not through a 35 

normal RMA process. Submissions from parties that sought minor 

squaring off of boundaries et cetera, never had the opportunity to 

proceed and it did not go through a normal section 32. 

 

  [4.30 pm] 40 

 

 I am acknowledging the IPS is what it is, but there is some inflexibility 

there, and what I am saying is, you got to look at what the purpose of 

the RPS is and I am saying that adding this small squaring off of the 

boundary, is not going to compromise any of the purposes of the RPS 45 

and is a sensible thing from an RMA section 32 point of view. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Okay. Well I will ask my question again, where else in 

the RPS, other than chapter 6 do you draw support for your opinion, I 

just want to know, are we looking at chapter 6 or we looking at 

somewhere else? 5 

 

MS ASTON:   No, we are looking at chapter 6. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Well I want to try and figure out where in 

chapter 6 non-urban activities are dealt with, because if we accept that 10 

what chapter 6 is doing is managing urban activities within a defined 

area, then do you not need to find support in chapter 6 elsewhere? 

 

MS ASTON:   Could you read - - -  

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   Okay. 

 

MS ASTON:   In other policies and objectives - - -  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 20 

 

MS ASTON:   - - - chapter 6? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, because the land that you are suggesting should be 

rezoned is outside the identified urban area, is it not? 25 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  

 30 

MS ASTON:   Yes, I agree with that, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right. And what I am trying to put to you, Ms Aston, 

is that what chapter 6 does is provide objectives and policies and 

planning guidance, some of it very directive, which deals with the 35 

urban area, the identified urban area, not your client’s land, do you 

accept that? 

 

MS ASTON:   It does – it includes – it has policies as to what you can do 

outside the urban areas - - -  40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS ASTON:   - - - as well, it covers the whole of greater Christchurch, so it 

does for example have (INDISTINCT 2.41) residential - - -  45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS ASTON:   - - - and about types of existing urban activities outside the 

urban area that may be, are recognised, for example education 

facilities, yes. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  And is it those provisions that deal with the 

balance, the non-identified urban area, do they provide any basis for 

your opinion as to the appropriateness of the rezoning or is it the ones 

that deal with the identified urban area – I am trying to figure out which 10 

provisions you say support your opinion. 

 

MS ASTON:   I am not saying that there is anything in the chapter 6 that 

positively says “this land should be used for urban activities”, there is 

no policy support for saying it positively should be used.  What I am 15 

saying is that, it does not offend the purposes of the policies which 

define land which is to be used for urban activities.  

 

 I should also say, in terms of the existing nursery business and the 

ability to expand and develop into complimentary activities, the 20 

explanation and reasons for policy 6.3.1, which is not reflecting the 

policy, does give a little bit of a hint of what happens in relation to 

what is – sorry, if you look at the second paragraph in the last sentence, 

it does say, “It is anticipated that established urban activities located 

outside of the identified urban area will be able to continue to operate 25 

their activities with any expansion considered on a case by case basis”. 

 

  [4.35 pm] 

 

 That is not reflected actually in any policy but in terms of what, 30 

because one of the unusual things about this site is that we have a plant 

nursery which wishes to expand into other complementary activities 

such as a café and even a plant nursery is not permitted under the 

existing Urban Rural Fringe zoning.  It is actually a non-complying 

activity. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, what I am suggesting to you, Ms Aston, is that 

you cannot draw support for the rezoning from Chapter 6 because your 

client’s land is outside the urban area on map A because that is what 

Chapter 6 addresses.  It addresses urban activities in the urban area.  40 

There is no reasonable basis for you to draw any support for the 

rezoning from Chapter 6. 

 

MS ASTON:   All I can say is to reiterate that you have to look at the purpose 

behind the objectives and policies.  You have to read them in the 45 

context of the principal explanations and reasons, what they are trying 
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to achieve.  As a planner that is what I always do.  But I accept that 

there is a difficulty because there is a very prescriptive policy in here 

which refers to a line on a map and we are outside that line. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you. 5 

 

MS ASTON:   Or the client’s land is outside the line. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Well I am just going to run through as quickly as I 

possibly can where this chapter deals with non-urban activities and 10 

activities outside the identified urban area. 

 

MS ASTON:   Right. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Just so that we are clear on that.   15 

 

MS ASTON:   Sure. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Now issue 6.1.5, if you take a look at that.  That deals 

with Rural Residential impacts so by inference mostly unlikely to 20 

happen within the existing urban area, isn’t it? 

 

MS ASTON:   And there is a policy that says, I mean the policy for Rural 

Residential specifically excludes Rural Residential activity within the 

Christchurch City area. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  And then we go to objective 6.2.2, paragraph 6 

which is related to issue 6.1.5 isn’t it, it talks about managing Rural 

Residential development outside of the existing urban and priority 

areas. 30 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And indeed 6.2.1(7) talks about maintaining the 

character and amenity of rural areas and settlements but a number of 35 

those rural areas and settlements are probably existing urban areas 

aren’t they in greater Christchurch? 

 

MS ASTON:   Could you just tell me where you went? 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   6.2.1(7). 

 

MS ASTON:   Objective 6.2.1.  I am not actually sure what it means by 

“maintains the character and amenity of rural areas”, that’s obvious, 

that’s rural areas. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS ASTON:   “Settlements”, I am not actually sure what that means.  It is not 

actually defined unless there is a definition of “settlement”. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  But you accept that that particular paragraph 

can apply outside the urban area and indeed probably does to the extent 

it deals with the character and amenity of rural areas? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, the rural areas, certainly. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  All right, and then next we go to 

6.3.1(5) and I think you have mentioned this, this is an exception which 

provides for educational facilities in rural areas and limited 

circumstances where no other practicable options exist within an urban 15 

area. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And policy 6.3.9 deals explicitly with Rural Residential 20 

development and as you have identified, paragraphs 1 and 2 essentially 

require any such development to go outside the urban areas. 

 

MS ASTON:  Correct, and just on that, I mean I have not specifically 

mentioned that in my section 32 assessment of the site but Rural 25 

Residential is not an option for this site.  I mean there is Rural 

Residential on the opposite side of the road, that would have been 

another option but it is not because of that very restrictive policy. 

 

  [4.40 pm] 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And policy 6.3.11, which is the monitoring 

and review policy at paragraphs E to G, deal with the rural area as well, 

don’t they? 

 35 

MS ASTON:   In terms of F, I am aware that there are some small areas of 

outstanding landscape that actually are zoned residential in the Port 

Hills but, yes, primarily. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  And have we missed any provisions of 40 

Chapter 6 that you are aware of that deal explicitly with development 

outside the identified urban area? 

 

MS ASTON:   Without (ph 1.25) - - - 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Based on my reading there is none but you may be 

aware of more. 

 

MS ASTON:   Well, I mean a lot of the objectives and policies apply 

throughout greater Christchurch. 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Sure. 

 

MS ASTON:   And aren’t specifically whether they are rural or urban.  Yes, I 

mean you haven’t mentioned objective 6.2.1(3).  I suppose it goes 10 

without saying that you included that, yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, and indeed that illustrates the point, doesn’t it, 

6.2.1(3) that what this chapter is all about is a set of objectives and 

policies and methods for managing urban development within the 15 

identified urban area and the rub of this chapter, such as it is, that deals 

with non-urban development or urban development outside the 

identified urban area is timing, isn’t it? 

 

MS ASTON:   Sorry, could you just say that again?  Sorry? 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will just take a short recess while Ms Dawson - - -  

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Certainly, and it might assist me to better formulate my 

questions. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is a nasty virus, Mr Willis is going to make sure he 

fights it off. 

 

ADJOURNED [4.43 pm] 30 

 

RESUMED [4.46 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, everybody. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we are back on now. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right, Ms Aston, we have identified parts of Chapter 

6 that deal expressly with activities in the rural area outside the 

identified urban area, haven’t we? 40 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   It stands to reason then that the remainder of Chapter 6, 

which is all the rest, in fact expressly deals with urban activities in the 45 

urban area, doesn’t it?  That is its focus? 
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MS ASTON:   I think where there is some specific references to rural areas, 

correct.  There is some specific reference to urban areas and there are a 

lot of provisions to do with integrating transport infrastructure, et 

cetera, which would apply throughout greater Christchurch, whether 5 

they are urban or rural. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right. 

 

MS ASTON:   Because those things about integrating transport and 10 

infrastructure, for example, equally apply to Rural Residential as they 

do to Urban.  I do not think you can make artificial divisions as to 

which bit applies to Rural and which bit applies to Urban. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Those bits that you say apply across the board, across 15 

greater Christchurch, which of those expressly support the rezoning 

that your client seeks? 

 

MS ASTON:   I am not saying that any part expressly supports.  What I am 

saying is that what is sought does not offend the intent behind the 20 

whole objective and policy framework of Chapter 6. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Of the provisions that deal expressly with rural 

activities or activities outside the identified urban area, none of those 

expressly support your client’s rezoning, do they? 25 

 

MS ASTON:   No. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No.  I will not go any further on that.  The final question 

I have got relates to your evidence at paragraph 6.11 and 6.12. 30 

 

MS ASTON:   Sorry, I have got one comment I could give you on that - - - 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, that is fine. 

 35 

MS ASTON:   - - - that would assist. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   The witness is trying to answer the question. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, she is not.  I have not asked her a question and she 

finished her answer.  I am moving on. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Well - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, just everyone settle down.  It is 4.50 pm. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   I will deal with it in re-examination, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.  No, just settle down.  I am sorry, I did not mean that 5 

to you, I just meant the atmosphere needs to settle down.   

 

 Ms Aston, you are not entitled to make a comment about something 

that did not arise from a question.  Now, bearing in mind that we will 

carefully look at the transcript and it will weigh significantly against 10 

you if you try to do that.  With that warning and caution, are you 

wanting to complete your answer? 

 

  [4.50 pm] 

 15 

MS ASTON:   Yes, I am. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, you may do so. 

 

MS ASTON:   Thank you, sir.  What I have been doing is just – there is a 20 

policy which talks about the location and mix of residential and 

business activities, and I have been looking at the Christchurch City 

submission on the Land Use Recovery Plan and in particular the desire 

for the Cranford Basin area to be included, although I acknowledge that 

has to be or they are suggesting that is by way of amendment to 25 

Chapter 6.  But it does refer back to a policy which I am just trying to 

locate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, so far that answer does not relate to the question. 

 30 

MS ASTON:   Sorry, it relates to the location and – sorry, I am just trying to 

find it – the question is, is there anything in Chapter 6 that supports the 

rezoning of this land? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That expressly supports, was the question I asked you. 35 

 

MS ASTON:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you answered it and then said you wanted to 

complete that answer, then you made a comment which did not relate 40 

to the answer, what is it that you want to complete by way of your 

answer before we move on at 4.50? 

 

MS ASTON:   Sure, yes okay. It is policy 6.3.11 and I think I have already 

drawn it to your attention and we have already discussed it, arguably 45 

the second part of that is, “the extent of urban development that will 
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support the recovery, building and planning”, and I acknowledge this is 

not in the location that is identified on map A, but if there are some 

map A areas which cannot proceed for other reasons, then if we are – 

but I acknowledge also that there is not a policy telling about 

“swapping areas”. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I think we have had quite a bit of discussion about 

words - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - so it sounds to me that that is reiterating what you 

said before. 

 

MS ASTON:   Okay. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is no new information - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   No, no. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - no policies we have not talked about in the extensive 

cross-examination you have had - - -  

 

MS ASTON:   No. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - is that right? 

 

MS ASTON:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, I apologise for this taking so long. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  No, it is all right, these things can take some time 

sometimes. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And bearing in mind Ms Crawford has indicated that it is 

important, I think it is probably appropriate. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. Well I hope it is my last couple of 

questions – I want you to look at your paragraph 6.11 and 6.12 of your 

statement of evidence, Ms Aston. While I accept that you are making 

reference to the submission on the LURP review, the assertion or the 45 
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evidence in here is that, there is somehow a shortage of industrial park 

greenfield business land, is that your evidence? 

 

MS ASTON:   No, I do not – I am not in a position to make that statement and 

I do not say that that is the case because I do not – I am not the expert 5 

that can say that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, the first sentence of your paragraph 6.12 says, 

“further provision needs to be made for such high amenity industrial 

park land”. 10 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, I was referring to what the LURP submission on behalf of 

Foddercube said. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And who prepared that? 15 

 

MS ASTON:   I prepared that. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And which expert, in terms of industrial land supply, 

did you consult when you prepared that submission? 20 

 

MS ASTON:   I did not at all, it was based on my knowledge at the time which 

was that there was a lot of industrial heavy/industrial general zoning, 

but not a lot of industrial park zoning at that time. I was not aware that 

Waterloo Park was industrial park, which it is, so that is another area of 25 

industrial park zoning, and since then I made some enquiries from the 

Council about the amount of industrial park land. 

 

 And I understand there is about 125 hectares of industrial park land 

rezoned as opposed to 905 hectares of industrial heavy and industrial 30 

general. So I am referring – I am just summarising that submission, but 

it is not my evidence that there is a shortage of Industrial Park land. 

 

  [4.55 pm] 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Winchester.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No I do not have any questions, thank you very much 40 

Ms Aston. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 45 
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MR WILLIS:   No thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think the issues have been well and truly covered but I 

want to just take you back briefly to 6.3.1 Ms Aston.  When you are 

searching for the intent of a Regional Policy Statement, do you think 5 

the purpose of the policy is to assist in understanding the intent? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, the objective is as I understand - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The policy. 10 

 

MS ASTON:   The policy is more how the intent will be implemented. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Objectives, so policies are means to giving effect to 

objectives. 15 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And both inform the understanding of the intention of the 

policy document? 20 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And your interpretation I take it invites us to read back 

words in policy 6.3.1?  For instance location and extent, you invite us 25 

to read those back in one, in order to accommodate your interpretation, 

is that right?  Given that your client’s land is not in the location? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, I do not know what you mean by, sorry, read back? 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you not familiar with those tools of interpretation of a 

statutory document? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, you - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   When you are searching for the purpose - - - 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - you do not give it a literal meaning.  You are wanting 40 

us to put a gloss on the words “location” and “extent”? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Do you understand that concept of a statutory 45 

interpretation? 
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MS ASTON:   Yes, the purpose behind the objectives and policies - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So stop. 

 5 

MS ASTON:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   When you come to the words location and extent - - - 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - are you putting a gloss on those words and reading 

them back for your interpretation of the document?  You say they 

should be read back, they do not mean literally what they say.  Is that 

what you are telling us?  Or do you not feel able to answer? 15 

 

MS ASTON:   No, I am having difficulty answering that question I am sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I do not think you can assist me any further. 

 20 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes, I have a few questions sir by way of re-examination. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Re-examination, well before that any questions arising, 

Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No thank you sir. 30 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MS CRAWFORD [4.58 pm] 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you sir.  If you could just turn to section 6 of your 

evidence Ms Aston. This is the heading Planning Status and underneath 35 

that is a subheading, Canterbury Regional Policy Statement.  On page 5 

and 6. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   Now Mr Winchester asked you some questions about 

some of the objectives and policies in chapter 6.  Can I ask you firstly 

to turn to paragraph 6.5 where you quote objective 6.2.24 and then at 

6.6 you make - - - 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Crawford just one thing.  This witness said at the end 

of her cross-examination that that was a complete, as far as she could 

tell, set of provisions that had been discussed and the interpolation you 

put was that Mr Winchester had discussed some of them with her.  Are 

you wanting her to revisit her opinion on that? 5 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well then you should put that to her because effectively 

that is what you are doing.  You are inviting her to change the opinion 10 

she has expressed and the answers she gave at cross-examination. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And it should be plain you are doing that. 15 

 

MS CRAWFORD:  Yes sir. So my question to you Ms Aston is, 

Mr Winchester drew your attention to some of the objectives and 

policies in chapter 6, I have referred you to section 6 of your evidence 

and paragraph 6.5 and 6.6.  Do you have any comment to make in 20 

relation to that provision? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And bear in mind your earlier answer in answering that 

question please. 

 25 

MS ASTON:   Yes, when I was struggling to find the relevant provision, which 

I commented on, I knew it was somewhere in my evidence, the 

objective 6.2.2 – I am just reading what I have said here, sorry.   

 

  [5.00 pm] 30 

 

 What the objective seeks to achieve is achieved by the rezoning but 

policy 4 talks about providing for the development of greenfield 

priority areas and this isn’t a greenfield priority area but it does achieve 

the urban form and settlement pattern objectives of consolidation and 35 

development at a rate and in location that meets anticipated demand, 

enables the efficient provision and use of network infrastructure. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And what about the words - - - 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, was that a reference to Ms Aston’s evidence to that 

effect or was it new evidence? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   It is in Ms Aston’s evidence. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just struggling to follow at this stage where that fits. 
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MS CRAWFORD:   It is in response to the questions posed by my friend on 

Chapter 6 and whether all matters have been considered. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And is Ms Aston giving further evidence that this land 5 

meets the specified aspects of objective 6.2.2? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   That is my understanding of the witness’ response and it is 

covered in paragraph 6.6 of her evidence-in-chief. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is what I needed to know. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Yes.  And following on from that, Ms Aston, what are 

your thoughts on the words in subparagraph 4 of objective 6.2.2 that 

say “on the periphery of Christchurch’s urban area”, does that have any 15 

influence on your answers previously given to Mr Winchester? 

 

MS ASTON:   This site is on the periphery of Christchurch’s urban area. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  And in relation to the questions you were 20 

asked about - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What does that mean for us?  What does that answer mean 

for that policy, can you answer that please? 

 25 

MS ASTON:   The site, the rezoning meets all of the criteria in that policy as to 

where development as to their form and settlement pattern which is 

appropriate.  The only part that it doesn’t mean is providing for the 

development of greenfield priority areas.  Well, this isn’t identified as a 

priority greenfield area. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is what I thought I read. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, but it meets all of the intents of what those greenfield 

priority areas should be. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But the question was about the policy. 

 

MS ASTON:   Can I just quickly read it in its wider context? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   According to the interpretation principles we discussed 

before hopefully.  I am not sure where this is going, Ms Crawford. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, it is an urban form that achieves consolidation and 

intensification and avoids unplanned expansion for by providing the 45 

development of greenfield priority areas.  So, yes, it is just that this 
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isn’t a greenfield priority area but it is completely consistent with what 

the intent of those greenfield priority areas should be. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that is a matter for submission. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   Indeed, sir.  You were asked a question about what “give 

effect to” means and you turned to paragraph 6.3 of your evidence at 

the top of page 6 where you have quoted the principle reasons and 

explanation to objective 6.2.1. 

 10 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   And on the previous page at the start of 6.3 you make a 

statement about the intent.  Is there anything further in light of the 

questions you have been asked about what “give effect to” you wish to 15 

add or you are relying on that quotation and your subsequent evidence? 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, there are the wording under 6.3 “Give effect to the RPS is 

going to implement it according to the policies intentions” and my 

recollection is that is actually the way the Panel had interpreted the 20 

intent in the Strategic Directions decision, and that is why I kept 

reiterating the importance was the policy intent. 

 

  [5.05 pm] 

 25 

MS CRAWFORD:   One last question, sir? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   You were asked some questions about the appropriateness 30 

or otherwise of referring to the LURP review, the fact that the Panel 

has to give effect to the RPS as they find it, and I understand you 

commented earlier in relation to the City Council’s comments on the 

LURP review.  If you can turn to exhibit B, which is the 29 May 2015 

comment by the City Council on the LURP review.  Do you have that 35 

in front of you? 

 

MS ASTON:   It is the 28 August one. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   It is exhibit B and it was produced through Mr Stevenson. 40 

 

MS ASTON:   I have got the 28 August but not the earlier May one. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   I am just wondering if my friend for the Crown might - - - 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is the letter of 29 May? 
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MS CRAWFORD:   It is the 29 May comment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There it is.  There you go, magic. 

 5 

MS CRAWFORD:   It is on the screen.  Thank you, sir.  My copy has marks on 

it which would not be appropriate to put to the witness. 

 

 So this is exhibit B, comments on the LURP only a short few months 

ago by this Council.  If you can turn to the second page, section 2.5, 10 

Land Availability. 

 

 The second paragraph, that is the larger paragraph.  We will just have it 

brought up on the screen.  It starts with “that said, there is concern”.  

Halfway down there is a long sentence and after the words “Greenfield 15 

Priority Areas” there is a comma and it says – if I am reading correctly 

– “there are some relatively minor changes to the existing urban 

boundary that are considered to have merit at the local level and do not 

compromise any higher level policy direction”. 

 20 

 What is your opinion on this view expressed by the Council, having 

regard to the RPS in its current form? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Is that a question arising from something that Mr 

Winchester asked? 25 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   It was either Mr Winchester or the Panel, sir, but there 

were some questions asked about the LURP review and the fact of 

whether or not that is relevant to consideration under this current 

proceeding. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Well, sir, I did not ask for an opinion on what the 

Council had commented on. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I accept that but I also accept that Ms Crawford is 

probably right that the matter of relevance to the LURP review 

probably was first instigated by my first intervention in this. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   Possibly, sir, and if I am wrong about that, I do apologise.  

Perhaps we can reflect on the transcript in due course.  But let us 

assume that is so. 

 

 So Ms Aston, reading those words? 45 
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MS ASTON:   I agree with it.  When you focus on the policy intent of the 

LURP and the RPS, there are - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which one are you talking about, the LURP or the RPS? 

 5 

MS ASTON:   The RPS is part of the LURP.  It is appendix 1 to the LURP. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Crawford, you can help your witness on that one, if 

you would like. 

 10 

MS CRAWFORD:   I do not want to lead the witness on that one, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I will help the witness on this.  The RPS is one 

statutory document we must give effect to.  The LURP is another 

statutory document that we have a different statutory obligation in 15 

regard to.  “Give it particular regard,” I think it is.  They are two 

statutory documents with different statutory obligations associated with 

them, from our point of view.  

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir.  Assuming you are focusing on giving 20 

effect to the LURP - - - 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   - - - and you look at that wording that has been put 25 

forward by the Council recently in relation to the LURP review - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Giving effect to the LURP or the RPS? 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Sorry, did I say LURP? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think you did. 

 

MS CRAWFORD:   Giving effect to the RPS – it is getting late in the day, sir.  

Assuming that the effect that the test is giving effect to the RPS, which 35 

we all agree, looking at that wording put forward by this Council, what 

is your view of that statement in relation to the RPS in its current form? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   A two-edged sword there, but answer it if you want. 

 40 

MS CRAWFORD:   Do you agree or disagree with that statement is probably 

the fair question. 

 

MS ASTON:   Yes, I agree with it. 

 45 
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MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you.  I think I have probably taken it far enough.  

We are after 5.00 pm, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think you have, given this witness has already told 

me that she is not in a position to assist the Panel in regard to 5 

interpretation of a policy document in the way that she has been called 

upon by counsel over a long period of time. 

 

 And so I think that probably just pretty much exhausts the value of 

expert evidence for us for this evening, and no doubt counsel will assist 10 

with legal submissions on all of these matters, given it comes back to a 

matter of interpretation.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.10 pm] 

 15 

MS CRAWFORD:   Thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We are finished for the day. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.10 PM UNTIL 20 

WEDNESDAY, 6 OCTOBER 2015 


